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Short financial year Financial year
in million euros 1.1. - 30.6.2012 1.1. - 31.12.2011

Statement of comprehensive income key figures

Sales 24.7 66.3
- of which Medical 11.7 39.9
- of which Electronic Products 13.0 26.5

Total income 31.7 70.9

EBITDA -3.9 -2.3

EBITDA margin (%) -12.3 -3.2

Depreciation 1.9 3.7

EBIT before special write-downs -5.8 -6.0

EBIT -14.7 -6.0
- of which Medical -1.3 2.7
- of which Electronic Products before special write-downs -2.2 -5.0
- of which Electronic Products after special write-downs -11.1 -5.0

EBIT margin (%) -46.4 -8.5

Financial result 269.0 5.2

EBT (continued operations) 254.3 -0.8

Taxes on income and earnings -3.5 -2.2

Earnings from discontinued operations (after tax) 0 -36.1

Group earnings 250.7 -39.1

Balda AG net profit (HGB) 182.0 79.7

Balance sheet key figures per 30.6. per 31.12.

Balance sheet total 473.4 490.5

Long-term assets 27.7 50.3

Current assets 445.6 440.2

Equity 450.5 463.0

Equity ratio (%) 95.2 94.4

Net liquidity 1 185.6 35.5

Working capital 2 31.6 35.5

Cash-flow and investments 1.1. – 30.6. 1.1. – 31.12.

Cash flow from operating activities -5.2 3.7

Investments 1.4 2.4

Further group key figures

Number of employees 3 1,273 1,178

- of which Medical 3 209 220

- of which Electronic Products 3 1,053 942

Number of shares outstanding 3 58,890,636 58,890,636

Trade volume in millions of units 4 32.3 102.1

Earnings per share in euros 4 4.26 -0.67

Xetra closing price in euros 3 4.80 4.33

Market capitalisation in millions of euros 3 282.7 255.0

Dividend per share in euros 2.00 5 1.30

Balda Group: Overview of key Figures
(Information in accordance with IFRS) 

1) including short-term investment in borrower's note loans (168 million euros)
2) excluding the effects of TPK stake
3) as of 30.06.2012 and 31.12.2011
4) 01.01.2012 – 30.06.2012 and 01.01.2011 – 31.12.2011 
5) Proposal to the Annual General Meeting on 7th November 2012



Balda – quality and innovation for superior products
Balda is a leading manufacturer of plastics for the medical and electronics industries. The company is
known for its exceptionally engineered products of the highest quality as well as fast, flexible and
tailored services to its customers - all achieved at competitive prices. Balda, along with its divisions
Balda Medical and Balda Electronic Products, are active internationally and have production facilities in
Germany and Malaysia. The company's success is based upon the use of modern, cost-effective
technologies in addition to a close and trusting relationship with its customers.

The long-term strategy of Balda focuses on the sustainable growth of the company with a growing
presence overseas as well as the continuous increase in the value of the enterprise that will generate
value for business partners and offer an attractive return on investment to shareholders.

www.balda.de   
www.balda.de/investor-relations

Balda Medical – a reliable partner for the 
medical-technical industry

Medical-technical products gain increasingly in importance in light of the increasing quality of the
medical treatment. They also have to meet ever-increasing demands for quality, precision and hygiene.

Balda Medical, based in Germany, developes and produces high quality plastic solutions for the medical,
pharmaceutical and diagnostics industry. The business segment put special emphasis on the trust and
long-term cooperation for the benefit of its customers. In this way, Balda Medical has developed an
excellent reputation among companies in different countries around the world.

www.balda-medical.de 

Balda Electronic Products – an excellent expertise in the
communication and entertainment industry

The consumption is increasing worldwide – and with it the demand for products for communication
and entertainment. Here customers want highly efficient products, which offer them a gain in flexibility
and comfort in various areas of everyday life.

Balda Electronic Products, headquartered in Malaysia, manufactures innovative plastic systems for the
communication and entertainment industry. Based on its extensive expertise and years of experience,
the company is able to map all services, from product development to delivery, and thus has a distinct
competitive advantage.

www.balda.com.my 
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Letter to the shareholders 
 

Dear shareholders, 

the short financial year 2012 was an eventful half-year for Balda. During this 
period we have passed many changes on the way, in order to lead our 
company back on track. 
 
Balda has received a new strategic direction by which the operating 
business can operate profitably as quickly as possible. We have launched a 
structured acquisition process for the business segment Balda Medical with a 
buy-and-build strategy to further internationalize this segment and to elevate it 
into a new dimension. In the Electronic Products business segment, the restructuring of our activities in Malaysia was 
placed on a good path. In the short financial year, we were able to almost completely sell the very valuable stake in the 
Chinese touch screen producer TPK Holding that is no longer regarded as strategic. Due to this, our Group was able to 
generate substantial sales proceeds, which give us new entrepreneurial flexibility. And after some turbulences at the 
beginning of the year, which lead to an extraordinary general meeting on 8 February due to processes of the past, we 
were able to bring some peace and quiet into the company. 
 
The aim of the Board is clear: Balda must no longer live of his substance. Our company needs to grow into a new 
dimension as a technology company, in order to operate profitably and to reach the critical size in the capital markets 
that are required by many small cap investors. Growth and profitability in operations are also a requirement to allow you, 
our honoured shareholders, an appropriate return on your investments in Balda. 
 
The chances of being successful in this way are excellent. Balda has a long-standing and recognized competence in 
the field of plastic injection moulding. We can in principle use this expertise in diverse markets and industries, beyond 
the existing operating segments Medical and Electronic Products. Our Medical division, which celebrates its 10th 
anniversary in 2012, enjoys a reputation as a reliable and technologically sophisticated supplier of the healthcare market. 
 
From the financial perspective, Balda is a very healthy company: With an equity ratio of remarkable 95 %, a very 
stable liquidity and no significant debt we are able to carry out the restructuring and development of Balda from a 
position of strength. Thus we have, regardless of mistakes in the past, all the conditions to generate on the basis of a 
coherent entrepreneurial plan growth and thus increased value for all shareholders. 
 
We see growth opportunities especially in the business segment Balda Medical. Basic trends such as global 
population growth, improved access to health care for many people in developing and emerging countries, the growing 
self-treatment of patients with medication or the general increase in life expectancy are all growth drivers for the global 
healthcare market, from which Balda will benefit. 
 
For this purpose, we have taken a classic buy-and-build strategy. This aims to further internationalize the business mainly 
through acquisitions and to expand its range of services and its value chain. Thus, we want to secure existing customers from 
the areas of pharmaceutical, diagnostics and medical and to attract new customers. The aim is to position Balda as "global first 
choice supplier" in order to be listed as a strategic supplier in the major healthcare companies. With the acquisitions, we also 
see the opportunity to acquire activities that are related to Medical and from which a new business segment could potentially be 
developed for Balda. Provided, however, that the synergies correspond to our existing businesses at Balda Medical. If this is 
the case, we are prepared to undertake even bigger growth steps through M & A activities. 
 
The buy-and-build strategy for Balda Medical is on track. With the help of a specialized consultant, we have entered into 
discussions with potential acquisition candidates in the short financial year. Our particular interest is within the United 
States, the main market for our business, but also with a stronger presence in the key markets of Europe. 
 
In the business segment Balda Electronic Products, we have swiftly started a comprehensive restructuring 
process at all levels at the beginning of the year. Due to the significant decline in business volume in previous years we 
had to adjust the structures at the plant in Malaysia in order to reduce excess capacity and fixed costs, and thus to lay 
the foundation for a turnaround in earnings. Additionally, our focus was and still is on the improvement of internal 
processes and quality assurance. An important task for the short financial year was also the execution of unprofitable 
contracts, in order to rapidly use the production capacity for businesses that are economically more attractive. 
 
The restructuring of the segment, which is run by my fellow board member James Lim made good progress in the short 
financial year and is on schedule. It is our goal to complete the process by the end of the calendar year 2012 and to reach 
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break even in the fourth quarter of this year. Failing this, the Board will have to decide quickly on alternative scenarios for 
the business. Because it is also clear that Balda will no longer afford loss-making activities over a longer period of time. 
 
In the Central Services business segment we have streamlined the complex and costly structures of the Balda Group 
and of Balda AG as a holding company in the first half-year. We aim to reduce the share of expenses of the holding to 
sales to an amount significantly less than 5 percent, as it reasonable and customary for a strategic management 
holding. The streamline also included the decision to discontinue the activities of Balda USA, because this unit mainly 
perceived tasks of sales support and market research for MobileCom segment that had been sold in 2011. 
 
Due to the almost complete sale of our stake in TPK Holding, we can now concentrate all forces on the strategic 
development of Balda. In accordance with our announcement, we sold most of the TPK shares promptly and at a good 
price. The sale took place in late February and the end of June 2012 in two tranches; the proceeds amounted together 
to around 392 million euros. Currently our group company Balda Investments Singapore still owns around 7.1 million 
units of TPK shares, derived entirely from dividends of TPK Holding and which equal a share of around 2 % of TPK 
capital. We also intend to sell these remaining stake value optimized. 
 
Due to the high returns from the sale of TPK shares, the Balda Group reached for the short financial year 2012 sales 
of 24.7 million euros and a significant net profit of 250.7 million euros. Our operating profitability remained as 
expected with earnings before interest, taxes and special write-downs (adjusted EBIT) of minus 5.8 million euros in the 
red. Both business segments were affected by delays in customer call-off orders. The Electronic Products business 
segment was also characterized by a comprehensive restructuring and realignment, which started at the beginning of 
the year. In addition, the profitability of that business segment was negatively burdened by quality control measures and 
additional costs for the economically unattractive orders from the year 2011. 
 
Included in the Group annual result is a partial devaluation of the vendor loan, which was granted by Balda in 2011 to the 
purchaser of the companies of the former MobileCom business segment. After the buyer has informed us of a worsened 
financial and economic situation of the acquired companies, we have followed the advice and the recommendation of a 
reputable accounting firm, which was then engaged by us and closed the deal with him with a compromise. This eliminated a 
future financial risk for the Balda Group, which could have arisen from delays or defaults on interest and redemption payments. 
 
The Annual General Meeting on 11th May 2012 decided on a distribution of 1.30 euros per share for the fiscal year 2011. 
Due to this, you as shareholders could already participate at a very early stage from the cash inflows of the TPK sales in form 
of a special dividend. A total of around 77 million euros were distributed, tax-free in the sense of § 20 Paragraph 1 No. 1 S.1 
German Income Tax Act. This represented almost the entire net profit of Balda AG for the year 2011. 
 
For the short financial year 2012, the Management Board and the Supervisory Board propose a further special 
dividend of 2.00 euros per share, equivalent to a payout of 117.8 million euros. With this proposal we keep our 
promise to further participate you in the proceeds from the sale of TPK. At the same time, however, we retain sufficient 
financial flexibility to further expand the Balda Group. Because the Board's guiding principle is to use our financial 
resources to maximize the value of your investment. Only by this a newly aligned Balda will be able to use the capital 
markets and to attract new investors as an attractive small cap. 
 
Dear shareholders, 
the short financial year 2012 was a time of transition. Of course, the strategic realignment of our Group can’t be realized 
overnight. We have no time to lose. We want to use the momentum and the fast pace of change, which Balda 
experienced since the beginning of this year and increase it further. 
 
Essential for the development of business year 2012/2013 is certainly the question to which extent the overall expected 
economic downturn, especially in Europe, will affect on our customers and therefore on the demand of Balda products. 
If no unforeseen negative events occur, we expect an improvement in the operating profit situation. It is encouraging to 
see that Balda had a good start into the new business year, which met our expectations. 
 
I would like to thank, also on behalf of my board member colleague James Lim, all employees for their commitment over 
the past year. My gratitude also goes to all customers and business partners who collaborate trustfully with Balda AG 
and its subsidiaries. And I especially thank you, dear shareholders, for the trust you place in us on the exciting path to a 
new Balda Group.  
 
Best regards 
 
 
 
 
Dominik Müser 
Chief Executive Officer (CEO) 
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Supervisory Board Report 
 
 

Dear Shareholders, 

in the 2012 short financial year the Supervisory Board of Balda AG carefully and conscientiously fulfilled the tasks for 
which that body is responsible according to law and its articles of association. It has advised the Board of Directors on 
the management of the company and been fully involved with the situation of the company and the Group. It has 
supervised the Board of Directors in its management of the company’s business and considered decisions of strategic 
importance to Balda. The Supervisory Board has also complied with the recommendations of the German Corporate 
Governance Code in so far as no variations to these have been disclosed and justified in the declaration of compliance 
in accordance with § 161 AktG (German Stock Corporation Act).  
 
Collaboration between Board of Directors and Supervisory Board 

The bases of the work were the meetings of the Supervisory Board and oral and written reports by the Board of 
Directors. The Board of Directors has informed the Supervisory Board, both orally and in writing, regularly, in real time 
and comprehensively about all important issues concerning ongoing business developments, in particular about the 
fundamental issues of company planning, profitability, the progress of business and the situation of the company and 
the Group and about extraordinary events in the company, about the risk situation and risk management and about the 
company-related control and risk management systems. Major business events were comprehensively discussed in the 
Supervisory Board on the basis of reports by the Board of Directors. The Supervisory Board was involved in decisions of 
particular importance. The Board of Directors has fulfilled its reporting duties to the Supervisory Board under § 90 AktG. 
 
The Board of Directors of Balda AG attended some of the Supervisory Board’s meetings so as to explain the company´s 
business development and the sales and profit situation. In addition the Board of Directors has fully informed the 
Supervisory Board about the progress and results regarding the development of a practical, sustainable company 
strategy for the further development of the Balda Group and about the status of the restructuring of the Electronic 
Products business division introduced at the start of the year.  
 
In the short financial year, in addition to the meetings of the Supervisory Board members at the General Meetings on 8 
February 2012 and 11 May 2012, the Supervisory Board held a total of three other meetings, including two by 
teleconferencing. All the members of the Supervisory Board were present at all meetings. In addition, four resolutions 
were taken via the circulation procedure. The members of the Supervisory Board were also in telephone contact on 
other matters outside the meetings. The Supervisory Board did not form any committees during the reporting period. 
 
The members of the Supervisory Board were also in regular contact with the Board of Directors outside the meetings. 
This applied in particular to the Chairman of the Supervisory Board. This communication contributed to the Supervisory 
Board being kept informed in real time about current business developments and major events for the company and 
being involved in the major decisions.  
 
Major issues of the reporting period 

Among the advice and given resolutions taken by the Supervisory Board, the following matters were most important: 
 

• In February 2012 the Supervisory Board agreed to the sale of a first tranche of 20 million shares in TPK 
Holding after detailed consultation and taking into account the market conditions prevailing at the time of the 
discussion. 
 

• At the end of June 2012 the Supervisory Board also agreed unanimously to the sale of a second tranche of 
about 16 million shares in TPK Holding. The Supervisory Board welcomes the fact that, during the short 
financial year, the  Board of Directors had already almost completely implemented the announced sale of the 
investment in this touchscreen manufacturer, which was declared to be non-strategic, speedily and on 
attractive sales terms given market conditions. 
 

• One important subject in the Supervisory Board’s meetings was the further strategic development of the 
Medical and Electronic Products business divisions as one of the central tasks of the new Board of Directors. 
Here the focus was on the development of a growth strategy for the Medical segment and progress on the 
restructuring of the Electronic Products segment in Malaysia under the management of Board member James 
Lim. The Supervisory Board is of the opinion that the medium-term strategic plan for the Balda Group 
developed by the Board of Directors is practical and appropriate for guiding the business operations towards 
profitability swiftly and to significantly increase the Group’s volume of business.  



 

 4 

Annual Report 2012 

 
• The Supervisory Board discussed the extension of the appointment of Mr. Dominik Müser as Chief Executive 

Officer, this being due to expire on 30 June 2012. With acknowledgement of the strategic plans developed for 
the Balda Group by Mr. Müser in the first few months of 2012, the Supervisory Board agreed with him the 
extension of his Board of Directors contract until 30 June 2014. Continuity at the head of the company with 
the implementation of the new strategic direction is thereby secured.  
 

• The Supervisory Board tackled in advance some important aspects of the company’s ordinary general 
meeting on 11 May 2012. Here the focus was on the resolutions to be taken on the payment of the special 
dividend of Euro 1.30 per share entitled to a dividend for the 2011 financial year, on switching the financial 
year of Balda AG to a balance sheet date of 30 June and on authorising the Board of Directors to take capital 
measures and the results of the voluntary special audit initiated by the Board of Directors in connection with 
the efforts of the Board of Directors and Supervisory Board in 2011 to sell shares in TPK Holding.  
 

• The Supervisory Board looked in detail into the consequences of the sale of the former MobileCom business 
division that occurred in 2011. This also included the commercial development of the Chinese company under 
the new investor, the expert impairment test of a purchaser loan granted by Balda and the Executive Board’s 
negotiations with the buyer about a final settlement that led to an agreement in July 2012.  
 

• The Supervisory Board also looked in detail at the Group’s cost situation, above all with cost reductions in the 
Central Services segment.  

 
Accusations by the investor Octavian 

The Supervisory Board dealt in detail in the 2012 short financial year with the accusations by the institutional 
shareholder Octavian Special Master Fund L.P. against the Supervisory Board. This US hedge fund had expressed 
concerns regarding the independence of the members of the Supervisory Board and based these on the conduct of that 
board in connection with the attempts by the previous Board of Directors in 2011 to dispose of shares in TPK Holding. 
At Octavian Special Master Fund L.P.’s request under § 122 Para. 1 AktG dated 12 December 2011, an extraordinary 
general meeting was called for 8 February 2012, the subject of which was the voting out of all the members of the 
Supervisory Board and the appointment of replacement Octavian Special Master Fund L.P.’s candidates.  
 
The Supervisory Board, in particular its Chairman, gave a comprehensive opinion before the extraordinary general 
meeting on Balda AG’s website, in face-to-face discussions with shareholders and analysts and in explanations to the 
media on the accusations and rejected these in all regards. The Supervisory Board also gave a comprehensive opinion 
at the extraordinary general meeting and explained to the shareholders in detail the steps taken in connection with the 
efforts to dispose of shares in TPK Holding. The requests made by Octavian for the dismissal of the Supervisory Board 
members were not met with the required majority of the shareholders of about 76.9% of the share capital of Balda AG 
that were present. The members of the Supervisory Board were confirmed in their offices by a clear majority of the 
general meeting.  
 
In line with an announcement to the same effect at the extraordinary general meeting, the Board of Directors in 
agreement with the Supervisory Board arranged for a voluntary special audit to be conducted. This concerned the 
question of whether the members of the organs of Balda AG can be accused of misconduct in connection with their 
efforts to sell shares in TPK Holding in 2011, as a result of which Balda AG suffered a loss. The results of the voluntary 
special audit conducted by the lawyers’ firm of Hengeler Mueller, Dusseldorf were also the subject of a meeting of the 
Supervisory Board. The audit came to the conclusion that there were no grounds for accusations of breach of duty by or 
for compensation claims against the members of the Supervisory Board. The Board of Directors informed the 
shareholders at the ordinary general meeting on 11 May 2012 about the results of the audit.  
 
Corporate Governance 

In March 2012 the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board issued a declaration of compliance in accordance with 
§ 161 AktG of the German Corporate Governance Code and published it on the company’s website under 
http://www.balda.de (“IR – Publications – Corporate Governance”). According to this, the Board of Directors and the 
Supervisory Board of Balda AG comply with the recommendations of the government commission’s German Corporate 
Governance Code with the disclosed exceptions that have been agreed between them and hence fulfil their obligation of 
responsible and value-adding management and control of the company.  
 
Conflicts of interest 

No conflicts of interest arose during the reporting period. 
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Personnel matters 
There were the following changes in the Board of Directors of Balda AG during the 2012 short financial year:  
 
Mr. Rainer Mohr, who joined the company’s Board of Directors on 3 July 2009 and who most recently acted as the sole 
member of the Board of Directors, retired with effect from 1 January 2012 from his office of Board of Directors member 
in agreement with the Supervisory Board and has retired from the Board. The Supervisory Board had already appointed 
Mr. Dominik Müser and Mr. James Lim as new members of the Board of Directors. 
 
As Chief Executive Officer (CEO), Mr. Dominik Müser is responsible for the company’s strategy. He has also taken on 
the role of Financial Director (Chief Financial Officer, CFO) and is therefore responsible for the Finance, Legal and 
Administration departments.  
 
Mr. James Lim was appointed Operations Director (Chief Operations Officer, COO). In this role he is responsible for the 
Production, Sales and Development departments.  
 
There were no changes in the Supervisory Board of Balda AG during the reporting period.  
 
Annual and consolidated financial statements 

The Supervisory Board entrusted the audit firm of Deloitte & Touche GmbH, Frankfurt am Main, elected as auditor of the 
financial statements by the ordinary general meeting of the company on 11 May 2012, with the audit of the annual financial 
statements of Balda AG and the consolidated financial statements for the 2012 short financial year. The annual financial 
statements were prepared in accordance with the principles of §§ 242 to 256 HGB (German Commercial Code) and §§ 264 
ff. HGB and the German Stock Corporation Act; the consolidated financial statements were produced in accordance with 
the principles of the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as applicable within the European Union (EU) and 
the applicable supplementary commercial legislation per § 315a Para. 1 HGB. The auditor of the financial statements has 
audited the annual financial statements for the 2012 short financial year and the consolidated financial statements for the 
2012 short financial year as well as the management reports of Balda AG and of the Group and granted them an 
unqualified audit opinion.  
 
The Supervisory Board audited the annual financial statements and the management report, the consolidated financial 
statements and Group management report and the Board of Directors´ proposal on the appropriation of balance sheet 
profit. The relevant documents and the audit reports by the auditor of the financial statements were submitted to the 
members of the Supervisory Board in good time. The auditor of the financial statements participated in the Supervisory 
Board’s proceedings on 20 September 2012 regarding the documents, reported on the major results of its audit and was 
also available to answer any questions from the Supervisory Board. In preparation for the meeting, Dr. Michael 
Naschke, the Chairman of the Supervisory Board, also acting in his role as the member of the Supervisory Board 
responsible for accounting within the meaning of § 100 Para. 5 AktG, was also closely involved together with the auditor 
of the financial statements and the Board of Directors with the annual financial statements documents and he explained 
the results to the other Supervisory Board members. 
 
After its own audit, the Supervisory Board came to the conclusion that the developments in the company and the Group 
are accurately reflected and estimated by the Board of Directors in the relevant management reports and that these 
statements match the Supervisory Board’s own assessments. According to the Supervisory Board’s assessment, the 
annual financial statements and consolidated financial statements comply with the statutory requirements and contain 
all the required statements. 
 
After its own audit, the Supervisory Board concurs with the findings of the audit of the annual financial statements and 
the consolidated financial statements by the auditor of the financial statements. According to the final results of the audit 
by the Supervisory Board, no objections are to be raised against the annual financial statements or consolidated 
financial statements produced by the Executive Board. The Supervisory Board has examined the Executive Board’s 
proposal on the application of the accumulated profit by the payment of a dividend of 2.00 euros per share and concurs 
with this proposal given the company’s liquidity situation and on the basis of a considerable profit from the sale of TPK 
shares.  
 
The Supervisory Board approved the annual financial statements and the consolidated financial statements in its 
meeting on 20 September 2012. The company’s annual financial statements are thereby finalised. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 6 

Annual Report 2012 

Acknowledgement 
The Supervisory Board would like to thank the Board of Directors and all employees and the employees’ representatives 
for their conscientious work in the 2012 short financial year. It is convinced that, on the basis of the new strategic 
direction implemented by the  Board of Directors, the Balda Group has a good opportunity to swiftly create a profit 
turnaround in the business operation, to grow significantly in the coming years and to be able to pay attractive dividends 
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Balda share 

The Balda share at a glance 
 

SID / ISIN 000521510 / DE0005215107 

Stock exchange segment Prime Standard 

Trading segment Industry 

Prime sector Industrial goods 

Sub sector Industrial products + services 

Index SDAX, CDAX, Prime All Share 

Date of initial listing 23 November 1999 

Designated sponsor M.M. Warburg & CO 

Share capital 58,890,636 euros 

Number of shares issued 58,890,636 

Average number of shares traded per day* 254,000 

Highest / lowest price in the short financial year 2012** 6.40 euros / 4.10 euros 

Closing price for the short financial year 2012** 4.80 euros 

Market capitalisation 30 June 2012** 282.7 million euros 

Earnings per share for the short financial year 2012 4.26 

Dividend per share*** 2.00 euros 

 
*     Xetra and all stock exchanges in Germany 
**  Xetra closing prices 
***  Proposal to the Annual General Meeting on 7 November 2012 
 

Share markets continue to be affected by the national debt crisis  
Global financial and capital markets continued to be affected by the European national debt crisis in the first half of 
2012. In the first few months of the year significant gains were recorded, supported in part by the good business 
situation of many companies. This gave the impression that the economy had not been as badly affected by the debt 
crisis as initially expected. Further positive factors were robust economic data from the USA, the successful 
restructuring of Greek bonds and the extension of the euro rescue package. However, in May and June significant 
corrections were made on the global stock exchanges. The reasons for this were the growing uncertainties concerning 
the national debt crisis, in particular in view of the difficult parliamentary elections in Greece and the downgrading of 
Spain and Italy’s credit rating. There was also bad news concerning the poorer economic performance of emerging 
countries such as China, India, Brazil and Russia as well as disappointing economic data from the USA. 

The German share index (DAX) closed on 30 June 2012 at 6,416 points, which equates to a rise of 8.8 % (30 December 
2011: 5,898 points). Overall, though, the DAX was very volatile. It started the year with very fast growth and on 16 
March 2012 reached its high of 7,158 points. However, the increasing uncertainties concerning the European national 
debt crisis ensured that it then went on a downward spiral. The DAX recorded its poorest May since the index was first 
calculated 25 years ago, falling below 6,000 points. The low of 5,969 points was reached on 5 June.  

The SDAX, in which the share of Balda AG is listed, closed the financial year on 30 June 2012 at 4,804 points. This 
equates to a rise of 8.7 % compared to 30 December 2011 (4,421 points).  

Balda share rises in value 
The Balda share performed on the whole positively in the period under review and better than the reference index 
SDAX. The share rose significantly in February and on 5 March 2012 reached its high of 6.42 euros. It remained at a 
high level until the start of May. After the payment of the special dividend of 1.30 euros per share approved by the 
Annual General Meeting on 11 May 2012, there was a corresponding price adjustment (price ex dividend) with the 
lowest price of 4.10 euros recorded on 16 May 2012. After this, the share rose slightly and closed the short financial 
year at a price of 4.80 euros. This equated to a rise of 10.9 % compared to the closing price for 2011 (4.33 euros; 
figures based on Xetra). 

The share of the Taiwanese touchscreen manufacturer TPK Holding, in which Balda held an interest of 16.1 % at the 
start of the year and 0.8 % at the end of the period under review, performed positively overall in the first half of 2012. 
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After the low of 353.5 Taiwanese dollars on 12 January 2012 (9.31 euros), the share started to rise, reaching its high of 
519.0 Taiwanese dollars (13.25 euros) on 2 March 2012. At the end of June the price fell sharply due to the dividend 
payment made for the financial year 2011. The share closed the short financial year on 374.00 Taiwanese dollars (9.96 
euros), 5.2 % below the closing price for 2011 (394.5 Taiwanese dollars, 10.4 euros). All of the prices stated are closing 
prices.1 

 

 

 

                                                
1	  Source: Bloomberg	  
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Fall in number of shares traded, rise in market value 
The average number of Balda shares traded in the short financial year 2012 on 256 trading days was around 254,000 
shares per day (calendar year 2011: around 397,000 shares). The total number for the period under review2 was 32.3 
million shares following 102.1 million shares in 2011.  

The market capitalisation (stock exchange value) of Balda AG on the reference date of 29 June 2012, the last trading 
day of the financial year, based on 58,890,636 shares in circulation and a price of 4.80 euros, was around 283 million 
euros. At the end of 2011 the stock exchange value with the same number of shares and a closing price for the year of 
4.33 euros had been around 255 million euros (all figures based on Xetra).  

Shareholder structure 
Balda has a broad international shareholder structure. Yield Return Investments remains the largest shareholder with 
27.60 % of the voting rights. The US fund Octavian Advisors held 5.22 % of the voting rights, Senrigan Capital Group 
5.09 %, Weiss Asset Management/Brookdale International Partners 4.97 % and Point Lobos Capital 5.11 %. These 
shareholders therefore held around 48 % of the share capital, the free float was therefore approximately 52 % (based on 
the Deutsche Börse’s definition; all voting rights as of 6 August 2012).  

Shareholder Share  
Yield Return Investments 27.60 % 
Octavian Advisors 5.22 % 
Senrigan Capital Group 5.09 % 
Weiss Asset Management / Brookdale International Partners 4.97 %* 
Point Lobos Capital 5.11 % 
Supervisory Board 0.04 % 
Free float 51.97 % 

 
*held on the basis of (financial / other) instruments in accordance with § 25a of the Securities Trading Act (WpHG) 

As of 6 August 2012 based on the available voting rights notifications in accordance with the Securities Trading Act 
(WpHG) 

Shares held by the Board of Directors and Supervisory Board   
The table below shows the number of shares held by the members of the executive bodies of Balda AG:  

 Shareholding 
30.6.2012 

Shareholding 
31.12.2011 Change 

Board of Directors    
Dominik Müser 0 0 0 
James Lim 0 0 0 
Rainer Mohr1 n.a. 0 n.a. 

Supervisory Board 
  

 

Dr. Michael Naschke 23,000 21,000 2,000 
Yu–Sheng Kai 0 0 0 
Chun-Chen Chen 0 0 0 

 

As of 30 June 2012 
1 Left the Board of Directors on 1 January 2012 

 

Dialogue with the capital market  
Balda AG attaches great importance to open and transparent communication with the shareholders and all other 
stakeholders of the company. Balda therefore reports extensively and quickly on all current events of relevance in order 
to increase confidence in the sustainable development of the company.  

                                                
2	  Source: Bloomberg, period: January to June 2012 (short financial year)	  
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The company – both the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board – intensified its communication with journalists 
and investors significantly in the period under review. In particular in the run-up to the Extraordinary General Meeting on 
8 February 2012 and the questions raised concerning the actions of the executive bodies in 2011 regarding the efforts 
to sell the shares in TPK, the Supervisory Board provided detailed information both on the website and in face-to-face 
meetings. 

At the Annual General Meeting on 11 May 2012 the Board of Directors, which had been in office since 1 January 2012, 
explained to the shareholders its goals for the medium-term strategic development of the Balda Group. Numerous 
discussions were also held with relevant business media with regard to this. 

The Board of Directors also held many one-to-one meetings with institutional investors, who were still very highly 
interested in Balda, in particular with regard to the further course of action with the shares held in TPK and the dividend 
payments to be expected. The Board of Directors is planning to expand Investor Relations during the second half of 
2012 and to focus on the redefined Group strategy.   

Balda provides all stakeholders with all of the relevant information such as quarterly and annual reports, ad-hoc 
announcements and press releases, presentations, the financial calendar, information about the share and analyst 
assessments on its website at www.balda.de.  

Extraordinary General Meeting / Voluntary special audit  
On 8 February 2012 an Extraordinary General Meeting of Balda AG was held in Bielefeld at the request of the 
shareholder Octavian Special Master Fund. The item on the agenda was the request made by this shareholder to 
deselect all three members of the company’s Supervisory Board and to fill the board with its own candidates. The 
reason given was its concerns with regard to the independence of the members of the Supervisory Board. Attention was 
centred in particular on the actions of the Supervisory Board in 2011 regarding the efforts of the previous Board of 
Directors to sell the shares in TPK Holding. 

At the Extraordinary General Meeting the Supervisory Board and Board of Directors answered shareholders’ questions 
comprehensively. The new Board of Directors, which has been in office since 1 January 2012, also reaffirmed its 
intention to dispose completely of the interest in TPK Holding, which was no longer considered to be a strategic interest, 
and to pay a significant portion of the proceeds of the sale as a special dividend to the shareholders. 

The Board of Directors also announced before the shareholders that, with the agreement of the Supervisory Board, it 
was going to arrange a voluntary special audit to establish whether the executive bodies of Balda could be accused of 
misconduct regarding the efforts to sell shares held in TPK Holding in 2011 and whether the company has as a result 
incurred a loss. The law firm Hengeler Mueller, Düsseldorf, was assigned the task of conducting the voluntary special 
audit. 

With 76.9 % of the share capital present, the shareholders of Balda AG confirmed all of the members of the Supervisory 
Board in their offices by a clear majority.  

Annual General Meeting  
The Annual General Meeting of Balda AG was held on 11 May 2012 in Bielefeld. The Board of Directors remarks 
focused on the strategic development of Balda and its Medical and Electronic Products divisions with the goal of 
returning the Group’s operational business as quickly as possible to profit and to a position where it is able pay out 
dividends. 

The Board of Directors also provided information on the voluntary special audit on the actions of the Supervisory Board 
and the previous Board of Directors regarding the efforts to sell shares in TPK in 2011. The audit conducted by the law 
firm Hengeler Mueller came to the conclusion that there was no incriminating evidence of a breach of duty by and a right 
to claim damages against the members of the executive bodies involved. 

With 62.5 % of the share capital present, the Annual General Meeting approved all of the resolutions proposed by 
management by a clear majority. This included the payment of a dividend of 1.30 euros per share for the financial year 
2011, equating to a total dividend payment of 76.5 million euros. The Board of Directors therefore met its commitment to 
allow the shareholders to share as quickly as possible in the proceeds of the sale of the shares in TPK after an initial 
sale had taken place at the end of February 2012. The dividend yield based on the closing price at the end of the period 
under review was 27.1 %. 

The shareholders also agreed to change the closing date of Balda AG’s financial year to 30 June; this makes the 
payment a further special dividend in the autumn of 2012 possible. Also accepted were management’s proposals to 
generate new authorised capital of up to 29.4 million euros limited to 10 May 2017 and to authorise the Board of 
Directors to issue bonds with a nominal value of up to 100 million euros until 10 May 2017.  
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The additional requests proposed by the shareholder Octavian Special Master Fund, which envisaged further special 
audits on the actions of the Supervisory Board regarding the intended sale of shares in TPK and further issues were 
rejected by the Annual General Meeting.  

 

Sale of shares in TPK Holding  
The Board of Directors quickly met the commitment it made at the Extraordinary General Meeting of 8 February 2012 to 
sell the shares in TPK Holding. On 24 February 2012 the Balda affiliate Balda Investments Singapore Pte. Ltd. agreed 
the sale of the first tranche of in total 20,000,000 shares. The proceeds of this sale, converted into euros, totalled 
around 238 million euros. As a result Balda’s interest fell from 16.1 % to 7.6 %. The transaction was carried out within 
the framework of a block trade according to the rules of the Taiwanese stock exchange through the intermediary of an 
investment bank.  

At the end of June 2012 Balda disposed of a second tranche of in total 15,998,365 shares in TPK Holding via the 
affiliate Balda Investments Singapore Pte. Ltd. with proceeds, converted into euros, totalling around 153 million euros. 
The transaction was again carried out within the framework of a block trade, which was organised by the investment 
bank UBS. As a result of the sale, Balda’s interest fell to around 0.8 %. This increased to around 2.0 % in July 2012 due 
to an issue of bonus shares by TPK for 2011.  

Further attractive special dividend proposed  
The Board of Directors and Supervisory Board will propose to the Annual General Meeting on 7 November 2012 that it 
approves a dividend of 2.00 euros per share, equating to a total dividend payment of 117.8 million euros. Balda AG 
would therefore – as previously announced – pay out a further attractive special dividend and allow for the shareholders 
to share as far as possible in the proceeds of the sale of the shares in TPK. 
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The Balda Group 

High-quality plastic solutions, designed to meet individual customer requirements 
Balda consistently developed its strategic strengths in the short financial year 2012. Both the Balda Medical and Balda 
Electronic Products divisions worked continually on improving technologies and processes and developing the skills of 
their employees. The name Balda stands more than ever for high-quality plastic solutions based on individual customer 
requirements and established technological competence for plastic injection moulding and for the intelligent combination 
of plastic solutions and high-performance electronics. 

 

Segment Medical: Highest quality for customers 

Innovation and reliability for pharmaceutical, diagnostics and medical technology customers 
The Balda Medical division, which is based in Bad Oeynhausen, Germany, develops and produces products on behalf 
of well-known pharmaceutical, diagnostics and medical technology customers. Balda Medical is among the quality-
leading producers of complex plastic products for the global healthcare market. The company supplies customised 
system solutions which cover the whole range of services from product development to the delivery of products. Balda 
Medical attaches particular importance to long-term collaboration based on trust with its customers, for whom the 
company is a strategic partner. 

Healthcare – a global growth market 
Balda Medical operates in a global growth market. The healthcare market, which includes the pharmaceutical, 
diagnostics and medical technology segments which are relevant for Balda Medical, is relatively unaffected by economic 
fluctuations. Significant long-term drivers of growth are  

• Demographic change with people expecting to live longer 
• Increasing specialisation and individualisation of treatment methods and as a result the growing demand for 

innovative products and forms of therapy  
• Increasing health awareness in society  
• Continuing cost pressures in the health sector 

 
The global supply market for plastic medical technology products has high barriers to entry; there are only a few global 
companies and numerous highly-specialised niche suppliers. Supplier and customer relationships are mostly long term 
and based to a large degree on trust. Customers expect from their supply partners concentration on clear core 
competences, cost-effective solutions along the process chain, increasing expertise for tailored, customer-oriented 
solutions and high reliability with regard to product quality, ability to deliver and on-time delivery. Efficient quality 
management and the certification of processes, health and safety and environmental behaviour are also of great 
importance.  

Important trends in medical technology are the increasing functionalisation, miniaturisation and digitalisation of products. 
On top of this, the growing self-reliance of patients, for example with the taking of tablets, requires devices that impress 
in terms of design, functionality and look and feel. At the same time rising cost pressures in the health care system 
necessitate cost-effective solutions. Balda Medical efficiently integrates all of these requirements. 

Diverse product range 
Balda Medical distinguishes itself by developing and producing high-quality components, systems and packaging with 
its competitive strengths of innovation and quality. Here particular importance is attached to user benefits and reliability. 
Balda Medical’s plastics technology, with its wide variety of possible configurations using a range of different materials, 
makes an important contribution to innovative and cost-effective solutions.  

Plastics which are used in the diagnostics, medical technology and pharmaceutical sectors have to meet specific quality 
requirements with regard to for example electrical conductivity, friction, sealing and protection against humidity. Balda 
Medical has many years of know-how with regard to the material properties of various plastics. The experts in Bad 
Oeynhausen are therefore able to identify the possibilities and limitations of a product design and the mechanical 
interactions of materials at an early stage. Balda Medical also benefits here from the great know-how that was 
generated over many years in the Balda Group’s previous core business, the development and production of plastic 
products for mobile phones.   
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Balda Medical’s product range comprises in particular: 

• Handheld devices (lancets, inhalers, glucometers, setting aids and tablet dispensers) 
• Disposable items (pipettes, cuvettes, veterinary tubes, racks etc.) 
• Packaging (childproof tubes)  
• Specialised, functional assemblies for integration into more complex devices 

The diagnostics market in particular is currently experiencing strong growth. This is reflected in the high demand for 
high-quality plastic solutions. Balda Medical is represented in this sector by a wide range of products, including 
handheld devices, disposable items, wells for sample preparation and cartridges.  

Customer-oriented research and development 
Balda Medical’s research and development is always customer-oriented. This means that the division develops and 
produces its products strictly in line with customer requirements. Its range of services includes concept development, 
the construction of prototypes and evaluation models as well as marketable systems and their approval. Balda Medical 
therefore ensures that its solutions always meet the needs of the market and take into account current trends which are 
relevant for customers.  

The life cycles of products in the medical technology market range between three and 20 years and require a holistic 
approach. Each individual phase of this cycle is treated as an individual project by Balda Medical. The phases are 
broken down into definition/offer, development, industrialisation, production and finally the end-of-life phase.  

In order to organise deadlines and costs and implement the planned quality, the company relies on well-trained 
employees and a high degree of methodological competence. In addition to this, Balda Medical also possesses an array 
of modern and detailed measurement technology. They are a key element for ensuring product quality.  

Factors that are crucial for the success of a product are its design, its technical feasibility, stable production processes 
and as a consequence reliability and cost-efficient production. Inter-disciplinary teams work intensively from the start of 
the development process on these parameters. The customer is involved in the process from the outset.  

Precision in production 
Balda Medical produces high-precision tools which are the basis for producing high-quality plastic products. The tools 
are maintained and repaired in the company’s own tool and mould-making department. One of the company’s core 
competences is the high-volume production of assemblies in the injection moulding process. More than 50 injection 
moulding machines produce plastic assemblies with high process capability and precision.  

Balda Medical offers its customers all of the technologies for future-proof products. The injection moulding processes 
therefore include modern methods such as multi-component injection moulding, film injection (IMD, IMF), injection 
compression moulding and assembly injection moulding (insert and outsert). For this purpose Balda Medical has clean 
room capacity of 2,500 square metres at its site in Bad Oeynhausen. 

The division offers the customer comprehensive solutions from one source and therefore aims to maximise the value 
added. For example, Balda Medical creates on the basis of customer specifications tailored production concepts 
including the surface engineering, assembly and if required the packaging in an integrated process. At its site in Bad 
Oeynhausen, Balda builds the assembly lines which can be used for up to 20 years and are therefore appropriate for life 
cycles in the medical technology sector. The investment in the assembly line is not made by Balda Medical itself, but by 
the respective customer. Payments for this preliminary investment are booked as “tool sales”.  

The design and feel of the surface are important criteria for the acceptance and use of medical technology equipment, in 
particular for handheld products for the end customer. Balda Medical integrates these surface technologies into the 
existing production or assembly process. The respective technology is chosen on the basis of aesthetic viewpoints, the 
qualities of the materials used and cost-effectiveness.  

Strict quality management  
At Balda Medical the production of products for the healthcare market has to meet the highest quality and safety 
standards for the benefit of patients – in line with the company’s motto “Balda Medical takes care”. Quality assurance is 
split into quality planning and quality control. Quality planning defines the necessary targets in the early project phase. 
During the production phase quality control employees check whether this requirement is met in reality. In addition to 
this, the complex quality management system is the subject of regular internal audits and certifications by external 
organisations. 
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Balda Medical’s quality management system is based on various certifications: ISO 9001, ISO 13485 and the primary 
packaging standard DIN EN ISO 15378. It meets the requirements of Annex II of Directive 93/42/EEC of the Council 
concerning medical devices and the cGMP requirements (current Good Manufacturing Practices) of the USA’s Food 
and Drug Administration (FDA). 

Highly-qualified teams a factor for success 
The company’s highly-qualified employees are crucial for the implementation of high-quality development and 
production processes. Their expertise in the area of plastic injection moulding and the continual development of their 
skills are decisive for market success. Continual education and training provide additional motivation and ensure that 
their know-how always meets current customer requirements. At the end of the period under review Balda Medical had 
a total of 209 employees, including 16 engineers. Further information on the employees of the Medical segment can be 
found in the “Employees” chapter in the Group Management Report. 

Focus on expanding its market position 
Balda Medical has performed successfully and established itself with its customers in recent years thanks to its 
technological strengths. The division has developed a strong and sustainable foundation for further growth. In the next 
few years stronger internationalisation of the business, primarily by way of targeted acquisitions abroad, will be a 
priority. Balda Medical intends to follow its customers as they expand internationally and at the same time gain new 
customers in order to significantly extend its customer base. The strategic objective is to position itself as the “global first 
choice supplier” in the healthcare market.  

 

Segment Electronic Products:  
Excellency in electronics for global use 

Solutions from one source for the communications and entertainments sector 
The Balda Electronic Products division, which is based in Ipoh, Malaysia, develops and produces innovative plastic 
systems and integrates self-made or bought-in electronic elements. The company distinguishes itself with 
comprehensive technological expertise, many years of experience and great innovation potential. Products are 
produced both for the high-end and mid-range sectors. Balda Electronic Products is a key supplier for many of its 
customers, particularly with top-of-the-range products.  

Sophisticated product portfolio 
Balda Electronic Products offers its customers solutions from one source across the whole value chain. The division 
maintains its own development capacity; this ensures that product quality is reviewed continually as well as cost-efficient 
production. 

Balda Electronic Products’ product range comprises:  

• Waterproof and dustproof mobile phones with walkie-talkie function 

• Bluetooth headsets for mobile phones and other electronic devices with excellent audio quality, suitable for 
everyday use and for sport 

• Bluetooth headsets for use in the car with background noise suppressing function 

• Housings for digital cameras for the global manufacturer Canon 

• Docking stations for smartphones for global manufacturers that play back music and re-charge batteries, with 
HDMI connects and state-of-the-art digital video and audio transmission technology 

• 3D glasses for optimal depth effect of 3D video images 

• Remote controls with touchscreen displays  

• High-performance safety systems 

Competitive strengths 
Balda Electronic Products’ competitive strengths in the acoustics sector include a special test laboratory for earphones 
and headphones for mobile devices. The division also distinguishes itself with its particular expertise for example in 
Bluetooth technology, the production of complete camera housings as well as high-precision tool-making, injection 
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moulding and surface engineering. It also distinguishes itself from the competition by handling low and medium 
production volumes. 

All of the processes are designed based on lean-management principles and the Six Sigma Methodology quality standards 
in order to ensure high quality, customer satisfaction and cost efficiency in production.  

The division’s customers include global companies such as Plantronics, Sony, Canon, Panasonic, XpanD, Tonalite, 
Nextronics and RCI.  

Research and development 
Balda Electronic Products’ research and development focuses consistently on the needs of its customers. The company 
also concentrates on developing promising products that do not compete with its customers’ products so that it can 
secure the relevant patents. This makes it possible for the development work to be used for other projects or the 
acquired know-how to be offered to customers as an improvement to their own products.   

The segment's general research areas include:  

• Bluetooth-Technologies 

• Semi-conductors 

• Optimisation of acoustics technology 

• Software development for own products 

• Applications for the iOS and Android operating systems 

• Further development of efficient production processes: tool-making, injection moulding, surface engineering, 
assembling 

For Balda Electronic Products the needs and expectations of its customers are a priority; they are always taken into 
account in the development and production of products. The parameters for a project are set from the outset in close 
consultation with the respective customer. 

Intensive and continual dialogue with customers throughout the development phase allows the division’s employees to 
design the process in a consistent and targeted manner. Balda Electronic Products’ processes are improved continually 
and are certified in accordance with the quality management standards of ISO 9000 ff.  

High engineering expertise 
Balda Electronic Products significantly improved its work processes in the financial year 2012. It also continued to 
develop the high level of expertise and experience of its employees. At the end of the period under review the division 
had a total of 1,053 employees. In Ipoh the company employs more than 80 engineers. The structure of the workforce 
further underlines Balda Electronic Products’ exceptional engineering potential. Further information can be found in the 
“Employees” chapter in the Group Management Report.  

Concentration on promising niche markets 
Balda Electronic Products works tirelessly on the strategic development of its business model, with the focus on 
positioning itself in promising niche markets which generate sufficient volumes. With technically sophisticated products, 
criteria such as customised solutions, reliable delivery to customers in terms of consistent quality and just-in-time 
delivery are becoming increasingly important. Here the company will demonstrate its competitive advantages of being 
able to offer its customers complete processes from one source, from development to tool-making, injection moulding, 
surface engineering and to assembling. Its innovative strength will be reinforced not least of all by the development of 
new and patentable products in order to intensify its relationships with its customers. In the medium to long term the 
goal is develop Balda Electronic Products from a product supplier to a sales-and-marketing-oriented organisation with a 
distinct culture of innovation.  
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Group Management Report 

Section A: Business and General Conditions 

1. Overview of Group structure 

The Group (hereinafter also referred to as Balda) is an international supplier of technologically sophisticated plastic 
products. Its core competence lies in high-quality plastic injection moulding. This competence can be applied in a range 
of markets and is currently used in the healthcare (Medical segment) and electronic products (Electronic Products 
segment) sectors. 
 
Balda AG, which is based in Bad Oeynhausen, acts as the strategic and financial holding company of the Balda Group. 
Its main duties are the control and strategic development of the Group, the securing and control of the Group’s finance, 
the performance of central tasks such as Group accounting and controlling, investor relations and public relations and 
the holding of interests in other Group companies. Balda AG’s Board of Directors has consisted since 1 January 2012 of 
Dominik Müser (Chief Executive Officer) and James Lim (Board Member). 
 
The Balda AG share is traded in the Prime Standard segment of Deutsche Börse AG. It is also listed in the SDAX, the 
segment for small caps. 
 
Balda AG holds 100 % of the shares in Balda Investments Netherlands B.V., Amsterdam/Netherlands, which acts as an 
intermediate holding company. Balda Investments Netherlands B.V. owns 100 % of the shares in the intermediate 
holding company Balda Investments Singapore Pte. Ltd., Singapore, which in turn holds a minority interest in the 
touchscreen manufacturer TPK Holding Co. Ltd. 
 
Balda Investments Netherlands B.V. also indirectly holds all of the shares in the operational company of the Electronic 
Products segment based in Malaysia with Balda Solutions Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. being the main operational company. 
 
Balda AG also holds 100 % of the shares in Balda Medical GmbH & Co. KG, Bad Oeynhausen, which is the operational 
management company of the Medical segment. 
 
The operational activities of Balda Solutions USA, Inc., Morrisville/North Carolina, in which Balda Investments 
Netherlands B.V. held 100 % of the shares, were discontinued in the year under review as part of the Group's 
restructuring and realignment. 
 
Balda USA had mainly been performing sales support and market observation tasks for the former MobileCom segment 
and the Electronic Products segment. 
 
Balda had completely disposed of the MobileCom segment (manufacturer of plastic products for the mobile phone 
sector), which was based in China, on 1 December 2011. The shares in the Group companies of the former segment 
were disposed of by way of a management buy out. 
 
The activities of the Balda Group are broken down into three segments, two of which make up the operational business: 
 

• the Medical segment with the production site in Bad Oeynhausen, Germany, 
• the Electronic Products segment with the production site in Ipoh, Malaysia, 
• the Central Services segment, which covers in particular the activities of Balda AG as the holding company. 
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2. Overview of business activities 
 
Following the sale of the MobileCom segment in 2011, the Balda Group is now concentrating on the two operational 
segments, Medical and Electronic Products. 
 
In the Medical segment Balda has been manufacturing high-quality plastic products for the pharmaceutical, diagnostics 
and medical technology markets since 2002, on the strength of mostly long-term relationships based on trust with 
customers and suppliers. Its core competence is the design, development and production of assemblies, systems and 
packaging in line with the specific requirements of customers, which include well-known German and foreign 
pharmaceutical and medical technology companies. 
 
The product range includes a number of handheld devices such as blood sugar gauges, lancets, inhalers and tablet 
dispensers; disposable items such as pipettes and tubes; packaging and specialised assemblies which are integrated 
into more complex systems. The segment generates most of its turnover with customers in the German-speaking world 
for global markets. 
 
The Electronic Products segment develops and produces plastics systems for electronic devices and in the process 
integrates self-produced and bought-in electronic elements. The product range includes for example components for 
cameras, earphones and headphones for mobile devices and stereo headsets or stations for mobile phones and tablet 
computers. A particular technological core competence of Balda lies in acoustics, for which it has developed its own 
laboratory. Its customers include global consumer electronics companies. The segment’s sales are mainly achieved in 
Asia and Europe. 
 
 
3. General economic development 
 
Global economic growth has, as generally expected, slowed down in the first half of 2012. The global economy is being 
affected in particular by the slowdown in growth in major emerging countries, in particular in China, and by the 
unresolved national debt crisis in the eurozone. In the second quarter, economic growth in China fell for the sixth quarter 
in a row. China’s major contribution in terms of strengthening the global economy therefore diminished. 
 
In Europe the focus remained on combating the national debt crisis in some of the countries in the eurozone. Apart from 
in Greece, where two parliamentary elections were needed to form a new government, the crisis worsened in particular 
in Spain, where the domestic banks were reliant on the EU’s comprehensive financial support measures. In view of 
these developments and the increasing political divisions in the EU on how best to deal with the challenges, the 
situation in the financial and capital markets remained tense. As expected by experts, at the start of July 2012 the 
European Central Bank (ECB) lowered the base rate by 25 basis points to 0.75 %, the lowest rate since the single 
currency was introduced, in order to boost the economy. 
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In the period under review the German economy proved itself to be robust compared to other European countries. In the 
first quarter adjusted gross domestic product (GDP) rose according to the Federal Statistical Office compared to the 
previous quarter by 0.5 %, after having fallen slightly in the fourth quarter of 2011.However, Germany was still affected 
by the global crisis. 
 
 
4. Sector development 
 
4.1. Medical 

 
The German medical technology industry continued to grow in 2011. According to the Federal Statistical Office and the 
industry association Spectaris, the sector’s total revenues grew by almost 7 % to around 21.4 billion euros. The growth 
was attributable in particular to foreign trade, which saw sales rise by almost 11 % to around 14.2 billion euros. 
Domestic sales rose by 0.4 % to around 7.2 billion euros. German manufacturers of medical technology therefore once 
again recorded a very high share of exports in proportion to their total sales, with the export ratio rising again in 2011 by 
2.2 % to 66.2 %. 
 
Figures relating to sector development in the first half of 2012 were not available at the time this management report 
was written. For the first four months of 2012 the Federal Statistical Office reported a 4.7 % rise in the sales of German 
manufacturers of medical technology compared to the same period of the previous year, which was primarily attributable 
to foreign trade. 
 
Sector experts expected the positive development to continue as the medical technology industry is experiencing long-
term global growth. What is also having a positive effect is the fact that the sector, due to the mostly long-term 
investment cycles of its customers, is less susceptible to fluctuations following a slowdown in economic growth, as 
recorded particularly in Europe in 2012. 

 
 

4.2. Electronic Products 
 
The consumer electronics sector is expected to grow in 2012. Sustained by the continuing high demand from emerging 
countries and product innovations, the Gesellschaft für Unterhaltungs- und Kommunikationselektronik (Society for 
Consumer and Communication Electronics, gfu) forecasted that global sales of consumer electronics and household 
appliances would rise by 3 to 5 %. According to the society, the drivers of growth are tablet PCs, smartphones and, 
despite a slowdown in their growth, LCD TVs. 
 
The West European market for electronic appliances fell slightly in the first quarter of 2012 compared to the same 
quarter of the previous year by 5.1 % to 46.2 billion euros. However, the telecommunications sector recorded an 
increase of 7.5 %, primarily due to the continuing high demand for smartphones. Spending on photo products was down 
by 12 %. Sales of consumer electronics fell by 17 %; this is mainly due to high saturation levels as most households 
now already have flatscreen TVs. In Germany the consumer electronics sector did not follow this trend, recording a 
slight increase of 0.6 % (all figures provided by GfK TEMAX). 
 
 
5. Management and control of the Group 

 
As the holding company, Balda AG performs the Group's essential management and control functions. It is responsible 
for developing and setting the basic Group strategy. It also monitors whether the strategic guidelines are being complied 
with by the operational units. Further information on management and control of the Group can be found in the chapter 
“Accounting-related internal control system” (Section E, Number 3). 

 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the management of the Group. The Supervisory Board appoints, monitors and 
advises the Board of Directors and is directly involved in decisions of fundamental importance for the Group. 
 
In the short financial year 2012 the operational segments were again responsible for achieving their targets. The 
managers of the segments are responsible for implementing the strategy for their segment specified by the Board of 
Directors in the relevant markets. They report directly to the Board of Directors of Balda AG. 

An overview of the companies included in the consolidated financial statements can be found in the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements under “List of shareholdings”. 
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5.1. Financial performance indicators and financial targets 
 
Balda intends to measure and assess the long-term success of the Group based on clearly defined financial performance 
indicators. The current performance indicators are essentially sales, total income, EBIT, headcount, investments and 
segment assets. As a result of the new strategic alignment of the Balda Group in the first half of 2012 (cf. Opportunities and 
Forecast Report), the performance indicators are to be modified and new performance indicators are to be developed 
accordingly as the strategic targets are set. This process is expected to be completed in the second half of 2012. 
 
 
6. Takeover-relevant information in accordance with  

§ 315 para. 4 of the HGB 
 
6.1. Composition of subscribed capital 
 
As of 30 June 2012 the company's share capital was unchanged compared to the previous year and amounted to 
58,890,636.00 euros, dispersed in 58,890,636 shares with a proportional value of the share capital of 1.00 euro per 
share. Each individual share is granted one vote at the company's Annual General Meeting. 
 

6.2. Voting right restrictions or the assignment of shares 
 
All of the company's shares are freely assignable in accordance with the articles of association. The company's Board of 
Directors is unaware of restrictions on voting rights or restrictions affecting the assignment of shares as of the reporting 
date. 
 

6.3. Shareholdings exceeding 10 % of the capital 
 
As of 30 June 2012, according to the information available to us, the following shareholders held direct or indirect 
shareholdings in the company's share capital that entitled them to more than 10 % of the voting rights: 

• Yield Return Investments, Apia, Samoa: 27.60 % of the capital and voting rights, direct. 
• Yun-Ling Chiang, Richmond, Canada: 27.60 % of the capital and voting rights, indirect. 

 

6.4. Shareholders with privileges 

There are no shares with privileges that grant control authority. 

6.5. Principles for amendments to the articles of association 

Amendments to the articles of association require resolutions passed General Meeting. According to § 18 para. 4 of the 
articles of association, in order to make an amendment to the articles of association, with the exception of an 
amendment to the purpose of the company or the duration of the company, a simple majority of the share capital 
represented is required to pass the resolution. However, according to § 23 of the articles of association, the Supervisory 
Board is authorised to make amendments to the articles of association which only relate to their wording, in particular 
amendments relating to information about the share capital following the respective increases in conditional and 
authorised capital and reductions in capital following the recalling of shares. 

6.6. Board of Directors' authority 

6.6.1.  Purchase of own shares 

The Board of Directors is authorised on the basis of the resolution passed by the Annual General Meeting on 27 May 
2011, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, to purchase in the period up to 26 May 2016 own shares in the total 
amount of up to 10 % of the share capital that existed at the time the resolution was passed. The authorisation may not 
be used by the company for the purpose of trading in its own shares. 
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The authorisation may be exercised in whole or in part on one or more occasions by the company; it may also be 
exercised by its Group companies or by third parties for its or their account. The purchased shares may together with 
own shares held by the company or assigned to it in accordance with §§ 71d and 71e of the German Stock Corporation 
Act (AktG) at no time account for more than 10 % of the respective share capital of the company. 

The purchase may be made as the Board of Directors chooses via the stock exchange or via a public offer to purchase. 
If the purchase is made via the stock exchange, the amount paid by the company for each share (not including 
incidental transaction costs) may not exceed by more than 10 % and may not fall below by more than 10 % the stock 
exchange price established by the opening auction for the company’s shares of the same class and carrying the same 
rights on the Xetra trading platform (or in any successor system with a similar function) on the Frankfurter 
Wertpapierbörse, Frankfurt am Main (“Frankfurter Wertpapierbörse”), on the day upon which the obligation to purchase 
is entered into. 

 
If the purchase is made by way of a public offer to purchase to all of the company’s shareholders, the purchase price or 
the purchase price range per share (not including incidental transaction costs) may not exceed by more than 10 % and 
may not fall below by more than 10 % the average closing price for the company’s shares of the same class and 
carrying the same rights on the Xetra trading platform (or in any successor system with a similar function) on the 
Frankfurter Wertpapierbörse between the 4th and 10th trading day before the publication of the offer. If a purchase price 
range is set, the final price will be established based on the declarations of acceptance or sales offers. If the relevant 
stock exchange price established in this way changes significantly after the publication of the offer to purchase, the offer 
may be adjusted. Here the date of the publication of the offer is replaced by the date upon which the final decision 
concerning the adjustment of the purchase price is published. The volume of the offer may be limited. If the subscription 
of the offer exceeds this volume, any right of the shareholders to tender is excluded in this respect, if the purchase can 
be made based on the ratio of shares tendered or offered and low quantities up to 100 shares per shareholder can be 
considered on a preferential basis. 

The Board of Directors is authorised to use the company’s own shares with the approval of the Supervisory Board for all 
purposes permitted by law, including their sale via the stock exchange or via an offer made to all of the shareholders, as 
well as to use them as follows: 

 
• They may be recalled without any further resolution by the Annual General Meeting in whole or in part. The 

Board of Directors may decide that with the recall the company’s share capital is reduced or that the share 
capital remains unchanged and instead with the recall the share of the remaining shares in the share capital is 
increased in accordance with § 8 para. 3 of the AktG. In this case the Board of Directors is authorised to 
change the number of shares stated in the company’s articles of association. 

 
• They may be offered or sold to the exclusion of subscription rights of shareholders within the scope of a 

merger with a company or within the scope of the acquisition of a company, company divisions or 
shareholdings in a company or other assets, including receivables. 

 
• They may be used to the exclusion of subscription rights of shareholders to service conversion or option rights 

or obligations relating to bonds, which the company or a company in which the company holds a direct or 
indirect majority interest issues or has issued. 

 
• They may be sold to the exclusion of subscription rights of shareholders in exchange for cash if the selling 

price is not significantly below the stock exchange price for the company’s shares of the same class and 
carrying the same rights on the Xetra trading platform at the time the obligation to purchase is entered into. 
This authorisation only applies though with the proviso that the proportionate amount of the company’s share 
capital of the shares sold to the exclusion of subscription rights in accordance with § 186 para. 3 clause 4 of 
the AktG may not be more than in total 10 % of the share capital both on the date that this authorisation 
comes into force and the time it is exercised; this upper limit is reduced by the proportionate amount of the 
share capital which is accounted for by shares or is related to conversion or option rights or obligations which 
are issued during the term of this authorisation on the basis of other authorisations in direct or analogous 
application of § 186 para. 3 clause 4 of the AktG to the exclusion of subscription rights. 

 
If the company’s own shares are sold via an offer made to all of the shareholders, the Board of Directors may exclude 
with the approval of the Supervisory Board the subscription right of shareholders for fractional amounts. 
 
The above authorisations regarding the use of own shares may be used on one or more occasions, individually or jointly 
and in whole or in part; they may also be exercised by its Group companies or by third parties for its or their account. 

The Board of Directors provided a written report on the reasons for the exclusion of subscription rights with the invitation 
to the Annual General Meeting on 27 May 2011 in accordance with §§ 71 para. 1 no. 8 clause 5, 186 para. 4 clause 2 of 
the AktG. 
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6.6.2. Authorised capital 

The Annual General Meeting on 11 May 2012 authorised the Board of Directors to increase the company’s share capital 
with the approval of the Supervisory Board until 10 May 2017 on one or more occasions by a total of 29,445,318 euros 
by issuing up to 29,445,318 new bearer shares in exchange for cash and/or assets in kind (Authorised Capital 2012). 

 
The new shares are to be offered for purchase to the shareholders. The Board of Directors is authorised though, with 
the approval of the Supervisory Board, to exclude the statutory subscription rights of shareholders in the following 
cases: 
 

• to balance fractional amounts, 
 

• to acquire companies, company divisions or shareholdings in companies or other assets, including 
receivables; 

 
• to grant a subscription right to the holders of conversion or option rights or obligations, which the company or 

a company in which the company holds a direct or indirect majority interest issues or has issued, in the 
amount which they would be due after exercising their conversion or option rights or after meeting their 
respective obligations; 

 
• if the share of the share capital accounted for by the new shares for which the subscription right is excluded is 

not more than in total 10 % of the share capital both on the date that this authorisation comes into force and 
the time it is exercised and the issue amount of the new shares is not significantly below the stock exchange 
price for the company’s shares of the same class and carrying the same rights in terms of §§ 203 paras. 1 
and 2, 186 para. 3 clause 4 of the AktG. To be taken into account in the limit of 10 % of the share capital is 
the proportionate amount of the share capital accounted for by shares which are sold during the term of this 
authorisation in accordance with §§ 71 para. 1 no. 8 clause 5, 186 para. 3 clause 4 of the AktG to the 
exclusion of subscription rights. Also to be taken into account in the limit of 10 % of the share capital is the 
proportionate amount of the share capital accounted for by shares or which relate to conversion or option 
rights or obligations which are issued during the term of this authorisation on the basis of other authorisations 
in direct or analogous application of § 186 para. 3 clause 4 of the AktG to the exclusion of subscription rights. 

 
The authorisation to the exclusion of subscription rights must also, taking into account other authorisations to the 
exclusion of subscription rights, not be more than in total 20 % of the share capital both on the date that this 
authorisation comes into force and the time it is exercised. 
 
The Board of Directors provided a written report on the reasons for the exclusion of subscription rights with the invitation 
to the Annual General Meeting on 11 May 2012 in accordance with §§ 203 para. 2 clause 2 and 186, para. 4 clause 2 of 
the AktG. 
 
The authorised capital (Authorised Capital 2007) passed by the 2007 Annual General Meeting was nullified by the 
Annual General Meeting on 11 May 2012. 
 
 
6.6.3.  Conditional capital 

The company’s share capital will be increased conditionally by up to 17,667,190 euros with the issue of up to 
17,667,190 new bearer shares with profit entitlement from the start of the financial year in which they were issued 
(Conditional Capital 2012). Conditional capital increases serve the granting of shares to holders of conversion and/or 
option bonds, participation rights and/or profit sharing bonds (or combinations of these instruments) which, on the basis 
of the authorisation of the Annual General Meeting of 11 May 2012, are to be issued by 10 May 2017 by the company or 
by companies in which the company holds a direct or indirect majority interest, provided that they are issued in 
exchange for cash. 
 
They are only to be used in this respect as conversion or option rights relating to the aforementioned bonds are used or 
conversion or option obligations relating to such bonds are met and are not used to service other forms of performance. 
 
The conditional capital passed by the 2007 Annual General Meeting and the 2006 Annual General Meeting (Conditional 
Capital 2007 and Conditional Capital 2006) was nullified by the Annual General Meeting on 11 May 2012 as no shares 
had been issued from it. 
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6.6.4.  Issue of bonds 

The Annual General Meeting on 11 May 2012 authorised the Board of Directors to issue with the approval of the 
Supervisory Board by 10 May 2017 on one or more occasions conversion and/or option bonds, participation rights 
and/or profit sharing bonds or combinations of these instruments (together: "bonds") in the total nominal amount of up to 
100,000,000.00 euros with or without a maturity limit. The holders of bonds may be granted conversion or option rights 
to bearer shares in the company with a proportionate amount of the share capital of in total up to 17,667,190.00 euros in 
accordance with the conditions of the bonds, which establish corresponding conversion or option obligations. 

 
The bonds may be issued in euros or in an equivalent value in another legal currency. They may also be issued by 
companies in which Balda AG holds a direct or indirect majority interest. In such a case the Board of Directors is 
authorised, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, to provide the guarantee for the bonds and grant the holders 
conversion or option rights to bearer shares in Balda AG or establish corresponding conversion or option obligations. 
 
Bonds may be issued in exchange for performance in kind. 

 
The shareholders basically have a subscription right to bonds. The Board of Directors is authorised though, with the 
approval of the Supervisory Board, to exclude the subscription right in the following cases: 

 
• for fractional amounts, 

 
• if it is necessary in order to be able to grant the holders of bonds with conversion or option rights or 

conversion or option obligations an exchange or subscription right in the amount which they would be due 
after exercising their conversion or option rights or after meeting their respective obligations, 

 
• if the bonds are issued in exchange for performance in kind and the value of the performance in kind is in an 

appropriate proportion to the theoretical market value of the bonds established by recognised actuarial 
methods, 

 
• if bonds with conversion or option rights or conversion or option obligations are to be issued in exchange for 

cash and the issue price in analogous application of § 186 para. 3 clause 4 of the AktG is not significantly 
below the theoretical market value of the bonds with conversion or option rights or conversion or option 
obligations established by recognised actuarial methods. This authorisation to the exclusion of subscription 
rights only applies in this respect though if the shares issued or to be issued to service conversion or option 
rights or obligations or when meeting conversion or option obligations account for in total a proportionate 
amount of the share capital of not more than 10 % of the company's share capital on the date that this 
authorisation comes into force and the time it is exercised. Also to be taken into account in this upper limit is 
the proportionate amount of the share capital accounted for by shares which are sold during the term of this 
authorisation in direct, analogous or appropriate application of § 186 para. 3 clause 4 of the AktG to the 
exclusion of subscription rights. 

 
• if participation rights or profit sharing bonds without conversion or option rights or conversion or option 

obligations are issued, when these participation rights or profit sharing bonds carry similar rights to other 
bonds; for example they do not establish membership rights in the company or they do not grant a share in 
the proceeds of a liquidation. 

 
The authorisation to the exclusion of subscription rights is limited in this respect, as the proportionate amount of the 
share capital accounted for by the new shares, which are issued to meet conversion or option rights and to service 
conversion or option obligations, must also, taking into account other authorisations to the exclusion of subscription 
rights, not be more than in total 20 % of the share capital both on the date that this authorisation comes into force and 
the time it is exercised. 
 
The Board of Directors provided a written report on the reasons for the exclusion of subscription rights with the invitation 
to the Annual General Meeting on 11 May 2012 in accordance with §§ 221 para. 4 clause 2 and 186, para. 4 clause 2 of 
the AktG. 
 
As of the balance sheet date neither the authorised nor the conditional capital has been utilised. 
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6.7. Amendments to the articles of association in  
the short financial year 

The Annual General Meeting of Balda AG on 11 May 2012 decided to change the company’s financial year from the 
calendar year to the period of 1 July to 30 June of the following year with effect of 1 July 2012. The current financial year 
from 1 January 2012 to 30 June 2012 became a short financial year. § 19 para. 1 of the articles of association was 
amended accordingly. 
 
 
6.8. Compensation agreements in case of a bid for a takeover 

No compensation agreements exist with the members of the Board of Directors and employees of the Balda Group in 
the case of a takeover bid. 
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Section B: Earnings, asset and financial position 
 

1. General 

The Annual General Meeting on 11 May 2012 decided to change the financial year of Balda AG and the Balda Group so 
that it ends on 30 June. The same applies for the Group’s significant companies (cf. the list of shareholdings in the 
Notes). As a result there is a short six-month financial year for the period of 1 January 2012 to 30 June 2012. 

The previous year's figures stated in this management report for the income statement, the cash flow statement and the 
segment reporting relate to the 2011 calendar year (12 months) and therefore a meaningful comparison with the figures 
in the short financial year is not possible. The previous year's figures for the consolidated balance sheet relate to the 
balance sheet date of 31 December 2011. 

These consolidated financial statements as of 30 June 2012 were prepared in accordance with the International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as they are to be applied within the EU. Information on the basis of consolidation 
can be found in the Notes to the consolidated financial statements. As part of the strategic realignment, in the financial 
year 2011 Balda disposed of the MobileCom segment (manufacturer of components for mobile phones) and the relevant 
activities were sold by way of a management buy out with effect of 1 December 2011. The segment is therefore no 
longer included in the consolidated financial statements of the short financial year 2012. In the previous year's income 
statement, the sold segment’s earnings after taxes are reported under “earnings of discontinued operations” in 
accordance with IFRS in a separate item after “earnings of continued operations”. 

The Balda Group’s shareholding in TPK Holding Co. Ltd. is measured at fair value. The dividend payments and the 
earnings from the sale of TPK shares are reported in the Group’s financial result. 

 

2. Significant events in the financial year 

Extraordinary General Meeting on 8 February 2012 
The Extraordinary General Meeting of Balda AG on 8 February 2012 confirmed with 76.9 % of the share capital present 
the members of the Supervisory Board Dr. Michael Naschke (Chairman), Yu-Sheng Kai and Chun-Chen Chen in their 
offices. The motion proposed by the minority shareholder Octavian Special Master Fund L.P., New York, to dismiss the 
three members of the Supervisory Board was therefore unsuccessful. The election of the candidates proposed by 
Octavian for the Supervisory Board therefore did not take place. The Board of Directors announced at the general 
meeting that a voluntary special audit was going to be conducted with the approval of the Supervisory Board. The object 
of the audit was to clearify whether the executive bodies of Balda AG can be accused of wrongdoing in its efforts to sell 
shares held in TPK Holding Co. Ltd. in 2011 and whether as a result the company has incurred a loss. 
 
Block sale of shares in TPK Holding 

At the end of February 2012 Balda Investments Singapore Pte. Ltd., which is part of the Balda Group, sold in total 20.0 
million shares in the non-strategic shareholding in TPK Holding Co. Ltd.; the proceeds of the sale totalled around 238 
million. The transaction was carried out by way of a block trade organised by an investment bank in accordance with the 
rules of the Taiwanese stock exchange. The sale reduced the shareholding of Balda Investments Singapore Pte. Ltd. in 
TPK Holding from 16.1 % to 7.6 %. 
 
Annual General Meeting on 11 May 2012 

The Annual General Meeting of Balda AG on 11 May 2012 approved with 62.6 % of the share capital present all of the 
resolutions on the agenda proposed by the executive bodies by a clear majority. The shareholders approved a dividend 
for the financial year 2011 of 1.30 euros per share; this equates to a total dividend payment of 76.6 million euros. It was 
also agreed that the financial year of Balda AG and the Group would be changed so that it ends on 30 June. 
 
The shareholders authorised the Board of Directors to issue bonds with a total nominal value of up to 100 million euros 
and approved the generation of new authorised capital. This new capital framework, which expires on 10 May 2017, is 
purely for contingency purposes so that Balda has sufficient financial scope. For further details, we refer to section A 
item 6.6 in this management report. 
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Voluntary special audit 

At the Annual General Meeting on 11 May 2012, the Chief Executive Officer Dominik Müser informed the shareholders 
of the conclusion of the voluntary special audit instigated by the Board of Directors on the conduct of the Supervisory 
Board and the former Board of Directors with regard to their efforts to sell shares in TPK in 2011. The audit conducted 
by the law firm Hengeler Mueller, Düsseldorf, concluded that there was no incriminating evidence of a breach of duty 
and entitlement to claim damages against the members of the executive bodies involved. 
 
TPK Holding approves dividend for 2011 and raising of capital from company assets 

The Annual General Meeting of TPK Holding Co. Ltd. approved in May 2012 a dividend payment for the financial year 
2011 and the issue of new shares on a pro-rata basis to all TPK shareholders as part of an action to raise capital from 
company assets. The pro-rata cash dividend of around 12 million US dollars was received by the Group company Balda 
Investments Singapore Pte. Ltd. The issue of new shares diluted the existing shares and therefore did not result in an 
increase in the value of assets held by the TPK shareholders. The Group received around 5.27 million new TPK shares. 
The dividend entitlement and the new shares are considered in the consolidated financial statements as of 30 June 
2012. 
 
Additional sale of shares in TPK Holding 

The Group company Balda Investments Singapore Pte. Ltd. sold at the end of June 2012 a further 15,998,365 shares in 
TPK Holding Co. Ltd.; the proceeds of the sale totalled around 153 million. The transaction was carried out by way of a 
block trade organised by the investment bank UBS. The sale, in which Balda’s dividend entitlement for TPK Holding’s 
financial year 2011 was maintained, was considered in the income statement in the Group’s short financial year from 1 
January to 30 June 2012.The additional sale reduced the shareholding of Balda Investments Singapore Pte. Ltd. in TPK 
Holding from 7.6 % to 0.8 %. 
 
 
3. Overall assessment of the financial year 

 
The Balda Group concluded the short financial year 2012 with a consolidated group 
result of 250.7 million euros. These high consolidated earnings are in particular the result 
of the two sales of shares in the non-strategic shareholding in TPK Holding Co. Ltd. 

As expected, operational earnings remained negative with consolidated earnings 
before interest, taxes and impairments (special write-downs) of minus 5.8 million 
euros. In both the Medical and Electronic Products segments, customers delaying 
order call-offs had an impact. In the Electronic Products segment, the financial year 
was also characterised by the restructuring and realignment launched at the start of 
the year and which are proceeding according to plan. Lower margin expectations in 
the current business of the Electronic Products segment resulted in special write-
downs of 8.9 million euros. 

As a result of the sale of virtually all of the shares in TPK Holding, the Group has 
considerable liquid funds available for dividend payments and to finance Balda’s 
strategic development. The Board of Directors intend the payment of a dividend for the 
short financial year. This would allow the shareholders of Balda AG to quickly share in 
the proceeds of the TPK shares sold in the short financial year. 
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4. Earnings position 

Key figures of the Balda Group’s income statement (IFRS) 
 

in mio. euros 1.1.-30.6. 2012 1.1.-31.12. 2011 
Sales 24.7 66.3 
Total income  31.7 70.9 
EBITDA -3.9 -2.3 
EBIT before special write-downs -5.8 -6.0 
EBIT -14.7 -6.0 
Financial result 269.0 5.2 
EBT 254.3 -0.8 
Income tax -3.5 -2.2 
Net profit – continued operations 250.7 -3.0 
Profit discontinued operations, net 0 -36.1 
Group net profit 250.7 -39.1 
Net profit of Balda AG (HGB) 182.0 79.7 

 

The Group achieved sales of 24.7 million euros in the period under review (financial 
year 2011: 66.3 million euros). In particular delays in customer projects in the two 
operational segments, Medical and Electronic Products, had a negative impact. 

Other operating income totalled 3.4 million euros (financial year 2011: 5.4 million 
euros). This included income from the reversal of provisions for tax risks as a result of 
the agreement to terminate the loan and sale agreement with the buyer of Balda’s 
former MobileCom segment. 

The Group reports a total income of 31.7 million euros (financial year 2011: 70.9 
million euros). 

Material expenses totalled 16.4 million euros (financial year 2011: 41.5 million euros), 
which equates to 58.1 % of sales including changes in inventories. The cost of 
materials ratio was below the ratio for financial year 2011 (63.4 %) due to a change in 
the product mix and lower sales of tools in the Medical segment. 

Personnel expenses totalled 10.0 million euros (financial year 2011: 18.3 million 
euros). Their share in total income performance was at 31.4 % higher than in 
financial year 2011 (25.8 %). This is primarily attributable to the short-term increase 
in the use of temporary staff in the Electronic Products segment and the fall in sales 
due to the delay in order call-offs. 

Other operating expenses totalled 9.2 million euros (financial year 2011: 13.4 million 
euros) and primarily consisted of energy expenses (1.4 million euros), maintenance 
(0.9 million euros), consultancy services (1.5 million euros) and currency differences 
in the operational business (1.6 million euros). 

For the short financial year the Balda Group reports earnings before interest, taxes, 
depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) of minus 3.9 million euros (financial year 
2011: minus 2.3 million euros). 

Scheduled depreciation totalled 1.9 million euros (financial year 2011: 3.7 million 
euros) and was apportioned in roughly equal measure to the two operational 
segments, Medical and Electronic Products. 

The Group reports special write-downs of 8.9 million euros. These were apportioned entirely to the Electronic Products 
segment and are the result of a regular impairment test. The impairment of the segment’s assets took into account the 
fall in the segment’s margins. The impairment included the full write-down of the segment's goodwill (7.0 million euros) 
and other write-downs on the value of buildings (0.9 million euros) and machinery and equipment (1.0 million euros). 

The Group reports earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) of minus 14.7 million euros; this is primarily attributable to 
the necessary impairments in the Electronics Products segment. 
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Financial result totalled 269.0 million euros (financial year 2011: 5.2 million euros). It 
is dominated by the income from the reversal of provisions related to the two sales of 
shares in TPK Holding in the short financial year, resulting in earnings of 274.3 
million euros. The financial result also take into account expenses of 10.6 million 
euros, due to the reduction of the loan which Balda had granted to the buyer of the 
companies of the former MobileCom segment (cf. assets position).The financial 
result included the cash dividend from TPK Holding Co. Ltd., (9.2 million euros), 
currency differences (minus 4.6 million euros) and a positive interest result (0.7 
million euros). 

Earnings before taxes totalled 254.3 million euros for the short financial year 
(financial year 2011: minus 0.8 million euros).The high earnings are primarily the 
result of positive special effects, such as the reversal of provisions related to the sale 
of TPK shares and income from dividends, which is largely not subject to taxation. 
Special effects related to reductions in the loan, goodwill and property, plant and 

equipment had a negative impact. 

After taking into account taxes on income and earnings of 3.5 million euros 
(financial year 2011: 2.2 million euros), Balda reports a net income for continued 
operations of 250.7 million euros (financial year 2011: minus 3.0 million euros). 

Unlike in the financial year 2011, there were no expenses and income for 
discontinued operations in the short financial year. Accordingly, the Group’s result 
(net profit) totalled 250.7 million euros (financial year 2011: minus 39.1 million 
euros).This equates to earnings per share, both on a diluted and undiluted basis, of 
4.257 euros (financial year 2011: minus 0.665 euros). 

Other result (minus 186.7 million euros) in the group total income statement 
included in particular the upward revaluation of the TPK shares to their fair value 
(80.2 million euros) and the reclassification adjustment (275.8 million euros) related 
to the TPK shares sold in the short financial year 2012.The total result of the period 
amounted to 64.0 million euros (financial year 2011: minus 286.7 million euros). 
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5. Development of the segments 
 
5.1. Medical segment 

The Medical segment achieved sales of 11.7 million euros in the short financial year 
2012. Delays in order call-offs by customers had a negative impact on sales. In one 
major project, a customer put back the market launch of a drug. It is expected that 
the lost sales will be largely made up for in the course of the financial year 
2012/2013. 

The segment’s EBIT totalled minus 1.3 million euros due to the fall in sales as a 
result of project delays. 

 

5.2. Electronic Products segment 

The Electronic Products segment reports sales of 13.0 million euros for the period of 
January to June 2012. This sales performance was influenced by customers 
delaying order call-offs and by the production launch of technologically sophisticated 
projects with initially lower volumes in the start-up phase. 

The EBIT before impairments remained negative as expected and totalled minus 2.2 
million euros. It was affected by additional quality assurance measures and the 
additional costs for economically unattractive orders for which additional temporary 
staff were used so that they could be processed quickly. Including the special write-
downs of 8.9 million euros following the regular impairment test, an EBIT of minus 
11.1 million euros is reported for the short financial year. 

 

5.3. Central Services segment 

The Central Services segment, which primarily covers the activities of Balda AG as 
the holding company, reports a negative EBIT of minus 2.3 million euros for the 
period of January to June 2012.The segment’s earnings were affected by high 
consultancy costs related to the Annual General Meeting on 11 May 2012 and the 
associated actions for annulment. Due to the reduction in business volume, the 
structures in the Balda Group and the holding company have been streamlined and in part reorganised. Initial savings 
have already been achieved in the short financial year. 

The segment’s earnings were affected significantly in the year under review by the increase in financial earnings, which 
includes in particular the effects of the sale of shares in TPK Holding. Earnings before taxes therefore totalled 266.7 
million euros (financial year 2011: minus 0.8 million euros). 

 

6. Financial position 
 
6.1. Principles and objectives of finance management 

The main objective of finance management is to ensure that Group is able to repay its debts and that the maturities in its 
capital structure are matched. A system has been installed in the Group with appropriate parameters to control the 
short, medium and long-term financing and liquidity requirements. 
 
Even after the planned strategic growth, the objective will be to ensure that Group's financial position remains healthy. A 
minimum reserve of liquid funds should continue to prevent potential liquidity shortfalls in financing the operational 
business. 
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The Group prevents liquidity risks by holding sufficient funds for payment. Due to the existing uncertainties in financial 
markets, when investing surplus liquidity reserves the priority is not profit maximisation, but the maintenance of assets. 
 
 
6.2. Cash flow development 

The cash flows for the short financial year 2012 and the comparison year of 2011 (1 January to 31 December 2011) are 
analysed below. The cash flow statement has been prepared in accordance with IFRS and is intended to support the 
evaluation of the financial capacity of the Balda Group. The previous year's cash flow statement includes the values of 
the discontinued and continued divisions; therefore a meaningful comparison with the figures in the period under review 
is not possible. The cash flows are divided into operating, investing and financing activities. Each of these areas is 
described below. 
 
Cash flow from operating activities  

The inflow of funds from ongoing operating activities totalled 5.2 million euros in the short financial year 2012.This was 
due in particular to the low sales activities as a result of the delay in customer call-offs and the increase in working 
capital. 
 
Cash flow from investing activities 

The inflow of funds from investing activities totalled 64.6 million euros (financial year 2011: minus 1.9 million euros).The 
Group spent 1.3 million euros on investing activities in the period under review (financial year 2011: 3.1 million euros). 

In addition to this, the second instalment of the loan granted in relation to the sale of the MobileCom division of 3.3 
million euros has been paid out as per the 2011 agreement in the short financial year 2012. The sale of the MobileCom 
companies resulted in an inflow of funds to the Group in the previous year of 1.2 million euros. 

In the short financial year 2012 the Group sold shares in TPK Holding Co. Ltd. The sale of the first block in February 
2012 achieved proceeds of 237.1 million euros. Of these liquid funds, surplus financial funds have been invested until 
the end of October 2012 in bonded loans (168.0 million euros).The sale of the second block in June 2012 was 
recognised in full in the income statement in the short financial year, but did not result in an inflow of funds as the 
purchase price was received in July. 

Cash flow from financing activities 
The outflow of funds from financing activities totalled 76.9 million euros (financial year 2011: 8.5 million euros) and is in 
particular the result of the dividend payment of 76.6 million euros to the shareholders of Balda AG in May 2012. 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the short financial year 
The Group’s cash and cash equivalents as of 30 June 2012 totalled 17.8 million 
euros (31 December 2011: 35.9 million euros) and correspond to the liquid funds in 
the consolidated balance sheet. 
 
As a result of the sale of most of the shareholding in TPK Holding Co. Ltd., the 
Group has sufficient liquidity reserves for strategic investments. There is a 
continuous exchange of information with the banks with which there are business 
relations so that finance requirements can be covered or extended at short notice. 
As of the balance sheet date, unused credit lines totalled 0.3 million euros. 
 

6.3. Investments and depreciation 

Investments made in the Balda Group in the short financial year 2012 totalled 1.4 
million euros. They were primarily made in the Medical segment, in particular in 
relation to the expansion of machinery for new projects. 

In the Electronic Products and Central Services segments, however, there was no significant expenditure. Investments 
across the Group were at roughly the same level as scheduled depreciation (1.9 million euros). 
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7. Asset position 
 
7.1. Asset development 

The Balda Group reports as of 30 June 2012 a balance sheet total of 473.4 million 
euros. This represents a fall of 17.1 million euros compared to the figure at the end of 
2011 (490.5 million euros). 

Long-Term assets have fallen from 50.3 million euros to 27.7 million euros. Tangible 
assets have fallen by 2.2 million euros to 23.4 million euros due above all to the write-
down on machinery following the impairment test for the Electronic Products segment. 
This impairment test also resulted in the full write-down of goodwill (31 December 2011: 
6.9 million euros). 

According to the conditions of the purchase and loan agreement with the buyer of the 
Chinese companies of 2011, in February 2012 a loan of 3.3 million euros was due for 
payment. On the basis of a report prepared by a well-known audit company in June 
2012, the Board of Directors decided to terminate the loan agreement early. After 
agreeing on the early termination of the loan agreement with the buyer of the 
companies of the former MobileCom segment in July 2012 while partially foregoing the repayment amount, the loan 
granted by Balda needed to be written down to 4.5 million euros (value before write-down: 15.1 million euros). As the 
repayment of the agreed amount is expected to be made in the 2012 calendar year, the remaining amount of the loan 
needed to be reclassified under current assets. 

The Group’s current assets went up by in total 5.4 million euros from 440.2 million euros to 445.6 million euros. 

Inventories have risen by 3.8 million euros to 13.4 million euros due to customers delaying order call-offs. 

Other current assets rose significantly from 1.3 million euros to 389.5 million euros. These include money invested in 
bonded loans at banks (168 million euros), the one-off payment agreed as settlement with the buyer of the former 
MobileCom segment (4.5 million euros), receivables relating to the TPK Holding cash divided approved in May 2012 for 
2011 and issue of new shares (61.7 million euros) and receivables relating to the sale of shares in TPK Holding in at the 
end of June (153.7 million euros). 

The Group’s liquid funds available at short notice totalled 17.8 million euros as of 30 June 2012 following 35.9 million 
euros as of 31 December 2011. The sale of shares in TPK Holding in February 2012 resulted in an inflow of liquid funds 
to the Group of around 237 million euros. An outflow of funds resulted from the dividend payment made by Balda AG in 
May 2012 for the financial year 2011 (76.6 million euros) and the investment of 168 million euros in bonded loans which 
are reported under other current assets. 

The item “Assets classified as held for sale” includes the shareholding in TPK Holding Co. Ltd. The Group held a 16.1 % 
interest in TPK as of 31 December 2011. In the short financial year 2012, 15.3 % of the shares in TPK Holding Co. Ltd. 
were sold by way of block trades in February and June via the Taiwanese Stock Exchange (TWSE). Following the sale 
of the shares in TPK Holding Co. Ltd., the company held a 0.8 % interest as of the balance sheet date, equating to a fair 
value of 17.9 million euros. The remaining shares (bonus shares from 2011) were not sold as of 30 June 2012 as it is 
being examined whether any sale of the bonus shares in the short term might result in tax disadvantages. The Board of 
Directors will continue to try to sell the shares at the best price. The Group achieved proceeds totalling 392.3 million 
euros from the sales. The Group received 237.1 million euros from the proceeds of the first block sale in February 2012 
following the deduction of transaction fees. The net proceeds from the second block sale in June 2012 (153.7 million 
euros) are reported under other current assets and were received by the Group on 5 July 2012. 
 

7.2. Changes in equity 

The Balda group’s equity totalled 450.5 million euros as of the end of the short 
financial year. This represents a fall of 12.5 million euros compared to the figure at the 
end of December 2011 (463.0 million euros). The group equity ratio remained at 95.2 
% of the balance sheet total at around the same level as the reference date (94.4 %). 
Reserves fell by 186.7 million euros. In particular the reclassification of reserves 
following the sale of shares in TPK Holding resulted in a corresponding fall of 275.8 
million euros. The revaluation of the TPK shares at fair value during the course of the 
year has had a positive effect (upward revaluation of 80.2 million euros). For detailed 
regarding the adjustment to currency reserves and balance sheet profit, we refer to 
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the statement of changes in equity. The balance sheet net profit rose by 174.2 million euros. The high Group net profit 
(250.7 million euros) is to be seen alongside the dividend payment for the financial year 2011 made in May 2012 (76.6 
million euros).  

 

7.3. Liabilities development 

As the Balda Group’s finance is covered almost entirely by equity, the Group only reports a small level of liabilities. As of 
30 June 2012 there were hardly any bank liabilities. 

Long-term liabilities totalled 2.6 million euros (31 December 2011:1.1 million euros) and primarily consisted of deferred 
taxes. 

Current liabilities totalled 20.4 million euros, a fall of 1.9 million euros compared to 31 December 2011 (22.3 million 
euros). This is primarily attributable to the reversal of short-term provisions, the balance of which fell by 2.2 million euros 
to 0.6 million euros. The reversals related to provisions for the tax risks arising from the sale of the former MobileCom 
segment in 2011. 

 

7.4.  Capital structure 

The main objective of capital management is to ensure that the maturities in the Group’s capital structure are matched. 
As of the balance sheet date current liabilities (20.4 million euros) are covered completely by current assets (445.6 
million euros).The requirement of matching maturities is therefore met. 
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Section C: Non-financial performance indicators  
and other key factors for success 
 

1. Non-financial performance indicators 

For the long-term success of the Balda Group, in addition to defined financial performance indicators, non-financial 
performance indicators are also of importance. These are in particular its strengths and capabilities, the relevance of 
which derives from the business models of the respective Group segment. 

In the Balda Medical segment, in particular the following aspects are of relevance: 

Positioning as a reliable system partner: Product cycles in the medical technology market are between three and 20 
years. Balda Medical’s customers, well-known pharmaceutical companies, therefore require a secure and long-term 
supply of high-quality plastic products. A high degree of reliability with regard to product quality, delivery capability and 
on-time delivery are important factors in this respect in order to ensure customer satisfaction. For Balda Medical, its 
positioning as a strategic system partner that develops and realises customised solutions in close consultation with 
customers is important. Here a holistic understanding of the product, which takes into account all of the phases and 
aspects of a medical technology product, from the idea for a product to its withdrawal from the market, is essential. 

Plastics and process know-how: The requirements for plastics in the areas of diagnostics, medical technology and 
pharmaceuticals are much higher than those for ordinary plastics. These include for example the special qualities of the 
materials used with regard to friction, electrical conductivity, sealing and humidity protection. In addition to standard 
plastics, Balda Medical also uses more complex high-performance plastics which require special experience. The 
securing and development of this materials and process know-how among employees is a key factor if the company is 
to continue to meet the high demands placed on medical products with regard to safety and reliability. 

Technological innovation: The market for medical technology products is subject to fundamental change and as a 
result the continual development of plastic solutions is necessary. 

For example, modern drug dispensers which are used by the patients themselves dispense the right dose of substances 
with regard to number, time or quantity. New trends include the increasing monitoring of drug intake using digitalised 
solutions (“intelligent packaging”) which use acoustic or optical signals to help the patient. This results in the increasing 
integration of electronic components into plastic and metal products, raising the complexity of overall systems. The 
securing and development of technological competence beyond the core competence of plastic injection moulding is 
therefore a growing challenge for Balda Medical. As the complexity of the systems increases, so do the requirements 
placed on project management to ensure the quality standards required by customers and on-time delivery. 

In the Electronics Products segment in particular the following non-financial performance indicators are of relevance: 

Positioning in promising niche markets: The global market for electronic products, in particular for the consumer 
electronics and electronic communications segment, is subject to strong competitive pressure which is manifest not 
least of all in price. Sufficient margins can be generated in particular in promising niche markets away from commodity 
products, in which sufficient sales volumes can also be generated. With technologically more sophisticated products, in 
addition to a competitive price, criteria such as customised solutions and deliveries to customers on a call-off basis with 
consistent quality are important. For Balda Electronic Products to position itself in these markets, in future it needs to 
exploit its competitive advantage of being able to offer its customers complete processes from development to tool-
making, injection moulding, surface treatment and assembly from one source better than before. 
 
Product innovations and development of own patents: In order to differentiate itself in the competitive environment 
of consumer electronics and electronic communications, Balda Electronic Products needs to develop technological 
innovations and make them ready for the market. Balda therefore invests continually in its own development. Of 
particular importance here is the development of own patents for plastic-based components and systems which can be 
integrated into the products of Balda’s customers or can be marketed on their own. Innovations which are not based on 
the technology and design specifications of customers are intended to increase the value added, to generate higher 
margins and create new potential sales. 
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2. Environment management and health and safety 
 

General 
The protection of natural resources and the protection of employees are intertwined, integral parts of the Balda Group’s 
corporate policy. Balda acknowledges its social and environmental responsibility and therefore aims to continually 
improve environmental protection and health and safety in all areas of the business. In order to pursue this aim as 
efficiently as possible, all employees are actively involved in the segments’ improvement processes. 
 
The efficient and responsible use of resources and the reduction of emissions and immissions are key tasks for 
environmental protection in the Group. The systematic saving of energy, the prevention of waste material and the reuse 
of materials are at the heart of the Group’s environmental activities. 
 
Recycling and use of recyclable and residual materials 

Balda systematically recycles waste produced in the production process. The company systematically employs recycling 
particularly in plastic injection moulding processes. Non-reusable plastics are recycled thermally under conditions which 
minimise environmental pollution as far as possible. The environmental measures also include the environmentally-
friendly and conscious use of water. 
 
Strict protection regulations 

The Balda Group works with paints and dyes in its production processes. The use of these chemicals is subject to strict 
controls. These substances are used in accordance with the provisions of the EU’s “REACH” (Registration, Evaluation, 
Authorisation and Restriction of Chemicals) regulation. In the paint facilities at the production site in Ipoh, Malaysia, the 
Electronic Products segment mainly uses water-soluble paints. Balda ensures that highly flammable substances are 
stored in separate and secure storage facilities. The company ensures that emissions are low in odour and harmful 
substances by using state-of-the-art filtration systems which are monitored continually. 

Employees who work in these areas wear secure protective clothing. Particular attention is paid to the handling and 
careful storage of hazardous substances. Here priority is placed on risk prevention measures. Environmental pollution is 
considered as much of a dangerous risk as the risk of fire or explosion. 
 
Certified environment management systems 

The two operational segments, Medical and Electronic Products, have certified environment management systems. 
 
Balda Medical has implemented an integrated management system for health, safety and environment management 
(HSE) in accordance with the BS OHSAS 18001 and DIN EN 14001 standards. The objective of Balda Medical’s 
environmental policy is the efficient and environmentally-friendly use of resources and the reduction of emissions. The 
integrated management system ensures compliance with the respective environmental laws and legislation and a high 
degree of sustainability and safety for man and the environment. It was certified by TÜV Rheinland. 
 
The Electronic Products segment’s environment management system is based on the international environment 
protection standard ISO 14001, the OHSAS 18001 occupational health and safety management system which is 
recognised worldwide and the EU directive 2002/95/EC (Restriction of hazardous substances - RoHS). This European 
directive regulates for Balda as a developer and manufacturer of electronic products the use of hazardous substances in 
electronic components and electronic appliances. The segment has also been certified for plastic components by 
Underwriters Laboratories (UL), a global US-based safety testing company. Balda Electronic Products also meets the 
requirements of the international SA8000 standard, which defines working and social conditions for employees. 
 
Efficient energy management 

The Balda Group’s environmental programme includes strict specifications for the effective and economical use of energy 
for all of the Group’s sites. The optimisation of energy consumption - with the requirement of achieving noticeable 
reductions - contributes both to environmental protection and cost efficiency. 

Close involvement of customers and suppliers 
The Group’s customers have been integrating the system partner Balda into their environmental programmes for years. 
Balda regularly checks the environment management systems of its supply partners with its own audits and by requesting 
information from the suppliers. The Balda Group’s very high environmental standards also apply for its suppliers. 
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High operational safety standards 
Balda Medical enjoys the status of being an “Authorised Economic Operator” (AEO). The company is therefore 
considered to be particularly reliable and trustworthy and enjoys numerous benefits in international trade. The AEO-F 
certification is the highest version of the security and safety seal awarded by the customs authorities. It includes both 
the security-relevant conditions of the AEO-S (Security) status and the customs simplifications of the AEO-C (Customs) 
status. 
 
Responsibility of segment management 

The segment’s management is responsible for compliance with laws, regulations and measures that protect the 
environment and workers. They are personally responsible for monitoring and achieving the environmental targets that 
are set. They are also responsible for the continual review of the environmental measures practiced. Performance is 
measured based on the degree to which targets are achieved and on efficiency. The managing directors report directly to 
the Group’s Board of Directors. The effectiveness of measures is monitored by internal environment audits and the annual 
recording of key figures. The results form the basis for further improvements to the most important targets, programmes 
and measures. 

The local environmental officers report to the site’s management on the status of environment management based on 
an internal actual versus target comparison. The environmental officer is responsible for the communication with and 
training of employees in the Group’s production sites. 

In the short financial year 2012 several information events and training courses for the workforce on environmental and 
health and safety issues were held in the Balda Group. 

 
3. Research and development 
 
3.1. Medical segment 

The Balda Medical segment’s product development is primarily based on the technological and design-oriented 
requirements of its customers. Its services range from concept development to the construction of prototypes and 
functional models to the creation of marketable systems and their approval. Balda Medical can draw on many years of 
expertise and experience in research and development and use this in its discussions with customers in order to 
achieve optimised system solutions. 

The segment recorded several production launches for new products in the first half of 2012. These included in 
particular the newly developed “Clyk” tablet dispenser, which enables the very precise dispensing of tablets, for the 
pharmaceuticals market. It can be used for example in child therapy. Balda Medical has applied for a patent and to date 
development costs of 0.2 million euros have been capitalised. “Clyk” was nominated in April 2012 at Fleming Europe´s 
Pharma Packaging & Labelling Compliance Conference in Rome for a design award for its innovative packaging 
concept. 

In the short financial year there were also several production launches in the diagnostics segment. 

 

3.2. Electronic Products segment 
 

Balda Electronic Products' research and development is based strictly on its customer’s requirements. The focus 
remains on the technological optimisation of Balda products based on the specifications of its customers. In the short 
financial year 2012 the segment stepped up its efforts with its own innovative product designs to reduce its dependency 
on the technical and design-oriented specifications of customers and increase its own value added and in so doing 
create the basis for higher market prices and margins. Here it is important that the relevant patents are secured. This 
makes it possible for the development work to be used in other projects or the know-how that has been acquired to be 
offered to customers to improve their own products. 
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4. Personnel report 

The Balda Group employed a total of 1,273 people as of 30 June 2012. At the end of the financial year 2011 (31 
December 2011) it employed 1,178 people (including agency workers, temporary personnel and trainees; the 
employees of the MobileCom segment sold with effect of 1 December 2011 were not included in the figure for the 
previous year).This represents an increase of 95 people or 8.1 % which was mainly attributable to the increased use of 
temporary staff, particularly in the Electronic Products segment. 

 

 
 

4.1. Medical segment 

The Medical segment employed a total of 209 people at Bad Oeynhausen as of 30 June 2012 (including trainees), 11 or 
5 % less than on 31 December 2011 (220 people).181 were employed on a permanent basis (previous year: 188) and 
28 on a temporary basis (previous year: 29).The slight reduction in number follows a change in the sales situation due 
to customers delaying projects. 

In the short financial year 2012 Balda Medical continued to train its employees based on an assessment of needs with 
seminars on state-of-the-art technology and environmental protection and health and safety issues. 

 

4.2. Electronic Products segment 

The Electronic Products segment employed 1,053 people as of the end of June 2012 (previous year: 942 people).The 
increase of 111 or 11.8 % was primarily due to the increased use of agency workers. This was necessary in the first few 
months of the year so that production could reduce as quickly as possible the high number of orders which were 
acquired in 2011 and did not cover costs. Temporary workers were used in particular in production, but also in sales and 
administration, whereby the greatest use was in March and April. As of 30 June 2012 the segment employed 513 
people on a permanent basis (31 December 2011: 496 people) and 540 people on a temporary basis (31 December 
2011: 446 people). 

Balda continues to employ a large number of highly qualified people in technical positions at its site in Ipoh, Malaysia, 
with a total of 85 engineers as of the balance sheet date (31 December 2011: 79). This represents a high share for this 
occupational group in a production company. 

 

4.3. Central Services segment 

The Central Services segment includes the employees of Balda AG which is based in Bad Oeynhausen and acts as the 
holding company, the intermediate holding company in Amsterdam and Balda USA. The activities of Balda Solutions 
USA, Inc. were discontinued in the period under review and as a result this Group company no longer had any 
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employees as of 30 June 2012.The holding functions of Balda AG have been streamlined and adjusted to the reduced 
size of the company following the sale of the MobileCom segment in 2011. As of the end of June the Central Services 
segment therefore employed 11 people (31 December 2011: 16 people). 

 

4.4. Personnel expenses 

The Balda Group’s personnel expenses totalled 10.0 million euros in the short 
financial year 2012 (financial year 2011: 18.3 million euros). Measured against the 
Group’s total operating performance, the personnel expenses ratio was 31.4 %, 5.6 
percentage points up on the 2011 calendar year (25.8%). 

 

4.5. Expenses for further education  
and training 

The acquisition, securing and transfer of know-how of all employees are essential for 
the success of the Balda Group. Accordingly, the Balda Group actively invests in 
personnel development with a number of training courses and seminars and 
encourages the workforce to be proactive and suggest their own ideas to improve 
products and processes. 

Training courses are held in the Group based on a systematic, specific needs assessment, for example to encourage 
the personal development of individual employees, to induct new employees or introduce new technologies. 

The Group spent a total of 0.1 million euros on the further education and training of its employees in the short financial 
year 2012 (financial year 2011: 0.2 million euros). 

 

5. Corporate governance report 

 
Good corporate governance is important to gain, consolidate and increase the trust of shareholders, lenders of capital, 
employees, business partners and the general public in the company. 
 
 
5.1. Corporate governance declaration 

 
The commitment to an open and responsible corporate governance and control which are geared towards the 
sustainable creation of value is a firm part of the Group’s corporate governance. In addition to compliance with the legal 
requirements, the corporate governance is characterised by a high degree of personal responsibility for each and every 
employee. Compliance with transparency criteria and the avoidance of conflicts of interest take priority as key elements 
of good corporate governance. 
 
 
 
5.1.1. Declaration of compliance  

(in accordance with § 161 of the AktG) 
 
The Board of Directors and Supervisory Board of public limited companies (Aktiengesellschaften) listed on the stock 
exchange must declare at least once a year in accordance with § 161 paragraph 1 clause 1 of German Stock 
Corporation Act (AktG) whether the company has complied with and will comply with the recommendations of the 
German Corporate Governance Code (DCGK) published by the Federal Ministry of Justice. If the company has not 
complied with a recommendation, or if it will not comply with a recommendation, the Board of Directors and Supervisory 
Board must announce this, giving its reasons, in its annual declaration of compliance. 
 
The Board of Directors and Supervisory Board Balda AG last provided a declaration of compliance with the German 
Corporate Governance Code in accordance with § 161 of the AktG in March 2012.This can be downloaded from the 
company’s website at http://www.balda.de/investor-relations/publications/corporate-governance.php. 
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5.1.2. Information on corporate governance practices 
 
Balda AG and its executive bodies comply in their actions with the legal regulations, the company’s articles of 
association and the recommendations of the German Corporate Governance Code, unless a justified deviation has 
been declared in the declaration of compliance published on Balda AG’s website. No other external codes or body of 
rules which go beyond the legal requirements are applied in the Balda Group. The current full declaration on corporate 
governance can be downloaded from Balda’s website under http://www.balda.de/investor-
relations/publications/corporate-governance.php. 
 
 
5.1.3. Cooperation between the Board of Directors  

and the Supervisory Board 
 
The Board of Directors informs the Supervisory Board regularly, in most cases several times a month, both verbally and 
in writing of the position of the company and individual business transactions, particularly regarding the development of 
the business situation and financial position, the situation and developments in the market and the direction of the 
company. Significant business transactions are discussed in detail in the Supervisory Board based on submissions and 
presentations by the Board of Directors. The Chairman of the Supervisory Board is regularly informed face to face and 
over the phone about all of the significant issues by the Board of Directors. At the invitation of the Supervisory Board, 
the Board of Directors attend part of the Supervisory Board meeting. 
 
The responsible handling of business risks is one of the legal obligations and principles of good corporate governance. 
The Board of Directors of Balda AG and management in the Balda Group have at their disposal extensive Group-wide 
and company-specific reporting and control systems. They allow risks to be recorded, assessed and controlled. The 
systems are developed continually, adapted to changing conditions and examined by the auditors. The Board of 
Directors informs the Supervisory Board regularly about current risks and their development. The Chairman of the 
Supervisory Board is particularly concerned with the monitoring of the accounting process, including the reporting, 
effectiveness of the internal control system, the risk management, the internal audit system, compliance and the audit of 
financial statements. 
 
Details on risk management in the Balda Group and the accounting-related internal control and risk management 
system can be found in the Group risk report (Section E of the Group management report). 
 

5.2. Remuneration report 

 

5.2.1.  Remuneration report for the Board of Directors 

The composition of the Board of Directors of Balda AG changed during the year under review. The sole board member 
Rainer Mohr resigned from office with effect of 1 January 2012. On 29 December 2011 the Supervisory Board appointed 
Mr. Dominik Müser as the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer/CFO and Mr. James Lim as Chief 
Operations Officer/COO. 

The remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors in 2012 was composed as below (remuneration report – 
Code Article 4.2.5): 

The remuneration of members of the Board of Directors included monetary remuneration components that typically 
consisted of fixed and variable components (Code Section 4.2.3) and fringe benefits. The fixed remuneration includes 
the monthly salary payments and severance payments, to the extent that these were paid in the period under review. 
The fringe benefits include among other things the costs for use of a company car or compensation for non-use of a 
company car, allowances and contributions for health insurance and pension and costs for accident insurance. No other 
contractually guaranteed pension commitments were made. The members of the Board of Directors received no 
payments or benefits from third parties that were promised with regard to their Board activities or granted in the short 
financial year 2012 (Code Article 4.2.3). 

The variable remuneration of the Board of Directors includes components that are linked to the commercial and 
economic success of the company (performance-related remuneration). As a result of the temporary nature of 
employment contracts within the Board of Directors and the primarily short-term objectives, there is no additional 
remuneration component with long-term incentives for the short financial year 2012 and the following financial year. 



 

 38 

Annual Report 2012 

The components linked to the company’s commercial success are due to the Board of Directors if the agreed targets are 
achieved and defined projects and measures are completed successfully. The Supervisory Board may in this respect 
use its discretion to grant the Board of Directors a bonus taking into account its performance. 

The level of remuneration in the contract of the Chief Executive Officer Dominik Müser was adjusted with effect of 1 
June 2012 (when it was extended to 30 June 2014) in line with the new requirements with regard to increased and 
continual board activity. 

The members of the Board of Directors received the following remuneration for the short financial year 2012: 

 

2012 (in euros) 

 

Fixed  
remuneration 

Performance-related 
remuneration 

Fringe  
benefits 

Total 

R. Mohr ² 0 0 0 0 

D. Müser 150,000.00 175,000.00 6,446.72 331,446.72 

J. Lim 90,458.98 0 24,557.60 115,016.58 

Total: 240,458.98 175,000.00 31,004.32 446,463.30 

     

2011 (in euros) 

 

Fixed remuneration  
and gratuities 

Performance-related 
remuneration 

Fringe  
benefits Total 

M. Sienkiewicz ¹ 51,647.53 0 10,573.55 62,221.08 

R. Mohr ² 687,754.20 250,000.00 3,923.57 941,677.77 

D. Müser ³ 0 0 0 0 

J. Lim ³ 0 0 0 0 

Total: 739,401.73 250,000.00 14,497.12 1,003,898.85 

 

¹  Member until 16.02.2011 
²  Member until 1.1.2012 
³ Member from 29.12.2011 

 

The fixed remuneration of Rainer Mohr includes a severance payment of 350,000 euros for his early exit. It includes the 
entitlements until the original end of the contract (31 December 2012). 

 

5.2.2. Remuneration of the Supervisory Board 

The remuneration of the Supervisory Board is set by the shareholders of Balda AG. It includes in accordance with the 
resolution passed by the Annual General Meeting on 27 May 2011 with effect of 1 June 2011, apart from attendance 
fees, only fixed remuneration components. 

In the year under review, the company did not issue any consulting and placement mandates to the members of the 
Supervisory Board during their term of office. Balda did not pay out any other form of remuneration (Code Article 5.4.4). 
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The members of the Supervisory Board received the following remuneration for the short financial year 2012: 

 

2012 (in euros) Fixed remuneration Attendance fees Total remuneration 

Dr. Michael Naschke 25,000 6,000 31,000 

Yu-Sheng Kai 12,500 4,500 17,000 

Chun-Chen Chen 18,750 4,500 23,250 

Total: 56,250 15,000 71,250 

 

2011 (in euros) Fixed remuneration Attendance fees Total remuneration 

Dr. Michael Naschke 39,583 24,000 63,583 

Mark Littlefield 11,143 7,500 18,643 

Dino Kitzinger 7,497 9,000 16,497 

Thomas J. Leonard 7,497 7,500 14,997 

Yu-Sheng Kai 19,792 22,500 42,292 

Chun-Chen Chen 26,042 22,500 48,542 

Total: 111,554 93,000 204,554 

 

5.3. Annual document  

(in accordance with § 10 of the German Securities Prospectus Act, WpPG) 

In accordance with § 10 of the German Securities Prospectus Act (WpPG), companies whose securities are registered 
for trade in an organised market must make available to the public at least once a year a document which includes all of 
the information or refers to all of the information which the company has published in the previous twelve months in 
accordance with the German Securities Trading Act (WpHG), the German Securities Prospectus Act (WpPG) and the 
German Stock Exchange Act (BörsenG). Balda AG’s current “annual document” is published on the company’s website 
and can be downloaded. 
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Section D:  Supplementary Report 

 

Early termination of the loan relationship with Ample Gain 
On 25 July 2012 Balda came to an agreement with Ample Gain Enterprise, the buyer of the MobileCom segment sold in 
2011, concerning the loan granted at the time of the sale. After the buyer had surprisingly informed Balda of difficulties 
with the repayment of a credit line in June and of the negative economic developments with the companies it had taken 
over, Balda instructed a well-known audit company in the same month to prepare a report assessing the financial 
situation at the Chinese production companies. 

The report confirmed that the financial situation of the former Balda companies had deteriorated. Based on the 
conclusions of the report, the Board of Directors decided to terminate the loan relationship early. 

The agreement reached with the buyer includes a one-off payment of around 4.5 million euros by the buyer and both 
parties foregoing all existing rights and obligations. The financial impact of the agreement has already been considered 
in full in the consolidated financial statements as of 30 June 2012, the sale of the former segment will therefore have no 
further impact. 

Furthermore, an improvement clause was negotiated. If the sold companies generate profits in future, Balda will share 
until 30 June 2014 in 50% of the profits, up to a maximum of 14.4 million euros (currency translation as of the balance 
sheet date). 
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Section E: Risk Report 

 

1. Risk management in the Balda Group 

 

The Group has an effective, tried-and-tested risk management system which continued to be developed and optimised 
in the past financial year. The transparent treatment of individual risks enables appropriate control of the risk situation. 

The Balda Group, like any other commercial company, faces various internal and external risks. The task of taking 
advantage of commercial opportunities while managing the risks associated with them is the main priority for Balda's 
management. The Group’s risk management department systematically identifies, assesses and tracks the 
development of relevant risks. The key elements for the risk management system are the planning processes, 
controlling, the internal Group regulations and the Group reporting. 

As an international company the Balda Group is exposed to various risk areas. Actions and failure to act can threaten 
the company's success or its existence. There are currently no indications of risks, including in conjunction with other 
risks, which may threaten the continued existence of the Balda Group. 

The principles of the Balda Group's risk management are documented in a manual. The company has appointed risk 
managers and persons responsible at management level in the Group companies in order to ensure an efficient risk 
management system. In regular business development meetings, both centrally between the Board of Directors and the 
segment’s management and decentrally within the division, the risks which are qualitatively and quantitavely assessed 
in the strategies of the segments are updated and goals and control measures are agreed. 

The Board of Directors has established measures for the early identification, monitoring and control of risks and 
consolidated these in a risk management system. In order to identify operational risks at an early stage, the company 
carries out regular deviation and trend analyses and project reviews. The emphasis here is on continual monitoring of 
the relevant sales markets and trends and close coordination with customers on future order volumes. If the early 
warning indicators and evaluated results reveal negative trends, the management of the operational segments and the 
Board of Directors immediately introduce measures to counteract these. The identification, knowledge of progress, 
monitoring and possible control of risks is a high priority for the Board of Directors. 

The Balda Group’s principle of decentralised management is also entrenched in the risk management system with the 
companies and managers in the Group's segments being actively involved in the tracking and assessing of relevant 
risks. As part of the planning, control and reporting process in the Balda Group, monthly reports by segment are 
presented to the Board of Directors of the holding company. The Board of Directors promptly forward information about 
significant risks to the Supervisory Board. If necessary, early discussions take place between the Board of Directors and 
the Supervisory Board. The reports of the segments are consolidated in the holding company and examined for 
deviations from the budget and previous assessments. Also included are the outlooks for customers and the trends in 
the markets relevant for Balda. The probability of risks occurring and the chances of them being influenced by suitable 
measures are also an aspect of the reporting. After the risks have been assessed, the Board of Directors is responsible 
for decisions to reduce and prevent relevant risks. 

The Balda Group takes out insurance giving consideration to economic aspects in order to minimise the financial 
consequences of a possible loss. The Board of Directors reviews the scope and amount of this insurance regularly. 

 

2. Risks 
 

Risks which are significant for the Group are described in the following chapters. The order does not take into account 
the probability of occurrence or the potential loss. 
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2.1.   General risks 

With the sale of the MobileCom segment in 2011, the Balda Group reached a critical size. With sales of around 70 
million euros and negative operating earnings in recent financial years, growth in business volume is required to justify 
the costs of the listing on the stock exchange. 

Taking into account this fundamental risk, the Board of Directors defined with the approval of the Supervisory Board the 
future strategic alignment of the Balda Group and presented the main elements of this to the shareholders at the Annual 
General Meeting on 11 May 2012.The realignment envisages, through organic growth in both operational segments and 
acquisitions to expand the Medical segment, an increase in consolidated sales in the medium term to between 150 and 
200 million euros. The appropriate measures, for example the identification of target companies as part of the M&A 
process, were taken in the short financial year 2012. 

 

2.2. Environment and sector risks 
 

2.2.1. General economic opportunities and risks 
A negative development in general economic conditions may result in risks for the Balda Group as an international 
company. 

In general the global economy experienced a downturn in the first half of 2012. In particular the unresolved and 
worsening national debt crisis in some major countries of the eurozone and the slowdown in growth in emerging 
countries such as China have resulted in scepticism with regard to the global economy’s growth prospects for 2012 and 
2013. A worsening of the national debt crisis in Europe and the associated further uncertainty in capital and financial 
markets and among businesses and consumers might have a negative impact on the global economy and the demand 
for products produced by the Balda Group. 

 

2.2.2. Sales risks 

Balda constantly monitors economic developments in individual countries and trade flows in order to minimise sales 
risks. When necessary the Group reacts by adjusting its production capacity. An adverse economic development might 
reduce demand from private households and business, industry and trade for mobile phones and electronic products 
and as a result Balda’s sales. However, it should be considered that the Medical segment has long-term agreements 
with customers and is less susceptible to economic fluctuations than the Electronic Products segment. 

The international presence of the Balda Group in various business areas lessens the risks to the Group from regional 
influences. The increasingly differentiated product and customer structure of the two business segments also restricts 
sales risks to submarkets. 

 

2.2.3. Standard rate of exchange 

In particular changes in the euro’s standard rate of exchange with the US dollar and Malaysian ringgit represent a risk. 
The Group's sales invoiced in foreign currencies could diminish when converted into euros if the foreign currency 
weakens. This would result in a fall in sales for the Balda Group. 

Risks might also arise if the standard rate of exchange between the Taiwanese dollar and the euro changed regarding 
the remaining shareholding in TPK Holding Co. Ltd. 

This risk has been greatly reduced by the significant reduction in this shareholding in the short financial year 2012. 

Rising global inflation due to the increased amount of money in circulation also represents a risk for Balda. This might 
make materials, and in particular bought-in electronics parts and plastics, more expensive. If Balda were unable to pass 
on higher prices to its customers, margins would fall. 
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2.2.4. Political risks 

Global companies are constantly exposed to risk factors relating to political and economic policy developments. The 
high national debt of many countries, in particular European countries and the USA, might result in a rise in taxes and 
as a consequence less investment and consumer spending. This might have a negative impact on the Balda Group’s 
sales. 

Political conflicts and unrest, for example in Afghanistan, the Middle East and since 2011 the Arabic states of North 
Africa, are tending to result in a rise in the price of oil and other raw materials. They put a strain on stock exchanges 
across the world, make it more difficult to acquire capital and have a negative impact on consumption. 

Furthermore, higher wages, incidental wage costs and taxes, as well as restrictive national laws, for example in the area 
of environment, could take effect at the Balda Group’s production locations. The resulting risks to costs would also apply 
to the Group’s competitors, though, provided they produce in the same regions. 

 

2.2.5. Market risks 

As an international Group, Balda is dependent on the development of the individual sales markets. The company 
counters market risks with among other things intensive customer contact and market research. In addition to external 
measures, Balda reacts to sales risks with a flexible production capacity. 

A key risk is represented by the general market acceptance of those products for which Balda supplies components and 
assemblies. As a supply company, Balda itself has little influence on the success of the products launched in the sales 
markets such as the medical technology market. The company is completely reliant on the expertise of its customers 
here. 

 

2.2.6. Competitive risks in the sector 

The market for suppliers and system partners in the medical technology and electronic communications sectors is likely 
to remain intensely competitive in 2012 and 2013.Worldwide overcapacity is putting pressure particularly on prices in 
the Electronic Products segment. 

The resulting risks have an effect not only on the number of orders placed but also on the sales and margins of the 
Balda Group. The company is reacting to this trend in its strategic realignment by positioning itself in technologically 
sophisticated niche markets in which good prices and sufficient sales volumes can be generated. 

 

2.3. Corporate strategy risks 
 

2.3.1. Further diversification in the Electronic Products segment 

In the Electronic Products segment, management and the R&D department continue to develop the product range in a 
selective and targeted manner. The aim is to position the segment in promising niche markets where sufficient volumes 
can be generated with technologically sophisticated and accordingly higher-margin products. The development of new 
markets and the associated acquisition of new customers always contain risks. Each diversification of the product range 
is associated with risks, for example with regard to market demand. 

 

2.3.2. Risks relating to foreign activities 

The collaboration between the two major Group locations in Bad Oeynhausen/Germany and Ipoh/Malaysia involves 
risks due to possible differences in individual interests, different goals and the legal framework. Balda's holding 
company maintains open and intensive dialogue with its subsidiaries. The Group limits risks relating to its foreign 
commitments by using international legal advisors and lawyers who specialise in international contract law. Regular 
strategy meetings also help to ensure that the locations act in line with the Group strategy specified by the Board of 
Directors. 
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2.3.3. Technology risks 

Uncalculated cost increases in production and development could represent a risk. This risk is reduced by being 
involved at an early stage in customers’ development processes. It therefore knows its customers’ requirements at an 
early stage. The Group is also cooperating in development with external partners. As a result the Group can better 
assess technological developments and minimise the resultant risks. 

 

2.4. Operating risks 
 

2.4.1.  Customer risks 

Balda’s success as a supplier essentially depends on the market success of its customers’ products. 

The market success of customers determines the volume of order call-offs and therefore the number of system units to 
be produced by Balda. The growing complexity of products and rising customer requirements increase the default risk of 
major customers. The possible non-acceptance of new end products sold by Balda's customers and possible losses of 
market shares by these customers can have a direct impact on Balda's order and sales volumes. 

In the Medical segment sales are spread across a comparatively small number of customers. This concentration should 
be reduced significantly in the next few years by the widening of the customer base as part of the growth strategy 
defined for Balda Medical. 

In short the financial year 2012, 3 customers each accounted for more than 10 % of the total sales. Basically, the loss of 
one or more major customers could have a significant impact on the development of the Medical segment and the Balda 
Group. 

 

2.4.2. Supplier and procurement risks 

The major global manufacturers in the area of consumer electronics largely determine from which producers their 
suppliers procure the raw materials and components they require. This is the case for example with plastic granules and 
paint. If there are supply difficulties with one of these suppliers, the Balda Group typically does not have a liability 
obligation towards the manufacturer. However, there is a risk of lost sales in the event of such supply difficulties, as was 
the case following the earthquake disaster in Japan in 2011. In such cases Balda can propose alternative suppliers. For 
critical assemblies there are in most cases two sources of supply. Balda carefully audits its suppliers concerning the 
quality of the products supplied and on-time delivery. 

The two operational Group segments are responsible for controlling the supplier and procurement risks. Relevant 
developments are included in the Group risk report. 

 

2.4.3. Capacity utilisation risks 

The consumer electronics market is susceptible to fluctuations in project cycles. Balda's customers expect large 
quantities to be delivered within a very short lead time without guaranteed purchase quantities. 

The provision of production capacity and qualified staff is capital intensive and results in a risk. The Balda Group 
therefore employs temporary workers in peak periods so that fluctuations in demand can be controlled by this worker 
flexibility and risks of lost production can be reduced. Balda also counters this risk by planning as precisely as possible 
and adjusting capacity in close consultation with the customer, taking into account general market developments. 

 

 

 



 

 45 

Annual Report 2012 

2.4.4. Personnel risks 

Committed and competent employees and managers are a key factor for Balda's success. The Balda Group has a 
constant requirement for international experts and managers with technical and sector-specific know-how. There is a 
risk that specialist experts and managers in key positions will leave the company. International managers and well-
educated specialist experts are sought across sectors and to some extent across countries. The Balda Group therefore 
faces increasingly intense competition in the recruitment of suitable personnel. Balda counters this risk with specific 
personnel policy measures and positions itself as an attractive local and at the same time international employer. 

 

2.5. Financial risks 

In addition to the comments on the financial risks below, we also refer to the explanatory disclosures in the Notes (5.ab.-
ac.). 

 

2.5.1. Capital market and financing risks 

The Balda Group invests the liquid funds that are not required for operational purposes in short-term fixed deposits. The 
Group only chooses secure investments which are covered by a deposit guarantee fund. Negative developments in 
financial markets may result in a downgrading in the credit rating of issuers. Balda tries to counter this risk by continually 
monitoring market developments and with flexibly callable investments. 

There are currently no identifiable risks relating to financing and capital procurement due to the Balda Group’s high 
equity base. 

The risk of a deterioration in the Group’s asset position due to fluctuations in the price of the TPK Holding share was 
reduced significantly in the short financial year 2012 by the sale of almost all of the shareholding (see also chapter 
2.2.3.). 

 

2.5.2. Foreign currency risks 

As a Group with a global presence, the Balda Group is also exposed to currency risks. The holding company and the 
controlling departments of the regions constantly monitor relevant market developments. The risks are limited by 
consolidating the payment flows in foreign currencies. The Group also hedges itself with forward exchange transactions 
relating to underlying transactions. These transactions relate to existing incoming or outgoing invoices. These hedges 
primarily concern the US dollar and currently only occur in Malaysia. The current forward exchange transactions are of 
minor importance for the Group and do not represent a significant risk. On the other hand there is the subsequent risk of 
not being able to make use of a positive currency development for the Balda Group. 

 

2.5.3. Legal risks 

Legal risks may result from the many regulations and laws which concern the company. In order to prevent possible 
risks, the decisions and transactions of Balda AG are based on extensive international legal advice. 

A shareholder has brought an action for the annulment of resolutions passed by the Annual General Meeting of 8 
February 2012 and an action for the annulment of resolutions passed by the Annual General Meeting of 11 May 
2012.The legal actions are still pending. However, the company rates the chances of success for the two actions as 
very low. 

There were no further significant legal disputes or litigation risks as of the end of the financial year 30 June 2012. 
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2.5.4. Risks relating to the holding structure 

Balda overcomes the differences between national legal systems in the Group regions with international legal advisors. 
For key procedures relevant to the company, Balda employs its own in-house lawyers in Europe and Asia. External 
specialists support them if necessary. 

 

2.5.5. Liability risks 

The Group covers risks relating to product liability or product recall campaigns with insurance. 

 

2.5.6. Bad debt risks 

The level of outstanding debts is monitored regularly by the respective units. The risk of potential bad debts is taken into 
account by taking out appropriate insurance. 

A uniform reminder system has also been installed in the Group’s respective units. 

 

2.6. Other risks 

 

2.6.1. Environmental risks 

The Balda Group minimises environmental risks with quality assurance and environmental protection measures. 
Comprehensive production and environmental protection measures ensure that the company produces the products as 
environmentally-friendly as possible and complies with environmental regulations. 

All of the operational companies in the Balda Group have a certified environmental management system in accordance 
with DIN EN ISO 14001.There were no significant environmental risks as of 30 June 2012. 

 

2.6.2. Tax risks 

In 2012 a routine tax audit of Balda Investments Singapore Pte. Ltd. in Singapore for 2006 to 2011 will take place. This 
represents a risk to the Group due to the possibility of additional tax payments. Any risks that have already been 
identified in the current audit have been assessed and considered in the financial statements. 

Tax risks may arise due to the international integration and structure of the Group with regard to dividend payments for 
example. Balda seeks the advice of renowned tax consultants in all relevant tax matters in order to minimise the tax 
risks. Where possible, important issues are discussed beforehand with the tax authorities before an audit commences. 
Nevertheless, the final tax assessment is the responsibility of the respective local tax authorities. 

 

2.6.3. IT risks 

Technical breakdowns or unauthorised internal and external access to IT systems can create risks. Security systems 
and firewalls protect the Group's IT systems from being accessed by unauthorised third parties. The compatability of 
systems in the Balda Group is ensured by the implementation of a standard ERP system throughout almost the entire 
Group. The risk of failure is reduced by the server structures being located at different sites. Responsibility for the 
management of information technology lies almost exclusively in the Group's segments. 
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2.7. Overall risk 

Balda has taken sufficient precautions against normal business risks which might have a negative impact on the 
development of the Balda Group. As of the end of the year under review there were no identifiable risks for the Balda 
AG and the Balda Group which might represent a threat to their existence. 

 

3. Accounting-related internal control system (ICS) 

The Group’s internal risk and control management system (control system) is designed to ensure that the accounting 
process complies with the regulations. All business transactions are recorded in the accounts in full and in a timely 
manner in accordance with IFRS standards. The structures and processes are defined to ensure that the financial 
reporting complies with all of the relevant laws, regulations and standards. 
 
 
Interaction of systems 

The two systems complement each other. On the one hand flaws in the control system can be detected by identifying 
new risks. Additional controls can eliminate these shortcomings. On the other hand, monitoring of the control system 
might result in the conclusion that certain risks require more effective control. 
 
Balda has established a standard process for the Group to monitor the effectiveness of the control system. It defines 
necessary controls, uniform standards for documentation and ensures regular tests are carried out. 
 
The responsibility for the setting up and effective maintenance of appropriate controls for financial reporting lies with the 
Board of Directors of Balda AG. The Supervisory Board assesses at the close of every financial year the 
appropriateness and effectiveness of the control system. For the short financial year 2012 the Supervisory Board of 
Balda AG has conclusively assessed and verified the effectiveness of the internal controls for financial reporting. Every 
control system is limited though with regard to its effectiveness. No control system is able to eliminate or reveal all 
incorrect information. 
 
 
Structures, processes and control 

The Group Finance division of Balda AG, together with the Accounting and Controlling departments, manages the 
Group's accounting processes. Standard guidelines apply throughout the Group for accounting, bookkeeping and 
controlling. 
 
They are laid out in the Group’s Accounting Manual. The Group also has a standard chart of accounts. The Group’s 
Accounting department continually analyses new laws, the applicable IFRS accounting standards and other 
announcements with regard to their relevance for and impact on the consolidated financial statements and management 
report. Relevant requirements are included in the guidelines for Group accounting. These rules are communicated 
promptly to the Group’s segments. They form in conjunction with the Balda AG financial statements calendar which is 
applicable throughout the Group the basis for the process of preparing the consolidated financial statements. 
 
At Balda supplementary procedure instructions, standardised reporting formats and an identical Group-wide IT system 
and IT-assisted reporting and consolidation processes support the process of standard accounting in compliance with 
regulations in the Group. Accounting data that is received or forwarded is constantly checked for completeness and 
accuracy, by for example random checks. 
 
The reporting in the Group is based on the standard Group-wide ERP system. The consolidated financial statements 
are prepared based on the financial statement information reported by the Group companies. They are based on the 
transactions posted in the Group companies. The units supply Balda AG's Group Controlling department with fixed 
reports on a monthly basis. The reports are based on a standard chart of accounts. The reports contain pre-
programmed plausibility checks. Appropriate processes also ensure the Group-wide and standard implementation of 
reporting requirements. 
 
Besides enquires with the persons responsible for accounting and bookkeeping in the operational units, in particular 
plausibility checks and analyses in the form of period and time series comparisons as well as analyses of individual 
items in the income statement are used. The holding company's Controlling department discusses differences with the 
responsible unit located in the segments. Local accounts departments are responsible for the proper bookkeeping and 
accounting of the operational companies. The causes of any validation message or warning are to be corrected by the 
supplying units before final approval of the financial statement information. 
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The Group Controlling department aggregates the figures by segment and prepares them for the key decision maker, 
the Board of Directors. In particular, these comprise the key performance indicators of sales, total operating 
performance, EBIT and EBT, investments and headcount. The Board of Directors reports to the Supervisory Board on a 
monthly basis. 
 
Aggregated Group reporting is also conducted on a quarterly basis with the income statement, balance sheet, 
investments, segment assets and cash flow. 
 
The employees who are involved in the accounting process of the Balda Group are suitable in terms of professional 
expertise and undergo training on a regular basis. The Group companies in the segments are responsible for 
compliance with the guidelines and procedures that are applicable across the entire Group and for the proper and timely 
processing of their accounting processes and systems. The local companies are supported throughout the accounting 
process by central contact persons in the holding company. 
 
Internal controls that have been determined in terms of risk considerations are built into the accounting process of the 
Balda Group. Balda's control system includes preventive and detection control elements. They comprise a systematic 
separation of functions and IT-based and manual coordination. Furthermore, Balda's ICS works in accordance with the 
four-eyes principle and with general IT controls. The financial systems used are protected by appropriate IT measures 
against unauthorised access. An internal access authorisation system and constant monitoring of this system ensure 
that no unauthorised access can be made. 
 
The departments involved in the accounting process are suitably staffed in terms of both quantity and quality. In the 
event of any shortages, qualified external consultants are used. The four-eyes principle is applied in all accounting 
processes. 
 
The clear demarcation of responsibility ensures that business transactions are recorded, processed and documented in 
accordance with legal regulations, the articles of association and internal guidelines and posted in a timely manner and 
correctly in the accounts. At the same time it is ensured that assets and liabilities are assessed, reported and valued 
correctly and that reliable and relevant information is provided in full and in a timely manner. 
 
 
Budget deviations 

A key parameter for Controlling is the comparison against budget data. In the event of significant budget deviations, 
using trend analyses the Board of Directors of Balda AG immediately initiates control measures. 
 
The internal control system for the accounting process, the key features of which have been explained above, ensures 
that business transactions are always recorded, processed and evaluated correctly and included in the accounts. 
 
 
The involvement of the Supervisory Board 

In particular the Supervisory Board's elected representative for accounting, Dr. Michael Naschke, is involved in the 
control system. First of all he monitors the accounting process, the effectiveness of the control system and the internal 
audit system as well as the audit of financial statements. He is also responsible for the preliminary examination of 
documents for the consolidated financial statements. He and the rest of the Supervisory Board also discuss the 
consolidated financial statements and the management report with the Board of Directors and the auditor. 
 
 
Internal auditing system 

The Balda Group's Audit department is responsible as a further element of the control system for compliance with the 
guidelines, the independent examination of the effectiveness of and the quality assurance of the control system. The 
company delegates the audit activities to external consultants. The planning and checking performed by Audit includes 
the consideration of risks in the consolidated financial statements and in the accounting process. The external auditors 
are given extensive information, examination and access rights in order to perform their duties. 
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Section F: Opportunities and Forecast Report 
 

1.  General economic environment 

At the start of the second half of 2012, risk factors for the further development of the global economy have increased. 
The International Monetary Fund (IMF) warned in its study “World Economic Outlook” in mid-July that there would be 
further political reforms to counteract the European national debt crisis, the US budget deficit and the slowdown in 
growth in major emerging countries. The IMF revised its growth forecast for the global economy down slightly to 3.5 % 
for 2012 and 3.9 % for 2013. 
 
However, the IMF is expecting economic output to fall in the eurozone by 0.3 % in 2012, followed by a slight rise of 0.7 
% in the coming year. In particular the countries especially affected by the national debt crisis such as Greece, Spain 
and Italy will, based on this forecast, slip into recession. 
 
The German economy will, according to the consensus of forecasts by economists, continue to perform much better 
than the eurozone as a whole. However, at the start of the second half-year there were growing signs that in particular 
the euro crisis will have an increasing impact on the German economy. The important Business Climax Index of the 
Munich-based Ifo Institute fell in July 2012 for the third month in a row. Important export-oriented sectors such as 
engineering and the steel and chemicals industry reported that business went down. However, despite the increasing 
number of warning signs, the Federal Government continues to state that the German economy has structurally high 
growth potential and resilience. According to its July forecast, the IMF is expecting Germany's economic output to rise 
by 1.0 % in 2012 and 1.4 % next year. 

 

2. Sector development 
 
2.1. Medical 

The long-term economic outlook for the global medical market is generally considered to be positive. The underlying 
trends such as global population growth, improved access for many people in developing and emerging countries to 
medical care, the growing number of patients treating themselves (self-medication) and rising life expectancies are the 
drivers of growth for manufacturers of high-tech medical technology products. 

The good outlook is being affected in the German market, at least temporarily, by the radical cost-cutting measures in 
the health sector, which are exacerbating the investment backlog that exists particularly in the in-patient sector. The 
industry association Spectaris is therefore expecting growth to slow down in 2012 in Germany compared to the previous 
year. 

In global terms, the fall in growth in the developed countries will be compensated for by the much stronger growth in the 
emerging countries. Global growth forecasts for the pharmaceutical, diagnostics and medical technology markets 
fluctuate between 4 % and 14 % p.a., depending on the segment and source. All the same, the markets are extremely 
stable and growing steadily. 

 
 

2.2.   Electronic Products 

The basic growth outlook for the global information and consumer electronics markets continues to be rated as very 
good. The market research institute Gartner stated in a study published in July 2012 that it is expecting consumers 
worldwide to increase their spending on information and entertainment products and related services by an average of 
130 billion dollars per year between now and 2016. Mobile devices, mobile services and entertainment services (e.g. 
cable providers and IPTV) will remain the largest segments in this market. It remains to be seen, though, what effect the 
slowdown in the global economy will have, at least in the short term, on consumer behaviour. According to a survey 
conducted by the Hong Kong Trade Development Council (HKTDC) at the international Electronics Fair in Hong Kong at 
the end of 2011, there is growing scepticism in the sector. Around one third of those interviewed expected market 
conditions to deteriorate in 2012, compared to only 11% in spring 2011. 
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3.  Strategic priorities and opportunities 
 
3.1. Balda Group 

Following a thorough analysis of the strategic strengths and weaknesses of the company and the potential and risks of 
the markets relevant for Balda, the Board of Directors, which has been in office since 1 January 2012, developed a 
medium to long-term growth strategy for the Balda Group. Its key points were explained to the shareholders at the 
Annual General Meeting on 11 May 2012: 

• Return the operational business to profit as quickly as possible in order to make it possible for a dividend to be 
paid, without, as in previous years, having to draw on the company’s assets. 
 

• Grow the Group’s business volume to a scale which assures the profitability of the operating business and 
promotes the relevance of the company in the capital market. Here the intention is to achieve a sales volume 
of 150 to 200 million euros in the medium term, and depending on the market opportunities a volume above 
this level. In the Medical segment company acquisitions play an important role here, while in the Electronic 
Products segment the focus is on organic growth. 
 

• Strengthen the Group’s core competences, in particular the high-quality processing of products in the area of 
plastic injection moulding and the integration of plastic solutions with electronic components and systems. 
These competences can also be used in a range of markets beyond the two existing segments. 
 

• Quick sale of all of the Balda Group’s shares in TPK Holding Co., Ltd. and quick distribution of the proceeds in 
the form of special dividends to the company’s shareholders in an amount which is taking into account the 
legal, tax and strategic requirements of the Group. 
 

• Streamline the Group’s structures significantly and adapt to the reduced size of the Group; reduce the holding 
company’s costs to consistently less than 5 % of consolidated sales (2011: 12.4 % not including special 
effects). 
 
 

3.2. Medical segment 

In the Medical segment Balda is pursuing a classic buy-and-build strategy. In addition to organic growth, the segment is 
relying on targeted acquisitions to 

• increase the international orientation of the business to meet the requirements and expectations of customers 
and to position the segment as a global first choice system supplier with recognised know-how in the area of 
plastic solutions for the medical technology sector; 

 
• expand the segment’s range of technological services and the level of value added; 

 
• widen the customer base and therefore improve the internal balance of risks. 

 
The organic growth will be promoted by 

• adjusting internal structures to the new market requirements; 
 

• establishing production facilities in lower-cost countries in Eastern Europe. 

With regard to internationalisation, in addition to covering the major European markets, the leap to North America and 
later onto Asia is also of importance for Balda Medical. Initially the main focus will be on the USA, the world’s most 
important market for medical devices; Balda Medical believes that there are good opportunities here for its range of 
services. With regard to the acquisitions, the intention is that the target companies will have similar production 
processes and products to Balda, enabling synergies in particular in production and sales. 

With regard to the acquisition efforts, the Board of Directors also believes there is an opportunity to acquire activities 
that are related to Medical and which might develop into a further business segment for Balda. However, what is of 
fundamental importance is that synergies can be achieved between Balda Medical and these related activities. 

The strategic goal is to increase the volume of the Medical segment’s sales in the medium term to well over 100 million 
euros, primarily by way of acquisitions. 
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With regard to the segment’s internal optimisations, the focus is on intensifying and expanding Balda Medical’s sales 
activities. The “Fit for Sales” initiative should improve access to new customers as well as the segment’s sales presence 
and effectiveness in the market. 
 
The establishment of production facilities in lower-cost countries in Eastern Europe is necessary for the acquisition and 
implementation of technologically less sophisticated or small-volume projects where automation does not make sense 
or would not be economically feasible at Bad Oeynhausen. The optimisation of the production mix sought in the medium 
term at various locations with corresponding technology and cost structures is important if Balda Medical is to position 
itself as a global first choice system supplier for major healthcare companies. 
 
Capacity at the site in Bad Oeynhausen is reserved for new high-value projects, instead of being blocked by projects 
with comparatively low margins. 
 
 

3.3. Electronic Products segment 

In the Electronic Products segment, the focus in the first half of the financial year 2012/2013 will initially be on 
restructuring. Due to the significant reduction in business volume recorded in previous years, the structures at the site in 
Malaysia have to be adjusted in order to reduce the current overcapacity and too high fixed costs and in so doing create 
the conditions for a return to profit. 

Shortcomings in internal structures and processes were also revealed in 2011, which also affected the segment’s 
competitiveness. 

The goal is to complete the restructuring process by the end of the 2012 calendar year and to return to profit in the 
fourth quarter of this year. If this goal is not achieved, the Board of Directors will have to quickly make a decision on 
alternative scenarios for the segment. 

At the same time as the restructuring, which for now is the priority, the segment has also started with a strategic 
realignment and further development. The aim is to position the segment in promising niche markets for electronic 
products which are able to generate sufficient volumes. With technologically sophisticated products, criteria such as 
customised solutions and reliable deliveries to customers with consistent quality and just in time are becoming 
increasingly important competitive selling points. 

The starting point for this repositioning was the analysis that the segment would find it difficult to prevail in the market for 
basic, less sophisticated products, so-called commodities, against lower-cost competitors from Asia and in particular 
from China. 

In positioning the segment as a supplier of high-end products, Board of Directors believes the segment will have 
opportunities and a strategic advantage in Malaysia because the complete process, from development services to tool-
making, injection moulding, painting and to assembling, can be offered from one source. 

A major part of the realignment involves improving the segment’s innovative strength. The development of patentable 
products and new production technologies should enable closer relationships with existing customers, the acquisition of 
new customers and lay the foundations for improved margins. This will involve Electronic Products developing from a 
simple supplier of products into a sales and marketing-oriented organisation with a distinct culture of innovation. 

Further details on the strategic realignment will be defined after the restructuring has been completed. 

 
 

4. Anticipated business development 
 
4.1. Medical segment 

In the Medical segment the focus in the financial year 2012/2013 will be on implementing the buy-and-build strategy. 
The Board of Directors has already taken all of the necessary measures in the short financial year 2012 to quickly 
achieve results in this process. For example, with the help of a specialist M&A consultant, a list of target companies was 
drawn up; the first opportunities have already been examined in the first half of the year. 

For the financial year 2012/2013 Balda Medical is aiming to achieve sales slightly below the level of the financial year 
2011 and positive earnings for the segment. The segment will benefit here from the completion of various production 
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lines, each of which has been set up for new customer-specific projects. For example, in 2011 a complex production line 
was set up for a tablet dispenser, with the first launch volumes being produced in the short financial year. Further 
production facilities for diagnostic products were completed in the short financial year or will be completed in the 
financial year 2012/2013.These new projects are able not only to compensate for the phasing out of older projects, but 
there is also the prospect of further sustainable growth in the article business. 

 
 
4.2. Electronic Products segment 

The restructuring of the Electronic Products segment launched at the start of the 2012 calendar year is proceeding 
according to plan. A large number of key positions have been filled at management level. The short-term use of 
temporary staff enabled orders which were acquired in 2011 and did not cover costs to be quickly reduced and capacity 
to be created for new orders as a result. As a result of the miscalculations, the new management has defined and 
implemented binding principles for the costing of orders. 

The reorganisation of structures and processes at the site in Malaysia to assure product quality and on-time delivery has 
been largely completed. This involves the gradual establishment of a culture of innovation in order to provide the 
customer with technological added value with the segment’s own, where possible patented products. 

For the financial year 2012/2013 the Electronic Products segment is aiming to achieve sales above the level of the financial 
year 2011. Provided a break-even result is achieved for the month of December in the 2012 calendar year, it is expected 
that the segment earnings for 2012/2013 will be roughly in balance. 

 

4.3. Shareholding in TPK Holding 

The Board of Directors’ intention of completely disposing of the shareholding in the touchscreen manufacturer TPK 
Holding, which was no longer considered to be strategic, was almost achieved with the two block sales in February and 
in June 2012. The Group’s shareholding held via Balda Investments Singapore Pte. Ltd. fell due to the two transactions 
from 16.1 % at the start of 2012 to 0.8 % as of 30 June 2012. Following the receipt of new shares in July 2012, the 
shareholding rose again to around 2 %.This equates to around 7.1 million shares, which all originate from dividend 
payments by TPK Holding. The Board of Directors is also planning to sell these shares for the best price. 

The proceeds from the sale of the TPK shareholding in the short financial year totalled around 392.3 million euros. It 
remains the Board of Directors’ intention to allow the shareholders to quickly share in the proceeds of the sale in the 
form of special dividends. A first dividend payment of 76.6 million euros, equating to 1.30 euros per share, was made in 
May 2011 for the financial year 2011. The Board of Directors and Supervisory Board intend a dividend payment of Balda 
AG’s balance sheet profit for the short financial year 2012 (185.2 million euros). Any decision relating to further special 
dividends will be made taking into account the legal, tax and investment requirements of the Balda Group. 

 

4.4. Balda Group 

With the structural reforms implemented in the short financial year 2012, the operational progress and the significant 
inflow of funds from the sale of shares in TPK Holding, the Balda Group is in an excellent position to continue the 
strategic alignment initiated by the Board of Directors and take the Group onto a new level in the medium term. In the 
current financial year 2012/2013, the focus will primarily be on initial external growth measures in the Medical segment 
and the successful completion of the restructuring of the Electronic Products segment. After the termination of Balda 
USA’s activities, the Board of Directors will also examine further streamlining measures and simplifications of the 
Group’s structure. 

The difficult economic conditions, and in particular the impact of the unresolved national debt crisis in the eurozone and 
the slowdown in economic growth in emerging industrial countries, emphasise the need for caution at least in the short 
and medium term. It remains to be seen whether the generally expected slowdown in the global economy will have a 
negative impact on the business performance of Balda’s customers and result in a fall in the demand for Balda products. 
This applies in particular for the Electronic Products segment, which is more dependent on the state of the economy. 

 



 

 53 

Annual Report 2012 

Providing the general economic conditions do not worsen significantly and no other foreseeable negative events of 
major significance for the Balda Group occur, in the financial year 2012/2013 the Board of Directors expects, based on 
the current portfolio without any potential acquisitions, 

• consolidated sales to be at the level of the financial year 2011 and 
• and the Group’s EBIT to be roughly break even. 

Interest income will have a positive impact on the Group’s earnings before and after taxes. The potential sale of the 
remaining shares in TPK Holding might have a major impact. 

In the following year 2013/2014 the Board of Directors is expecting the Group to return to profit on an EBIT basis if it 
performs as planned with a further increase in sales. The same applies for the EBT with a break even financial result 
expected. 

Bad Oeynhausen, 12 September 2012 

The Board of Directors 

 
 
 
 
Dominik Müser James Lim 
(Chief Executive Officer) (Member of the Board of Directors) 
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NOTES to the consolidated financial statements  
of Balda AG, Bad Oeynhausen, 
for the short financial year  
from 1 January to 30 June 2012  

 

I.  General explanations 

 

1.  General information about Balda  

The Balda Aktiengesellschaft (also: Balda AG or BAG) is located at Bergkirchener Straße 228 in 32549 Bad 
Oeynhausen, Germany.  

The Balda Group develops and produces complete plastic assemblies, electronic products and products for the medical 
technology industry. Balda's customers are leading companies in the mobile phone, consumer electronics, electronic 
communications, pharmaceutical and medical technology markets. The Group is internationally positioned with 
production sites in Malaysia and Germany.   

Within the scope of its shareholding in a leading touchscreen manufacturer in China, Balda is participating in the 
dynamic development of the touchscreen displays market.  

The Board of Directors approved the present consolidated financial statements for publication on 12 September 2012. 

 

2.  Details of the Balda AG consolidated financial statements 

The present consolidated financial statements of Balda AG as of 30 June 2012 were produced in accordance with 
Section 315 a of the German Commercial Code (HGB) and the provisions applicable on the reporting date and 
approved by the European Union of the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) of the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB), London, as well as the interpretations of the International Financial Reporting 
Standards Interpretations Committee (IFRS IC).  

The consolidated financial statements were produced in euros. Unless stated otherwise, all figures are specified in 
thousands of euros (EUR k). This can result in rounding differences. The individual financial statements of the 
consolidated companies were produced on the reporting date of the consolidated financial statements. 

For the period from 1 January to 30 June 2012 a short financial year was formed, as the financial year of Balda AG was 
shifted to the period from 1 July of one year to 30 June of the following year. The background of the shift in financial 
year is the early establishment of the ability to distribute a dividend to shareholders in light of the sale of TPK shares in 
February 2012. The information contained in the profit and loss account of the consolidated financial statements as of 
30 June 2012 are therefore only of limited comparison with the information for the financial year from 1 January to 31 
December 2011. The following subsidiaries have not shifted their financial year, so that in these cases the financial year 
continues to end on 31 December of each year: 

• Balda Vermögensverwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Bad Oeynhausen 
• Balda Medical Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Bad Oeynhausen 
• Balda Solutions Deutschland GmbH, Bad Oeynhausen 
• Balda Werkzeug- und Vorrichtungsbau GmbH, Bad Oeynhausen 
• Balda Solutions USA Inc., Morrisville/USA 
• Balda Investments Mauritius Ltd., Port-Louis/Mauritius 
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The aforementioned companies that have not shifted their business year have posted an interim statement as of 30 
June 2012. 

In accordance with IAS 1, Balda prepared the consolidated balance sheet according to the maturities. All asset and 
liability items with a residual period of over one year are classified as long-term. 

According to the total expense format, the group prepares a separate profit and loss statement and consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income. 

The financial statements of the companies included in the consolidated financial statements are based on uniform 
accounting and valuation principles that comply with the IFRS. 

The significant accounting and valuation policies that have been used to draw up the present consolidated financial 
statements are discussed hereafter. Unless indicated otherwise, the methods described were applied consistently to the 
reporting periods illustrated. Continuing acquisition and production costs are an important basis of valuation for the 
financial statements. For parts of financial instruments, the valuation is carried out at fair value.  

 

3.  Information about the consolidation 

3. a.  Scope of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Balda AG and of the companies in which it 
holds a majority stake (its subsidiaries) as of 30 June , or in previous years, as of 31 December. Majority stakes are 
deemed to exist if Balda AG can determine the financial and managerial policy of a company in order to gain 
economically from it. 

Apart from Balda AG, the consolidated financial statements include 5 domestic (previous year: 5) and 6 foreign 
(previous year: 6) subsidiaries by way of full consolidation.  

The scope of consolidation did not change in the short financial year of 2012:  

Number of companies 

List of consolidated entities as of 30 June 2012/ 31 December 2011 11 

 domestic companies (excluding Balda AG)  5 

 foreign companies   6 

 

3. b.  Consolidation methods 

The capital consolidation is done according to the acquisition method. On the acquisition of a company, the assets and 
liabilities of the corresponding subsidiaries are valued at their fair value at the time of acquisition. If the acquisition costs 
of the company exceed the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired, the Group shows this capitalised 
difference as goodwill.  

The income and expenditure of subsidiaries sold during the course of the financial year are included in the consolidated 
profit and loss statement up to the date when control is lost. 

Receivables and corresponding liabilities between the Group companies are offset against each other. 

Revenue from inter-company sales of goods and services and other intra-group income are offset against the 
appropriate expenditure. Interim profits from intra-group transactions are eliminated. 

The Balda Group holds no shares in associated companies in the short financial year of 2012, as in 2011. 
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3. c.  Currency conversion 

All the foreign companies of the Balda Group operate the financial, economic and organisational aspects of their 
business independently. The Group companies prepare the enclosed financial statements in their respective functional 
currency, which corresponds to the respective national currency with the exception of the companies in Singapore and 
Mauritius (where the functional currency is USD). 

Within the scope of the consolidation, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign companies are translated from 
euros into the differing functional currency at the exchange rate on the reporting date. Income and expenditure are 
translated at the average rate for the period. Equity positions of foreign subsidiaries are valued at historic exchange 
rates. The Group recognises the differences compared with the exchange rate on the reporting date in other income 
within the statement of comprehensive income or separately recognised in the equity in the currency translation reserve. 
The differences recorded in the currency translation reserve are reapportioned in the profit and loss account if the 
subsidiary is no longer included in the basis of consolidation.  

Goodwill resulting from the acquisition of foreign subsidiaries is treated by the Group as assets of the financially 
independent subsidiary and translated at the spot rate on the reporting date (IAS 21.47). The resulting currency 
differences are recorded in the currency translation reserve. 

Transactions in foreign currency are converted at the exchange rate at the time of the transaction.  

The exchange rates taken as basis for the foreign exchange translation related to €1.00 changed as follows: 

   

 

Spot average 
exchange rate 

on 
the balance 
sheet date 

 

 
Annual 

average 
exchange 

rate 

  30 June           31 December Financial year 

Currencies ISO Code 2012 2011 2012 2011 

US dollar USD 1.2577 1.2948 1.2970 1.3909 

Chinese renminbi CNY 7.9365 8.2237 8.1753 8.9759 

Malaysian ringgit MYR 4.0145 4.1068 3.9935 4.2465 
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II. Details of the consolidated financial statements of Balda AG 

 

1. Details on new and amended standards and interpretations 

Below is a list of the amended standards that are mandatory for the first time in the short financial year as of 30 June 
2012. All IFRS and IFRIC applicable on the reporting date and mandatory for the short financial year 2012 have been 
applied in the consolidated financial statements, unless an endorsement has already been been made by the EU. 

Standard or  Title 
Interpretation  

IFRS 7 Amendments to IFRS 7: Transfer of financial assets 

The first-time application of this revised IFRS is not having any significant impacts on the consolidated financial 
statements of Balda AG. 

Standards that would have first been mandatory in accordance with IASB in the short financial year as of 30 June 2012, 
are however not yet endorsed by the EU and therefore have not yet been applied in the present consolidated financial 
statements: 

IFRS 1 Amendments to IFRS 1: Severe hyperinflation and removal of fixed dates for first-time adopters 
(1 July 2011) 

IAS 12 Income Taxes: Amendment in relation to exceptions to the basic principles of IAS 12 for 
investment properties, which are held according to the fair value model as financial investments, 
according to IAS 40. (1 January 2012) 

The application of these standards has had no significant impacts on the consolidated financial statements of Balda AG. 

New and amended standards and recently published interpretations that have not yet been made mandatory, but that 
may however already be applied by companies from an earlier date but that are not yet being applied by the company: 

Standard or  Title (date of coming into effect) 
Interpretation 

- Application for financial years commencing at the date that they became effective or later - 

IFRS 1 Amendments to IFRS 1: Government loans (1 January 2013) 

IFRS 7 Amendments to IFRS 7: Information for the offset of financial assets and liabilities (1 January 
2013) 

IAS 32 Corrections to IAS 32: Offset of financial assets and liabilities (1 January 2014) 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Classification and measurement of financial assets. (1 January 2015) 

 Financial Instruments: Addition to accounting of financial liabilities (1 January 2015)  

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements (1 January 2013) 

IFRS 11  Joint Arrangements (1 January 2013) 

IFRS 12  Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities (1 January 2013) 

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement (1 January 2013) 

IAS 1  Presentation of Financial Statements: Amendments in relation to the presentation of other 
income and expenditure (1 July 2012) 
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IAS 19 Employee Benefits: Amendments to the abolition of the corridor method, new format for the 
presentation of performance specific liabilities and new information (1 January 2013) 

IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements: as a result of the publication of IFRS 10, IAS 27 was amended 
and now only contains the previous regulations for separate financial statements.  
(1 January 2013) 

IAS 28 As a result of the publication of IFRS 10 and IFRS 11, investments in associates and joint 
ventures were adjusted accordingly. (1 January 2013) 

IFRIC 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine (1 January 2013) 

Various Annual Improvement Project (AIP) from May 2012 (1 January 2013) 

IFRS 10, 11, 12 Transitional regulations (1 January 2013) 

With regard to the first-time application of these amended standards and announcements, there are expected to be no 
significant impacts on the consolidated financial statements of Balda AG, apart from amendments to disclosure 
requirements. 

 

2.  Accounting and assessment principles 

The fundamental financial and assessment methods used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements 
are described in the following sections. The accounting methods are unchanged compared to the previous year.  

Use of estimates and arbitrary decisions 
All estimates and arbitrary decisions are continually reassessed and are based on historic experience and other 
factors, including expectations regarding future events that appear reasonable under the given circumstances. The most 
important statements regarding the future and the main sources of uncertainty regarding estimates that could create a 
significant risk of the need to make a material adjustment to the reported assets and liabilities within the next financial 
year are shown below in the relevant passages of the notes.  

These mainly pertain to goodwill. To determine a potential decrease of value it is necessary to determine the value in 
use of the cash-generating unit to which the goodwill has been allocated. The calculation of value in use requires an 
estimate of the future cash flows from the cash-generating unit and an appropriate discount rate for the present cash 
value calculation. We refer to our general explanations below and the details on the calculation and book values under 
Point II.5.b. "Goodwill". 

The valuation of tangible and intangible fixed assets is associated with estimates of the expected useful life of these 
assets. At the end of each financial year, Balda checks the estimated useful life and if necessary revises it. We refer to 
our general explanations below and the details on the calculation and book values under Point II.5.a. "Fixed assets" and 
Point II.5.c. "Intangible assets". 

The inventories are valued at the lower acquisition or manufacturing cost determined on the expected net sales value, 
i.e. the sales income achievable in normal business operations less the estimated costs of completion and selling. We 
refer to our general explanations below and the details on the calculation and book values under Point II.5.f. 
"Inventories". 

The maturity structure of the balances of receivables and customers' creditworthiness as well as changes in payment 
terms have been taken into account in the assessment of the adequacy of the provisions for doubtful debts. The 
extent of actual write-offs to be made may exceed the extent of the expected write-offs if customers' financial situation 
deteriorates. We refer to our general explanations below and the details on the calculation and book values under Point 
II.5.g. "Trade accounts receivables". 

Assessments must be made during the calculation of actual and deferred taxes. Deferred tax assets are reported in so 
far as it is likely that they can actually be used. Various other factors such as the past financial situation and tax 
planning are to be taken into account in assessing the likelihood of their future use, particularly the use of deferred tax 
assets relating to losses carried forward. If the actual results vary from these estimates, this could have a negative 
impact on the asset, financial and profit situation. We refer to our general explanations below and the details on the 
calculation and book values under Point II.5.e. "Deferred Tax assets". 
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Areas in which arbitrary decisions are made with significance for the consolidated financial statements are above all the 
classification of financial assets and liabilities in accordance with IAS 39 as well as the classification as non-current 
assets held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5. 

The accounting and valuation methods were applied in a uniform manner in the Group and in comparison with the 
previous year. 

Financial instruments 
The financial instruments reported in the balance sheet (financial assets and liabilities) as defined in IAS 32 and IAS 39 
include certain liquid funds, receivables and payables for goods and services, loans, financial investments, loans and 
short-term credits and certain other receivables and payables based on contractual agreements. 

The fair value is the amount at which an asset could be exchanged or a debt settled between expert, willing and 
independent business partners. 

The amortised cost of a financial asset or liability is defined as the amount at which a financial asset or liability was 
valued when first reported, less redemptions, plus or minus the accumulated amortisation of any difference between the 
original amount and the amount repayable upon maturity, taking into account the effective interest rate method and less 
any reduction for write-offs or impairments. 

Financial assets are divided into the following categories:  

• Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit and loss,  
• loans and receivables,  
• held to maturity, 
• available for sale, 
• at amortised cost.  

The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. The management determines 
the classification of the financial assets when they are first reported and examines the classification on each reporting 
date. An assessment is made at each balance sheet reporting date as to whether or not objective indications suggest 
that there is a loss of value of a financial asset or group of financial assets.  

At the end of the reporting year, the Group holds financial instruments from the loans and receivables (LaR), available 
for sale financial assets (AfS), financial liabilities at amortised cost (FLAC) and financial assets and liabilities which are 
valued at fair value through the profit and loss (FAHfT/ FLHfT).  

Financial instruments are reported in the balance sheet if the company is party to a contract associated with the 
financial instrument. The reporting always takes place on the trading date. The Group will write off a financial asset only 
if the contractual rights to the cash flows from a financial instrument expire or if it transfers substantially all the financial 
assets and risks and opportunities associated with the ownership of the asset to a third party. Financial liabilities are 
written off if the liabilities mentioned in the contract are settled or waived or if they expire. 

Upon their first recording in the accounts, these financial assets or liabilities are reported at their fair value plus any 
transaction costs. Exceptions to these financial assets that have been characterised as assets "at fair value through the 
profit and loss". In this category assets are reported at fair value without taking into account transaction costs. The 
subsequent valuation varies for the various categories of financial assets or liabilities and is described in detail in the 
context of the accounting methods concerning each balance sheet item.  

In principle, loans and receivables and other financial liabilities (excluding derivatives and financial liabilities designated 
as affecting the results at fair value) are valued at their amortised cost. All other original and derivative financial 
instruments are valued at fair value. Profits or losses are recorded in the periodic result or directly in the equity (AfS) 
with no effect on profit and loss. 

The valuations of the original and derivative financial instruments will be carried out according to the following levels: 

Level 1 - Valuations at fair value are those that are produced from the quoted prices (unadjusted) on active markets for 
identical financial assets or liabilities. 

Level 2 - Valuations at fair value are those that are based on parameters that correspond to quoted prices for assets 
and liabilities, either derived directly, (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). 

Level 3 - Valuations at fair value are those that are produced from models, which parameters are used for the valuation 
of assets and liabilities, that are not based on observable market data (non-observable parameters, assumptions). 
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The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge currency risks resulting from operational activities. The 
derivative financial instruments are recorded in accordance with IFRS in the "Financial assets and liabilities measured at 
fair value through the profit and loss" category. Accordingly, they are stated at fair value when first reported. The fair 
values are also influential to subsequent valuations. Value adjustments are recorded immediately through the profit and 
loss.   

Holdings are measured at fair value and are classified as financial assets available for sale (AfS) (also see page 9 
Financial instruments). Loans are balanced with their amortised cost and classified as loans and receivables. In so far 
as financial assets are not subject to normal rates of interest, the market rate of interest is discounted from the present 
value. 

Receivables and other assets(LaR) are reported at amortised cost, in consideration of directly attributable transaction 
costs, which correspond to the fair value of the contribution. Receivables classified as available for sale are recognised 
at fair value. Sufficient allowance has been made with regard to estimated irrecoverable amounts for all discernible risks 
by the application of specific bad and doubtful debt provisions.  

Pursuant to IAS 39 financial liabilities are reported at market value at the time of acquisition. Costs directly attributable 
to the acquisition (transaction costs) are taken into account. These assets are then measured at amortized cost using 
the effective interest method. Monetary foreign currency liabilities are translated at the spot rate on the reporting date. 

The inventories have been valued at the purchase or manufacturing costs or at the lower expected net sales value. Net 
sales value includes the recoverable disposal proceeds less the estimated costs of completion and selling. An average 
value or a value determined on the basis of the FIFO method ("First in first out") is reported. The manufacturing costs 
consider all manufacturing-related expenses. 

The tangible and intangible fixed asset are valued at acquisition and manufacturing cost, less planned straight-line 
depreciation and, where applicable, write-off charges.  

The depreciation is essentially based on the following useful economic life: 

 Years 

Buildings 33 to 50 

Machinery and equipment 3 to 10 

Fixtures, furniture and office equipment 3 to 10 

Software and other intangible fixed assets 3 to 8 

If the acquisition or production cost of specific components of a property are significant in relation to the total acquisition 
or production cost, then these components are to be balanced and written off individually. The depreciation begins on 
completion of the asset and on becoming ready for operation. 

Leases in which Balda is lessee are classified as finance leases if all the opportunities and risks associated with 
ownership are substantially transferred to the lessee by the lease agreement. All other leases are classified as operating 
leases. 

If the business ownership of the leased objects lies with the lessor (operating leasing), the lease instalments are taken 
to the profit and loss account by the lessee during the period of the lease. If the Group is a lessor within the scope of an 
operative lease, the lease instalments are taken to the profit and loss account by the lessee during the period of the 
lease. 

Assets held as part of a finance lease are recorded as the Group's assets at the lower of the fair value at the start of 
the lease period and the minimum lease payments at present value. The lessor is shown on the balance sheet as a 
liability arising from a finance lease. 

The leasing payments are divided into interest expense and capital repayment in such a way so that a constant rate of 
interest on the outstanding liability is achieved. Tangible fixed assets held under finance leases are depreciated over the 
shorter of the following two periods: the useful economic life of the asset or the lease term. 

The life of all intangible assets, except goodwill, is limited.  
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As long as required by IAS 36, a write-off to the lower recoverable amount is applied to tangible and intangible fixed 
assets.  

On each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the book values of its tangible and intangible fixed assets to determine 
where there is a need for depreciation with regard to these assets. If such a need is evident, the recoverable amount 
of the asset value is determined to determine the scale of any depreciation expense. If the recoverable amount cannot 
be determined for an individual asset, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs is 
determined.  

The recoverable amount is the greater of the fair value minus selling costs and the value in use. When determining the 
value in use, the estimated future payments are discounted to their present value based on the planned values withthe 
current pre-tax interest rate which reflects the specific risks of the asset not taken into account in the cash flows. 

If the determined recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) falls below the book value, the book value 
of the asset (the cash-generating unit) is reduced to the recoverable amount. The write-off costs are immediately 
recorded against the results as depreciation expenses. 

On subsequent reversal of impairment losses the book value of the asset (cash-generating unit) is increased to the 
re-determined recoverable amount. The increase in the book value here is limited to the value that could have been 
determined if no depreciation expense had been reported for the asset (cash-generating unit) in previous years. A 
reversal of impairment losses is immediately reported as income. 

Goodwill represents the surplus of the company acquisition costs over the fair value of the share in the identifiable net 
assets and liabilities of the acquired company at the time of its acquisition. The capitalised goodwill is subjected to an 
annual impairment test and is valued at its original acquisition cost minus accumulated write-offs. Appreciations in value 
are not permitted. If a company is sold, the goodwill part allocated to this unit will be included while determining the 
profit on disposal. The goodwill is allocated to cash-generating entities for the purpose of the impairment test. This 
allocation is made between those cash-generating entities or groups of cash-generating entities that can be expected to 
derive benefit from the merger that created the goodwill. At Balda the individual subsidiaries represent the cash-
generating unit.   

Long-term assets (or groups of assets and liabilities) are classified as held for trading and are valued at the lower of 
the book value or fair value minus selling costs if their book value is essentially realised by a sale instead of by 
continued operating use.  

Deferred taxes are the expected tax charges and reliefs arising from the temporary differences of the fiscal and IFRS 
values, as well as from temporary consolidation measures. The balance sheet oriented liability method is applied here. 
In addition, active deferred taxes will be formed on tax loss carry forwards. Deferred tax liabilities and assets are 
reported for all temporary taxable differences in so far as it is likely that taxable profits for which the deductible 
temporary differences may be used are available. Deferred taxes in temporary differences arising from goodwill are not 
stated.  

The calculation of deferred taxis based on the tax rates applicable in the relevant country at the time of realisation. The 
valid and retired tax regulations on the balance sheet reporting date are authoritative. 

The book value of the deferred tax assets is reviewed each year on the reporting date and reduced if it is no longer 
likely that sufficient taxable income will be available to realise the claim fully or partially. 

Deferred taxes are generally recorded in the profit and loss statement, apart from those terms booked in other 
comprehensive income or directly to equity, for which the corresponding amount of deferred taxes is recorded. 

Provisions are formed for legal or actual obligations to third parties that originated in the past if it is likely that honouring 
the obligation will give rise to an outflow of Group resources and the obligation amount can be reliably estimated.  

Long-term provisions are reported at their present value, in so far as the tax effect is significant.  

Provisions for warranty obligations are reported at the time when the relevant product is sold. The amount is based 
on the best estimate by the management of the expense required to honour the obligation. 

Revenues are recorded if it is likely that the commercial benefit associated with the corresponding transaction will flow 
to the company and the revenue amount can be reliably assessed. Revenues are recorded minus any sales tax or price 
discounts and volume rebates if the delivery has been made and the major risks and opportunities associated with the 
ownership have been transferred. If the service has not yet been rendered in full, the service that is valued at 
manufacturing cost is shown on the balance sheet under inventories.  
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Research costs are recorded as expenses in the period during which they were incurred.  

Intangible assets resulting from the development of a product will only be reported if the Group can demonstrate the 
technical feasibility of the realisation of the intangible asset so that it becomes available for internal use or sale, as well 
as the intention of realising the intangible asset for use or sale. Moreover, the Group must demonstrate the generation 
of a future economic benefit of the asset, the availability of resources for realising this asset and the capability to reliably 
identify the costs attributable to the intangible asset during its development.  

All interest expenses are recorded using the effective interest rate method. The effective interest method is a method 
of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or liability and the allocation of interest payments and expenses for 
the relevant period. 

Subsidies from public funds are recorded at fair value if the Group fulfils the necessary conditions for receiving the 
subsidy. Public authority grants are recorded over the period during which the corresponding costs for which the subsidy 
was granted were incurred. Subsidies from public funds for capital investment are offset against the acquisition costs of 
the corresponding asset. No essential subsidies have been granted to the Group in the financial year. 

Contingent liabilities and receivables are possible liabilities or assets that result from events in the past and the 
existence of which is subject to the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events that are not 
fully under the control of Balda AG. Contingent liabilities are also current liabilities resulting from events in the past for 
which the outflow of resources that embody economic benefits is unlikely or for which the extent of the liability cannot be 
reliably estimated. Contingent liabilities and receivables are not reported.  

Error correction in accordance with IAS 8 
An error occurred in the 2008 annual report when consolidating the acquisition of TPK Holding from a joint venture to an 
associated company. With the sale of the major part of TPK shares in 2012, it therefore became apparent that in the 
years valued as an associated company, currency reserves of €20,222 thousand had not been dissolved. For this 
reason, the corresponding currency differences have been reclassified from currency reserves into profit carried forward 
in the opening balance as of 1 January 2011 (see also the illustration in the statement of changes in equity). 

 

3.  Segment reporting 

The resource allocation and the evaluation of the earning power of the Balda business segments are perceived by the 
Board of Directors as the main deciding factors. The segment demarcation and the choice of the figures shown have 
been made in line with the internal management and reporting systems ("Management Approach") and the additional 
statements required by the IFRS standards. 

According to internal reporting, the business segments Electronic Products and Medical and Central Services are now 
considered as operational segments in the short business year ending 30 June 2012 (as they were as of 31 December 
2011), and are therefore obligated to report.  

The Electronic Products segment focuses on the development and production of electronic products. In the Medical 
segment the Group manufactures complex plastic products for the medical sector, furthermore this segment includes 
rental income. The "Central Services" segment above all includes income from intra-group allocations, reimbursements 
from damage claims and the incurred and recharged holding company charges. As the investment in TPK is managed 
from the holding company in Singapore, the results from this holding are also shown under the "Central Services" 
segment.  

In accordance with internal reporting, information on total output is included in the segment reporting. The total output 
comprises sales revenue, other operating income and changes in inventories of finished and unfinished goods. The 
development of sales and the earnings situation of the individual Group segments are presented in detail in "Business 
development". 

The total output, EBIT and EBT are monitored by segment separately by the Board of Directors of Balda AG to estimate 
their earning power and to be able to decide resource allocation.  

The segment reporting is carried out in accordance with the Balda AG standard accounting rules laid down in Point II.2 
"Accounting and valuation principles". The segment results correspond to the result achieved in the relevant period.  

The transfer prices between business segments are calculated based on the usual market conditions between third 
parties. Segment income and expenditure are shown in gross and also include the transfers between the business 
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segments. These transfers are eliminated on the consolidation. These transfers are shown as inter-segment corrections 
in the segment report. 

The segment data of those segments obligated to report can be found in the following table:  

 

Short financial year 2012 
(1.1. - 30.6) 

        

in EUR k Electronic 
Products Medical Central  

Services 

Total 
operating 
Segments 

Reconciliation 

Inter-
segment 

corrections  
(5) 

Group 

Revenues (external) 12,978 11,729 0 24,707 0 0 24,707 

Revenues (internal) 0 0 58 58 0 -58 0 

Total revenues 12,978 11,729 58 24,765 0 -58 24,707 

Overall total income 14,672 14,674 3,909 33,255 0 -1,569 31,686 

EBIT  -11,145 -1,315 -2,288 -14,748 0 0 -14,748 

Interest income 119 1 1,362 1,482 0 -55 1,427 

Interest expenses 18 77 735 830 0 -55 775 

Result from sale of TPK 
shares 

0 0 274,349 274,349 0  274,349 

Impairment of loan receivables 0 0 -10,577 -10,577 0 0 -10,577 

Other financial result (6) 0 0 4,586 4,586 0 0 4,586 

EBT  -11,044 -1,391 266,697 254,262 0 0 254,262 

Income tax        3,537 

Net income – continued 
operations        250,725 

Investments  59 1,174 170 1,403 0 0 1,403 

Scheduled depreciation 806 994 67 1,867 0 0 1,867 

   - of which reversal (-) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Impairments 8,936 0 0 8,936 0 0 8,936 

Non-cash expenses and 
income -1,048 -851 119,897 117,998 0 0 117,998 

Segment assets (1)/(2) 23,736 28,214 444,324 496,274 0 -26,480 469,794 

Employees at  30 June  
(number) (3) 

1,053 209 11 1,273 0 0 1,273 
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2011 Fiscal year  
(1.1. - 31.12.) 

in EUR k Electronic 
Products Medical Central  

Services 

Total 
operating 
segments 

Reconciliation 
(4) 

Inter-
segment 

corrections 
(5) 

Group 

Revenues (external) 26,477 39,868 0 66,345 0 0 66,345 

Revenues (internal) 26 0 849 875 -367 -508 0 

Total revenues 26,503 39,868 849 67,220 -367 -508 66,345 

Overall total income 25,697 41,771 9,715 77,183 -3,078 -3,197 70,908 

EBIT  -5,029 2,731 -6,780 -9,078 3,042 0 -6,036 

Interest income 228 88 805 1,121 -253 -200 668 

Interest expenses 75 241 101 417 -142 -200 75 

Other financial result (6) 0 0 5,215 5,215 -607 0 4,608 

EBT  -4,876 2,578 -861 -3,159 2,324 0 -835 

Income tax        2,190 

Net income – continued 
operations        -3,025 

Investments  571 1,738 74 2,383 0 0 2,383 

Scheduled depreciation 1,569 1,866 306 3,741 0 0 3,741 

   - of which reversal (-) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

          

Non-cash expenses and 
income -2,563 1,435 957 -171 0 0 -171 

Segment assets (1)/(2) 33,883 31,989 439,854 505,726 11,416 -33,045 484,097 

Employees at 31 December 
(number) (3) 942 220 16 1,178 0 0 1,178 

        

(1) Segment assets = long-term assets plus short-term assets excluding deferred tax assets and tax refunds. In the previous year this related to 
the assets of continuing business operations, without the sold MobileCom segment. 

(2) Segment assets for "Central Services" comprised €70,250 thousand (previous year €382,344 thousand) of valuations of the investment of TPK  

(3) Number of employees on reporting date = includes temporary agency employees, temporary staff and trainees (previous year:  only continuing 
operations)  

(4) The figures shown under reconciliation relate to classifications to discontinued operations.   

(5) Inter-segment corrections relate to the sales revenue generated between the segments as well as intra-group receivables.     

(6) The other financial result contains foreign exchange results (-€4,591 thousand) and dividend income from the TPK investment 
(€9,177 thousand). Previous year foreign exchange gains only.     
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The Balda Group generates its sales revenues from both of the segments described below:  

The Electronic Products segment, located in Ipoh, Malaysia, focuses on the development and production of electronic 
products and plastics processing. The almost complete assembly of electronic cameras is also part of the service portfolio. 

The Medical segment develops and produces systems from synthetic materials together with electronic components for the 
Pharmaceutical, Diagnostics and Medical Technology sectors in Bad Oeynhausen.   

Sales revenue from external customers in the 2011 and 2012 financial years is comprised of products from individual 
segments as follows: 

in EUR k 2012 2011 

Electronic Products  12,978 26,477 

Medical 11,729 39,868 

Total 24,707 66,345 

 

In the short financial year of 2012, the Group made more than 10% of total income from 3 customers.  

The sales revenue and long-term assets are attributed to the following geographical regions (in EUR k): 

           Sales revenue                        Long-term assets 

    2012     2011     2012    2011 

Germany 8,948 32,347 14,856 14,612 

Foreign* 15,759 33,998 8,943 11,341 

Group-wide 24,707 66,345 23,799 25,953 

*including in Malaysia 5,275 8,148   8,943 11,327 

  

The criterion for the allocation of sales revenue to the geographical regions is the respective country where the companies of 
our external customers have their head offices. 

The long-term assets shown consist of the tangible and intangible fixed assets of the companies that are allocated to the 
corresponding countries. The deferred tax assets are not included. 

 

4.  Cash flow statement 

The cash flow statement has been prepared according to the IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows. The cash flows are divided into 
business, investment and financing activities.  

The movement and composition of the cash flows are shown in the cash flow statement. Cash flow from current business 
activities has been calculated according to the indirect method. 
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The individual items of the cash flow statement are as follows: 

4. a.  Cash flow from operating activities   

The cash flow from current business activities amounted to minus €5,179 thousand as of 30 June 2012 (previous year: plus 
€3,683 thousand).  

The outflow of funds from ongoing business activities in the Balda Group totalled €5,179 thousand in the short financial year 
of 2012. The reasons for the decrease in the 2012 reporting period were the lack of business volumes and the increase in 
working capital. 

4. b.  Cash flow from investing activities 

The cash flow from investment activities was plus €64,639 thousand in total (previous year: minus €1,913 thousand). The 
Balda Group spent €1,259 thousand on investment activities in the period under review (previous year: €3,094 thousand). 
Payments of €119 thousand for further investments were not yet made in the short financial year of 2012.  

Furthermore, as a result of the contractual regulation in 2011, the second tranche of loans has been paid from the sale of the 
MobileCom division totalling €3,268 thousand in the short financial year of 2012. The cash inflow from the sale of the 
MobileCom businesses was €1,181 thousand for the Group in the previous year.  

In the short financial year of 2012, the cash inflow from the partial sale of shares in TPK Holding Co., Ltd., minus the sale 
costs, was €237,100 thousand for the Group. From this inflow, surplus cash is invested in bonded loans in the short term 
(€168,000 thousand). 

4. c.  Cash flow from financing activities 

The outflow of funds from financing activities amounted to €76,947 thousand (previous year: €8,497 thousand) and mainly 
results from the dividend payment to Balda AG shareholders in May 2012 totalling €76,558 thousand.  

During the reporting year no significant new lease contracts were signed that fulfilled the criteria of a financing lease. 
Repayments of these liabilities were €87 thousand (previous year: €163 thousand). 

4. d.  Cash and cash equivalents at end of the financial year 

At the balance sheet date of 30 June 2012, cash and cash equivalents in the overall Group are €17,776 thousand (previous 
year: €35,895 thousand) and correspond to the liquid finds in the Group balance sheet.  

In the previous year, existing funds of €6,995 thousand had been sold with the sale of the MobileCom businesses. 

 

5. Notes on individual items of the consolidated balance sheet 

Long-term assets 

5. a.  Tangible assets 

The balance sheet values in the consolidated balance sheet reflect the fair value at the time of initial consolidation or 
acquisition or manufacturing costs at the time of first inclusion in the balance sheet, reduced by planned and unplanned 
depreciation.  
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The movements of tangible assets are as follows: 

 

Acquisition or  
manufacturing 
costs     

in EUR k 
Land and 
buildings 

Machinery and 
equipment 

Fixtures, 
furniture and 

office equipment 

Advance 
payments and 

machinery under 
construction 

Tangible assets   
total 

Status 
01/01/2012 38,287 43,746 13,494 481 96,008 

Currency 
differences 149 546 118 0 813 

Additions 0 1,063 243 20 1,326 

Disposals 0 49 138 2 188 

Reclassifications 0 449 0 -449 0 

Status 
30/06/2012 38,436 45,754 13,718 50 97,958 

Cumulated 
depreciations     

Status 
01/01/2012 22,583 36,188 11,643 0 70,414 

Currency 
differences 32 416 108 0 556 

Additions 448 1,011 343 0 1,802 

Value decreases 856 1,046 0 0 1,902 

Disposals 0 32 110 0 142 

Status 
30/06/2012 23,919 38,629 11,983 0 74,532 

Net book 
values       

Status 
01/01/2012 15,704 7,558 1,851 481 25,594 

Status 
30/06/2012 14,517 7,125 1,735 50 23,427 
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Acquisition or  
manufacturing 
costs 

in EUR k 
Land and 
buildings 

Machinery and 
equipment 

Fixtures, 
furniture and 

office equipment 

Advance 
payments and 

machinery under 
construction 

Tangible assets   
total 

Status 
01/01/2011 53,404 71,658 14,158 22 139,242 

Currency 
differences 394 679 -12 0 1,061 

Additions 40 2,330 202 1,818 4,389 

Disposals 0 1,394 184 0 1,578 

Reclasssifications -85 1,021 0 -1,021 -85 

Losses from 
deconsolidations 15,466 30,548 669 338 47,021 

Status 
31/12/2011 38,287 43,746 13,494 481 96,008 

Cumulated 
depreciations     

Status 
01/01/2011 23,818 42,340 11,482 0 77,640 

Currency 
differences 54 112 -11 0 155 

Additions 1,180 3,716 877 0 5,773 

Value decreases 3,000 11,430 36 0 14,466 

Disposals 0 423 142 0 565 

Losses from 
deconsolidations 5,469 20,987 599 0 27,055 

Status 
31/12/2011 22,583 36,188 11,643 0 70,414 

Net book 
values       

Status 
01/01/2011 29,586 29,317 2,676 22 61,601 

Status 
31/12/2011 15,704 7,558 1,851 481 25,594 
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On the assets side, the value of fixed assets fell as of 30 June 2012 from €25,594 thousand as of 31 December 2011 to 
€23,427 thousand. As well as scheduled depreciations, the decline can be ascribed to the impairment of goodwill from the 
acquisition of the Malaysian business during the course of impairment tests. The impairment of property, plant and equipment 
of the amount exceeding goodwill was €1,902 thousand. The allocation of the impairment took place in relation to book value 
of buildings as well as technical equipment and machinery. 

Loans, guarantee lines and lease agreements are secured by mortgages and chattel mortgages of around €10,293 thousand 
(previous year: €10,758 thousand).  

The book value of the leased assets – shown in "Land and buildings" and in "Machinery and equipment" – is composed as follows: 

in EUR k 30/06/2012 31/12/2011 

Land and buildings 

 Acquisition costs 979 957 

 Cumulated depreciations 63 57 

Book value 916 900 

Machinery and equipment 

 Acquisition costs 351 668 

 Cumulated depreciations 54 127 

Book value 297 541 

The leasing agreements were essentially made in Malaysia and there concern a very small part of the buildings and 
machinery used for the production. There are no other obligations from the lease agreements. 

5. b. Goodwill 

The goodwill as of 30 June 2012 amounted to €2 thousand (previous year: €6,877 thousand) and changed as follows:  

 
Cost 
in EUR k Goodwill 

Status 01/01/2012 16,409 

Currency differences 377 

Status 30/06/2012 16,786 

Cumulated depreciations  

Status 01/01/2012 9,532 

Value decreases 7,034 

Currency differences 218 

Status 30/06/2012 16,784 

Net book values   

Status 01/01/2012 6,877 

Status 30/06/2012 2 
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Cost 
in EUR k 

Goodwill 

Status 01/01/2011 35,081 

Currency differences - 1,397 

Disposals from deconsolidation 17,275 

Status 31/12/2011 16,409 

Cumulated depreciations  

Status 01/01/2011 19,376 

Value decreases 7,942 

Currency differences -511 

Disposals from deconsolidation 17,275 

Status 31/12/2011 9,532 

Net book values   

Status 01/01/2011 15,705 

Status 31/12/2011 6,877 

 

The companies and the allocated goodwill are shown in the following summary and at the balance sheet date amounted to €2 
thousand (previous year: €6,877 thousand): 

• Balda Solutions Malaysia – Sale of products for the communication and consumer electronics industry  
(€0 thousand; previous year: €6,875 thousand) 

• Balda Medical Verwaltungs GmbH (€2 thousand; previous year: €2 thousand) 

The goodwill valuation was done with the help of the criteria presented below: 

Balda Solutions Malaysia: 

The recoverable amount of the cash-generating units was determined based on the value in use. The valuation was made by 
discounting the company's future cash flows. The detailed plan period includes the years 2012/2013 to 2014/2015 and is based 
on assumptions about future sales prices and sales volumes and costs, by considering the economic conditions. The detailed 
plan of 2014/2015 was extended for 2015/2016 and 2016/2017. For the years following 2016/2017, a perpetuity with an overall 
growth rate of 1.0 percent was determined as in the previous year. Because of the company's tax exemption until 2015, a 
weighted average cost of capital without consideration of tax of 11.46 percent was taken as the basis for this period (previous 
year: 11.80 percent). For 2016 and the following years, when a duty to pay tax will exist, a weighted average cost of capital before 
tax of 14.87 percent will be taken as the basis (previous year: 15.36 percent). The value in use determined was below the book 
value as of 30 June 2012 and led to a full write-down of goodwill amounting to €7,034 thousand as well as an impairment of 
property, plant and equipment totalling €1,902 thousand, shown in the profit and loss account under the item "Special 
impairments". The write-downs are due in particular to increased competition, a volatile market environment and successive 
sinking margins. There were no write-downs at all in the Electronic Products segment. 

5. c.  Intangible assets 

The intangible fixed assets consisted mainly if software purchased for consideration. 
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The movement of intangible fixed assets is as follows: 

Acquisition or 
manufacturing costs 

   

in EUR k Software and other 
intangible fixed assets 

Internally generated 
intangible assets 

Intangible fixed assets 
total 

Status 01/01/2012 2,648 110 2,758 

Additions 0 79 79 

Status 30/06/2012 2,648 189 2,837 

Cumulated 
depreciations 

   

Status 01/01/2012 2,400 0 2,400 

Additions 65 0 65 

Status 30/06/2012 2,465 0 2,465 

Net book values     

Status 01/01/2012 248 110 358 

Status 30/06/2012 183 189 372 

    

Acquisition or 
manufacturing costs 

   

in EUR k Software and other 
intangible fixed assets 

Internally generated 
intangible assets 

Intangible fixed assets 
total 

Status 01/01/2011 3,628 0 3,628 

Currency differences 31 0 31 

Additions 134 110 244 

Disposals 178 0 178 

Losses from 
deconsolidations 

966 0 966 

Status 31/12/2011 2,648 110 2,758 

Cumulated 
depreciations 

   

Status 01/01/2011 2,728 0 2,728 

Currency differences 14 0 14 



                                                                                                                           
 

 
 79 

Annual Report 2012 

Additions 256 0 256 

Disposals 178 0 178 

Losses from 
deconsolidations 

420 0 420 

Status 31/12/2011 2,400 0 2,400 

Net book values     

Status 01/01/2011 900 0 900 

Status 31/12/2011 248 110 358 

 

The internally generated intangible assets consist primarily of costs for product design and prototype construction for a tablet 
dispenser in the medical segment. The Board of Directors is convinced that future profits will cover the overall costs of 
development. 

The total research and non-capitalisable development costs in the short financial year 2012 were €1,229 thousand (financial 
year 2011: €1,740 thousand).  

5. d.  Financial assets 

The financial assets for the previous year include entitlements from the final payment for the sale of the MobileCom segment, 
to the amount of €11,416 thousand. The residual purchase price is deferred through the granting of a loan to the buyer over 7 
years at an interest rate of 3%. The original amount of the loan, valued in Chinese Renminbi (CNY) at over CNY 119,076,000 
(converted into EUR €14,027 thousand) is discounted from the fair value (present value) at the issue date. The book value is 
discounted according to the effective interest method with an interest rate of 8.0 percent over the remaining term, In 
accordance with the conditions of the purchase and loan agreement of 2011, in February 2012 a payment of €3,268 thousand 
was disbursed as a support credit of the operating business. The conversion of the foreign currency loan on 30 June 2012 
was carried out with the exchange rate on the balance sheet date.  

In June 2012, Balda learned unexpectedly of payment difficulties of one of the purchased Chinese businesses with a 
scheduled repayment of a bank loan. As a result, Balda engaged a well-known auditing firm for a continuation and liquidation 
report. As a result of the report, the Board of Directors decided to terminate the loan agreement. In July 2012, the Board of 
Directors agreed to the premature cancellation of the loan agreement by means of a simultaneous partial write-off of the 
amount repayable. As the loan entitlement was no longer holding its value, an impairment of €10,577 thousand was made in 
the short financial year 2012. In addition, the loan was reclassified from loans to other short-term assets due to its short-term 
nature, as the cancellation agreement with the borrower provided for a short-term repayment. 

The development of the loan including interest as of the short financial year reporting date was as follows: 

in EUR k  

As of 1 January 2012 11,416 

Increase of purchaser loan 3,268 

Discounting of remaining balance -718 

Deduction according to the effective interest method  597 

Currency differences 514 

Impairment of loan -10,577 

Reclassification into other short-term assets -4,500 

As of 30 June 2012 0  
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5. e.  Deferred tax assets 

The following amounts for temporary differences were reported under deferred tax assets in the short financial year 2012 and 
the financial year 2011: 

in EUR k 2011 

 

Change of 
Offsetting 
with deferred 
tax liabilities 2012 

Temporary differences     

Tax losses (losses brought forward) 5,769 -1,765 0 4,004 

Balancing with deferred tax liabilities -1,784 0 915 -869 

Provisions 504 -110 0 394 

Intangible assets 0 0 0 0 

Inventories 0 0 0 0 

Receivables  882 -868 0 14 

Tangible assets 705 -347 0 358 

Other 10 36 0 46 

Deferred taxes - continued operations 6,086 -3,054 915 3,947 

Deferred taxes - discontinued operations 0 0 0 0 

Deferred taxes (Group) 6,086 -3,054 915 3,947 

 
Deferred tax receivables are reported only to the extent that future taxable profits were considered likely at the balance sheet date.  

The valuation for tax losses brought forward is based on projected tax results. The Group did not record deferred tax assets 
relating to tax losses carried forward of about €44,834 thousand (previous year: €41,701 thousand). The underlying losses 
here are comprised of €103,162 thousand (previous year: €103,759 thousand) of German trade tax and €122,944 thousand 
(previous year: €116,517 thousand) of German corporation tax and foreign income tax. However, it is assumed that these 
losses carried forward can be offset by future profits. But as these profits are expected in periods that are not included in the 
projected tax results, they were not capitalised.  

The calculation of deferred taxes for the German companies is carried out with a rate of interest of 30.3 percent (previous 
year: 30.3 percent).  

Current assets 

5. f.  Inventories 

Valuation allowances are made for inventories reported at the balance sheet date of €13,426 thousand (previous year: €9,603 
thousand). The valuation allowances for inventories developed as follows: 
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in EUR k 2012 2011 

Valuation allowances at start of (short) financial year 1,446 191 

Allocations to provision 148 1,372 

Reversal of valuation allowances 95 - 

Maintenance of valuation allowances 792 117 

Valuation allowances at end of (short) financial year 707 1,446 

 
In the short financial year 2012, impairment charges on inventories amounting to €1,242 thousand (previous year: €1,446 
thousand) were recorded as expenses. 

5. g.  Trade accounts receivables 

The trade accounts receivables as on the balance sheet date was €6,495 thousand (previous year: €10,696 thousand).  

All accounts receivables have a residual term of less than a year. 

The provisions against trade accounts receivables have developed as follows: 

in EUR k 2012 2011 

Valuation allowances at start of (short) financial year 58 38 

Allocations to provision 368 20 

as irrecoverable written-off receivables 0 0 

Reversal for valuation allowances not used 33 0 

Valuation allowances at end of (short) financial year 393 58 

 

We also refer to our explanations regarding credit risk under II.5.ac. 'Management of risks from financial instruments and 
capital management'. 

The trade accounts 
receivable not decreased 
in value have the following 
maturity term: in EUR k 

Book 
value 

Including: 
Neither 

impaired nor 
overdue on 

reporting 
date 

Including: Not impaired on reporting date and 
overdue in the following time bands 

daa 

Up to 
30 

days 

Be- 
tween 

31 and 
60 

days 

Be- 
tween 

61 and 
90 

days 

Be- 
tween 

91 and 
120 

days 

More 
than 
120 

days 

of which 
impaired 
at 
balance 
sheet 
date 

Trade accounts 
receivables as of 
30.06.2012 6,495  4,850 356 188 5 64 0 1,032 

Trade accounts 
receivables as of  
31.12.2011 10,696 6,753 2,936 873 107 27 0 58 

 

With regard to the trade account that are neither impaired nor in arrears, there was no indication on the financial statement 
date that the debtors would not fulfil their payment obligations.  
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The maximum credit risk from trade accounts receivables for the current and previous financial year corresponds to the book 
value of the receivables. 

5. h.  Other current assets 

Other current assets are divided up as follows: 

in EUR k 2012 2011 

Financial assets 388,783 1,137 

Non-financial assets 696    176 

Total other current assets 389,479 1,313 

Originated financial assets, in terms of their maturity, are as follows: 

in EUR k Carrying 
amount 

Including: 
Neither 

impaired nor 
overdue on 

reporting date 

Including: Not impaired on reporting date and overdue in 
the following time bands 

Up to 
30 days 

Be- 
tween 

31 and 
60 

days 

Be- 
tween 

61 and 
90 

days 

Be- 
tween 

91 and 
120 

days 

More 
than 
120 

days 

Including: 
Impaired 
on 
reporting 
date  

30.06.2012         

Other current 
receivables 

       
 

Residual term to 
maturity  
up to 1 year 388,783 384,254 1 0 14 0 14 4,500 

31.12.2011         

Other current 
receivables         

Residual term to 
maturity  
up to 1 year 1,137 1,113 6 2 0 15 1 0 

 

With regard to the receivables originated that are neither impaired nor in arrears, there was no indication on the reporting date 
that the debtors would not fulfil their payment obligations. 

The provisions against other current financial assets have developed as follows: 

in EUR k 2012 2011 

Valuation allowances at start of (short) financial year 0 0 

Allocations arising from reclassifications 10,577 0 

as irrecoverable other current assets written off 0 0 

Reversal for valuation allowances not used 0 0 

Valuation allowances at end of (short) financial year 10,577 0 
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The devalued loan receivable against the purchaser of the MobileCom division amounting to €4,500 thousand was 
reclassified to other current financial assets on the reporting date of the short financial year, as the termination agreement with 
the borrower provides for a short-term loan repayment. The complete payment of the receivable took place in August 2012. 

In addition, other current financial assets include the claim to the payment of the purchase price for the sale (2nd tranche 2012) of 
further TPK shares on 30 June 2012 amounting to €153,719 thousand (less sale costs) as well as claims to the new shares in the 
form of a capital increase from company funds and cash dividends granted by TPK amounting to €52,355 thousand and €9,333 
thousand. All receivables and claims were realised in July 2012. 

Other current financial assets also include the fixed-term deposit (maturity end October 2012) from the partial sale of TPK shares in 
February 2012 (1st tranche 2012). The amount invested falls under the Deposit Guarantee Fund of private German banks and is 
discounted as follows: 

• €53,000 thousand at 1.55 % 
• €25,000 thousand at 1.15 % 
• €30,000 thousand at 1.67 % 
• €60,000 thousand at 1.42 % 

Other current non-financial assets are comprised as follows: 

in EUR k 30.06.2012 31.12.2011 

 Total Including: current Total Including: current 

Claims for reimbursement for 
value-added tax 240 240 176 176 

Advance payments for services 
yet to be rendered 456 456 0 0 

Total 696 696 176 176 

 

5. i.  Tax refund  

The income tax refund claims relate exclusively to refund claims for taxes on income in accordance with IAS 12. 

5. j.  Cash and Cash equivalents 

The cash and cash equivalents of €17,776 thousand (previous year: €35,895 thousand) comprise of cash in hand and credit 
balances with credit institutions. With regard to the movement of cash and cash equivalents, we refer to our explanations on 
the cash flow statement under 'II.4. Cash flow statement'. 

Balda Investments Singapore assures a current account credit line of a subsidiary sold in 2011 with a cash deposit of €1.5 
million. The cash deposit was released again in July 2012. Of the liquid assets, cash stocks with restriction of disposal 
amounting to €3,991 thousand (previous year: €8,311 thousand) were included overall on the reporting date of the short 
financial year. 

5. k.    Assets classified as held for sale 

The item includes the valuation of the bonus shares in TPK Holding received in 2011. The TPK Group develops and produces 
touch-sensitive display surfaces. In the short financial year 2012, 15.3% of shares in TPK Holding Co. Ltd. were sold in 
February and June as part of "block trades" over the Taiwanese Stock Exchange (TWSE). The remaining 0.8% of shares 
(bonus shares from 2011) were not divested as at 30 June 2012, as it is currently being checked whether a short-term 
disposal of tax disadvantages will follow. Furthermore, the Board of Directors will seek to divest the remaining shares at the 
optimum price.  

The Group received total sales revenues of €392,311 thousand from the sale. €237,932 thousand of sales revenues from the 
first tranche in February 2012 flowed into the Group. Sales revenues from the second tranche in July 2012, less sale costs 
(€154,379 thousand) are accounted for in other current assets and flowed into the Group on 5 July 2012. 
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The non-current assets held for sale performed in the short financial year of 2012 as follows: 

in EUR k  

As of 31 December 2011 382,344 

Change in fair value on the basis of the share price development  31,034 

Sale of TPK shares -392,311 

Currency differences -3,172 

As of 30 June 2012 17,895 

 

5. l.  Group Equity 

The movement in equity is given in the statement of changes in equity. 

The subscribed capital of the parent company was unchanged at €58,891 thousand on the reporting date of the short financial 
year. It is divided into 58,890,636 bearer shares which are fully entitled to dividends. The individual share represents a 
proportionate amount of the share capital of €1.00. All shares are fully paid up. 

Group equity as of 30 June 2012 totalled €450,451 thousand after €463,024 thousand at the end of 2011.  

The Annual General Meeting on 11 May 2012 authorised the Board of Directors, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, 
to raise the share capital of the Company once or several times until 10 May 2017 up to €29,445,318 via the issue of up to 
29,445,318 new no-par value bearer shares for cash or non-cash contributions (Authorised Capital 2012). 

The share capital of the Company is being increased by a limited extent up to €17,667,190 via the issue of up to 17,667,190 
new bearer shares with profit participation rights from the start of the financial year in which they are issued (Conditional 
Capital 2012). The limited capital increase serves to grant shares to holders of conversion or option obligations, profit 
participation rights and/or participating bonds (or combinations of these instruments), where these shares are issued as a 
result of the authorisation of the General Meeting from 11 May 2012 to 10 May 2017 by the Company or by companies in 
which the Company holds a direct or indirect majority stake, as long as the issue takes place for cash. 

The conditional capital authorised by the 2007 and 2006 Annual General Meetings (Conditional Capital 2007 and Conditional 
Capital 2006) were withdrawn by the Annual General Meeting on 11 May 2012, provided that no shares had been issued from 
them. 

The Company’s Annual General Meeting on 11 May 2012 authorised the Board of Directors, with the approval of the 
Supervisory Board, to issue conversion and/or option obligations, profit participation rights and/or participating bonds or 
combinations of these instruments (together: „Bonds“) once or several times until 10 May 2017 in a total nominal amount of up 
to €100,000,000.00 with or without limitation of maturities. Conversion or option rights to the Company’s bearer shares can be 
granted to the holders of bonds with a proportional amount of the share capital of up to €17,667,190.00 in total, according to 
the more detailed specifications of the terms and conditions of the bonds establishing the respective conversion or option 
rights. 

As of the balance sheet date, neither the authorised or conditional capital has been used. 

The capital reserve results primarily from premiums arising from the issue of new shares in Balda AG. In addition, the capital 
reserve contains the statutory reserve of Balda AG to be created. 

The revenue reserves result from the customer relationships discovered in 2006 as part of the successive acquisition of 
shares by Balda Solutions Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. The amount allocated to the first 50 percent share is put to the new valuation 
reserves with no effect on the income statement less deferred taxes. The entire report is carried out under revenue reserves 
with complete devaluation of the capitalised customer relationship in 2010. 

The accounting of the TPK shares takes place on the reporting date of the short financial year, taking into consideration 
deferred taxes with no effect on profit and loss over the reserve in the item "Adjustment items for the fair value measurement 
of AfS instruments". In the short financial year 2012, adjustment items reduced to €681 thousand. As a result of the sale of 
TPK shares, €275,841 thousand was reclassified in the short financial year from reserves into the profit and loss account.  
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The development of the adjustment items for the fair value measurement of AfS instruments is as follows: 

in EUR k 

As at 1 January 2012 194,033 

Upward revaluation to fair value 80,218 

Tax effects 2,271 

Reversal of reserves - 275,841 

As at 30 June 2012 681 

The differences from the currency translation for the balance sheets and profit and loss accounts of the foreign companies 
prepared in foreign currencies have been put to the exchange rate provision in accordance with IAS 21 with no effect on profit 
and loss. Balda has taken into account exchange rate differences of €14,306 thousand from the translation of assets and 
liabilities at the spot rates on the reporting date.  

The amendment to reserves from foreign currency translation recorded in other comprehensive income is comprised as 
follows: 

in EUR k 2012 2011 

Change in the reserve with no effect on profit and loss from:    

Foreign currency translation   10,196 -4,477 

Outflow from disposals and reclassification  
to the profit and loss account   

-3,584 -2,909 

Amendment to reserves from foreign currency translations  6,612 -7,386 

 

The net profit includes the result generated in the Group to date, less dividend payments made. As at 30 June 2012, net profit 
amounts to €340,137 thousand compared with €165,970 in the previous year, which can be primarily ascribed to positive 
Group earnings. 

During the short financial year 2012, a dividend on ordinary shares for the business year 2011 amounting to €76,558 
thousand (€1.30 per share) was distributed to shareholders. 

 

Long-term liabilities 

5. m.  Long-term finance lease obligations 

The long-term finance lease obligations of €137 thousand (previous year: €227 thousand) refer to the capital repayment 
amounts of the liabilities from the finance lease. All liabilities are due after one year and before five years. 

The lease liabilities are hedged by the mortgaging of machinery amounting to €151 thousand. We also refer to our 
explanations under III.d. 'Leasing'. 
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5. n.  Deferred tax liabilities 

In the short financial year 2012, deferred tax liabilities developed as follows: 

in EUR k  

Taken to the 
profit and 

loss account 

Adaptation of 
off-setting 

with deferred 
tax assets 

Taken to 
the other 

results 
with no 

effects on 
the profit 
and loss 
account  

 2011    2012 

Tangible assets 982 -405 0 0 578 

Receivables 954 146 0 0 1,100 

Financial investments and 
shares held as available for sale  4,599 -880 0 -2,271 1,448 

Balancing with deferred tax 
assets -1,784 0 915 0 -869 

Miscellaneous 58 31 0 0 88 

  4,809 -1,108 915 2,271 2,345 

 
The valued adjustment of the remaining shares in TPK held as available for sale is recognised directly in equity. Deferred 
taxes of €1,448 thousand are formed on the temporary differences between the value of interests and the fair value of 
subsidiaries (outside-base-differences) (previous year: €4,599 thousand). Furthermore, no deferred taxes have been formed 
on these valuation differences relating to financial assets with a difference amounting to €267,314 thousand.  

5. o.  Long-term provisions  

Long-term provisions developed as follows: 

in EUR k 
As of 

01/01/2012 

Exchange 
rate 

differences 
Use Outflow Addition As of 

30/06/2012 

Provisions for 
anniversary 
obligations 97 0 0 0 1 98 

Total 97 0 0 0 1 98 

 

Long-term provisions relate to delimitations for future liabilities relating to long-service employees (anniversary liabilities). The 
amount of liabilities depends on the duration of the employee's service. Discounting of the present value on the balance sheet 
date was carried out at a rate of 3.09 percent. The interest effect taken into account in the short financial year 2012 totalled 
€0.1 thousand. 
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Current liabilities 

5. p.  Trade accounts payable 

The liabilities result primarily from materials and services. 

The fall in trade accounts payables to €7,323 thousand as at 30 June 2012 from €7,499 thousand as of the 2011 balance 
sheet date is mainly attributable to the reduced operating business.  

5. q.  Other current liabilities 

The other current financial liabilities mainly concern: 

in EUR k 2012 2011 

Personnel liabilities  1,654 1,422 

Miscellaneous other current liabilities 784  1,767 

Total 2,438 3,189 

As at the balance sheet date on 30 June 2012, derivatives with a volume of 2.5 million USD and a fair value of minus €65 
thousand (previous year: minus €16 thousand) were held within the Group. 

The other current non-financial liabilities mainly concern: 

in EUR k 2012 2011 

Value-added tax liabilities 424    485 

Total 424 485 

5. r.  Advance payments received 

The advance payments received relate primarily to the receipt of payments for orders for assembly units and tools already in 
production. 

5. s.  Short-term debts and current portion of long-term debts 

These items relate, in addition to the credit lines drawn upon, to the instalments due on loans within the next 12 months. All 
these amounts are therefore due within a year.  

5. t.  Current portion of the finance lease obligations 

The current liabilities from lease contracts as on the balance sheet date is €14 thousand (previous year: €11 thousand) and 
refers to the amounts due for finance leases within one year. 

We also refer to our explanations under III.d. 'Leasing'. 

5. u.  Tax liabilities 

The tax liabilities relate exclusively to liabilities for income tax liabilities according to IAS 12. 
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5. v.  Short-term provisions 

The short-term provisions are made up as follows: 

in EUR k 
As of 

01/01/2012 

Currency 
differences 

Use Liquidation Addition As of 
30/06/2012 

Tax risks  
assumed  
from  
MobileCom  
sale 
Companies 

 

 

 

1,460 

 

 

 

88 

 

 

 

0 

 

 

 

1,548 

 

 

 

0 

 

 

 

0 

Loss-free 
valuation  
of high order  
backlogs 

 
 
 

1,202 

 
 
 

25 

 
 
 

646 

 
 
 

0 

 
 
 

0 

 
 
 

581 

Other 128 0 54 34 0 40 

Total 2,790 113 700 1,582 0 621 

 
As a result of the agreement reached in July 2012 with the purchaser of the Chinese businesses, the provision for tax risks 
assumed could be dissolved. The provisions for the loss-free valuation of high order backlogs relate to projects in the 
Electronic Products segment. 

5. aa.  Share-based remuneration 

The share option scheme implemented by the company in the financial year 2006 expired as planned on 30 June 2009. Since 
then, no more share options may be granted.  

No outstanding options existing as of the balance sheet date (previous year: 280,000 shares). The remaining option rights 
from the afore-mentioned share option programme expired with effect as of 29 May 2012. 

From the subsequent valuation of the share options issued, no more expenses were incurred in the short financial year 2012, 
as in the previous year.  

5. ab.  Additional information on the financial instruments 

Presentation by valuation category: 
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The book values, valuations and current values according to the valuation categories of continued operations are shown in the 
table below: 

    Valuation Balance sheet acc. to IAS 
39   

30/06/2012 in EUR k Valuation 
category 

acc. to 
IAS 39 

Carrying 
book value 

30.06. 
2012 

Continuing 
acquisition 

costs 

Fair 
value 

af-
fecting 

profit 
and loss 

Fair 
value 

not af- 
fecting 

profit 
and loss 

Valuation
acc. to 

other 
IFRS 

Fair 
value as 
of 30.06. 

2012 

Assets        

Cash and cash equivalents LaR 17,776 17,776 0 0 0 17,776 

Trade accounts receivable 
LaR 6,495 6,495 0 0 0 6,495 

Other current financial assets LaR 336,428 336,428 0 0 0 336,428 

Other current financial assets AfS 52,355 0 0 52,355 0 52,355 

Assets classified as held for 
sale AfS 17,895 0 0 17,895 0 17,895 

Liabilities        

Trade accounts payable FLAC 7,323 7,323 0 0 0 7,323 

Short-term debts and current 
portion of long-term debts FLAC 137 137 0 0 0 137 

Other current financial 
liabilities FLAC 2,373 2,373 0 0 0 2,373 

Derivative financial liabilities FLHfT 65 0 65 0 0 65 

Finance lease obligations IAS 17 151 0 0 0 151 151 

incl. aggregated acc.  
to valuation categories 
acc. to IAS 39:        

Loans and Receivables 
(LaR) LaR 360,699 360,669 0 0 0 360,669 

Assets available for sale 
(AfS) AfS 70,250 0 0 70,250 0 70,250 

Financial Assets Held for 
Trading (FAHfT) FLHfT 65 0 65 0 0 65 

Financial Liabilities 
Measured at Amortised Cost 
(FLAC) FLAC 9,833 9,833 0 0 0 9,833 
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    Valuation Balance sheet acc. to IAS 
39   

31/12/2011 in EUR k Valuation 
category 

acc. to 
IAS 39 

Carrying 
book value 

31.12. 
2011 

Continuing 
acquisition 

costs 

Fair 
value 

af-
fecting 

profit 
and loss 

Fair 
value 

not af- 
fecting 

profit 
and loss 

Valua-
tion 
acc. 

to 
other 
IFRS 

Fair 
value as 
of 31.12. 

2011 

Assets        

Cash and cash equivalents LaR 35,895 35,895 0 0 0 35,895 

Trade accounts receivable 
LaR 10,696 10,696 0 0 0 10,696 

Other current financial assets LaR 1,137 1,137 0 0 0 1,137 

Investments AfS 1 1 0 0 0 1 

Loans LaR 11,416 11,416 0 0 0 11,416 

Assets classified as held for 
sale AfS 382,344 0 0 382,344 0 382,344 

Liabilities        

Trade accounts payable FLAC 7,499 7,499 0 0 0 7,499 

Short-term debts and current 
portion of long-term debts FLAC 439 439 0 0 0 439 

Other current financial 
liabilities FLAC 3,189 3,189 0 0 0 3,189 

Derivative financial liabilities FLHfT 16 0 16 0 0 16 

Finance lease liabilities IAS 17 238 0 0 0 238 238 

incl. aggregated acc.  
to valuation categories acc. 
to IAS 39:        

Loans and Receivables (LaR) LaR 59,320 59,320 0 0 0 59,320 

Assets available for sale (AfS) AfS 382,345 1 0 382,344 0 382,345 

Financial Liabilities Held for 
Trading (FAHfT) FLHfT 16 0 16 0 0 16 

Financial Liabilities Measured 
at Amortised Cost (FLAC) FLAC 11,127 11,127 0 0 0 11,127 
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The financial instruments valued at fair value are classified as follows in the relevant levels of the valuation method: 

 
in EUR k                                                                                   2012                                                         2011 

Valuation category1  3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 1 Level 2 

AfS 70,250 0 382,344           0 

FLHFT 0            65 0          16   

Claims from the loan to the purchaser of the MobileCom businesses were recorded at fair value.  

The net results for the continued operations according to valuation categories are as follows: 

30/06/2012 in EUR k 
From the subsequent valuation 

From 
in-

terests 
From 

disposal 
Net 

result 

At fair 
value 

Exchange 
rate 

Value 
ad-

justment   2012 

Loans and Receivables 
(LaR) 0 -3,422 -10,912 709 0 -13,625 

Financial Assets (AfS)  753 0 9,177 274,349 284,279 

- Other comprehensive 
income 

      

- Profit and loss account       

Financial Liabilities Held 
for Trading (FLHfT) 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Financial Liabilities 
Measured at Amortised 
Cost (FLAC) 0 0 0 -57 0 -57 

Total 0 -2,669 -10,912 9,829 274,349 270,597 

       

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                
1	  See	  explanatory	  notes	  on	  the	  accounting	  policies	  and	  valuation	  methods.	  
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31/12/2011 in EUR k 

From the subsequent valuation 
From in-

terests 
From 

disposal 
Net 

Result 

At fair 
value 

Exchange 
rate 

Value 
ad-

justment   2011 

Loans and Receivables 
(LaR) 0 353 0 129 0 482 

Financial Assets (AfS)       

-Other comprehensive 
income 

0 0 0 0 0 0 

-Profit and loss account 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Financial Liabilities Held 
for Trading (FLHfT) 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Financial Liabilities 
Measured at Amortised 
Cost (FLAC) 0 0  -75 0 -75 

Total 0 353 0 54 0 407 

 
The net results for the discontinued operations according to valuation categories were comprised as follows in the previous 
year: 

31/12/2011 in EUR k 

From the subsequent valuation 
From in-

terests 
From 

disposal 
Net 

Result 

At fair 
value 

Exchange 
rate 

Value 
ad-

justment   2011 

       

Loans and Receivables 
(LaR) -3,083 0 0 0 0 -3,083 

Total -3,083 0 0 0 0 -3,083 

 

5. ac. Management of risks from financial instruments and capital management 

Currency risks 

The international business activities of the Balda Group bring in money in other currencies in addition to cash flows in Euros, 
in particular TWD, CNY and US dollars.  

However, risks from the operating business are not to be estimated as high, as the Group companies conduct their activities 
primarily in their relevant functional currencies. With foreign currency transactions, currency swaps are sometimes used to 
provide a hedge for the cash flow. Due to the minimal basic risk in the operational division and taking into account the hedging 
activities (forward currency contracts) on the reporting date, the Group was not exposed to any significant currency risks in the 
operational division.  

The purpose of currency management at Balda is the minimising of foreign currency risks. Hedging instruments are applied 
whenever possible and suitable, in order to eliminate exchange risk. Currency exchange rates are continually monitored 
together with the banks. The Group does not hold any significant foreign currency positions. To the extent that no hedging 
instruments can be applied, an exchange is carried out immediately.  
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To represent market risks, IFRS 7 requires sensitivity analyses that demonstrate the effects of hypothetical changes of 
relevant risk variable on the results and equity. The companies of the Balda Group are therefore always exposed to currency 
risks, if the cash flows are in another currency to their functional currency. The foreign currency risk shown in the sensitivity 
analysis results from the following businesses: 

Currency risks arise in the Group mainly from the loans (henceforth accounted for under Other current assets) in CNY valued 
at fair value, receivables arising from dividend claims and sales of participations, and the remaining holding in TPK. TPK is 
traded on the Taiwanese stock exchange in TWD (Taiwanese dollars).  

The periodic effects are determined by basing the hypothetical changes to the risk variables on the stock of financial 
instruments on the reporting date. It is assumed that the stock on the reporting date is representative of the full year. 

Currency risks under the terms of IFRS 7, arise through financial instruments that are denominated in a currency other than 
one of the functional currencies and are monetary in nature. Exchange rate related differences resulting from the translation of 
financial reports into the Group currency are not taken into account. In general, all non-functional currencies in which the 
Group has financial instruments are seen as relevant risk variables. 

Foreign currency transactions are processed primarily in USD for the operational division. On the balance sheet date, there 
were also foreign currency receivables in TWD and USD arising from the sale of TPK shares and dividend claims in TPK. The 
following tables show from the Group's point of view the sensitivity of a rise or fall in the euro compared to the respective 
foreign currency. The sensitivity analysis only includes outstanding monetary items denominated in the foreign currency and 
adapts its conversion to the period end according to a 5% change to the exchange rate. The sensitivity analysis includes 
transactions from the operating business, in the case that the transactions are denominated in a currency other than the 
functional currency of the company. It also includes the effects of a change to the exchange rate on the held financial 
investments. If the euro was to gain (lose) 5 percent of its value against all currencies as at 30 June 2012, the Group's total 
earnings would be around €12,274 thousand lower (higher) (previous year: €19,803 thousand).   

in EUR k 

 
Effects on total earnings 

Nominal 
volume  

as at 
30/06/2012 

2012 

+/- 5% 

Nominal 
volume as at 

31/12/2011 

2011 

+/- 5% 

TWD 215,295 11,657 382,333 18,207 

CNY 4,500 225 11,416 543 

USD 993 50 4,720 232 

Other currencies 6,849 342 30,750 821 

 
 12,274  19,803 

 

Risk of changes in value 

The holding in TPK and the receivable from share dividends is subject above all to the risk of fluctuations in the share price. In 
the case of a deviation of 5 percent in the share price (as of 30 June 2012), there would be an effect on the earnings of the 
overall Group of €3,513 thousand (previous year: €19,117 thousand). 

Credit risk 

Active decentralised debtor management should ensure that Group companies obtain information on the creditworthiness of 
business partners from relevant credit agencies and insurers in advance. Moreover, the past payment behaviour of customers 
can provide additional insight. As far as possible, the Group ensures the receivables through credit insurance. Arrears in the 
operational activities are continuously monitored locally. The company covers default risks with individual bad and doubtful 
debt provisions. Due to these policies prescribed across the Group, defaults on assets not impaired are assessed as minimal.  
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Interest risk 

The Balda Group is exposed to interest rate risk primarily in the European and Asian regions. Financing of the operating 
business takes place decentrally in close cooperation with the Group Finance department of Balda AG. Negotiations for 
significant interest rate transactions take place directly through the Group Finance department. Due to present uncertainty in 
the financial markets, when investing excess cash reserves it is not profit maximisation that is most important but the 
preservation of assets.   

The interest sensitivity analysis presents the effects that changes in market interest rates would have on interest payments, 
interest income and interest expenses and their impact on the Group’s profit or loss. The interest rate sensitivity analyses are 
based on the following assumptions: 

• Original financial instruments with fixed interest are subject to financial value change risks only when measured at 
fair value. In the Balda Group, patents, software and licenses are valued at amortized costs. 

• Original financial instruments with variable interest, whose interest payments are not tied as real estate in a hedge 
account reported as a cash flow hedge, are subject to interest rate risk both in terms of recognition in the income 
statement and in terms of cash flow. 

If variable interest rates on interest-bearing financial receivables and liabilities had increased (decreased) by 10%, this would 
have had a negative (positive) effect on the financial results of approximately €1 thousand. The calculation works on the basis 
of a net volume of €137 thousand (previous year: €131 thousand).  

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk, more specifically, means risk of insufficient availability of financial resources to fulfil all payment obligations on 
time. 

In a broader sense, liquidity risk for the Balda Group means any restriction in borrowing or capital acquisition capabilities (e.g. 
rating) that might affect the implementation of corporate strategies or restrict the financial scope. The main factors affecting 
the liquidity risk (economic development, assessment of creditworthiness by third parties) lie outside the scope of influence of 
the finance management. 

Therefore, liquidity risk management means the risk analysis and the use of financial instruments (e.g. agreement of sufficient 
credit, diversification of creditors, fixing the capital commitment) to limit the risk within the scope of the non-influenceable 
environment.  
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The following table shows the contractually agreed (undiscounted) interest and capital payments for the original financial 
liabilities and derivative financial instruments: 

in EUR k Book 
value 
30/06 
2012 

Cash flow 
2012/2013 

Cash flow 2013/2014 Cash flow 
2014/2015 - 
2016/2017 

Cash flow 
2017/2018 ff. 

Interest Capital Interest Capital Interest Capital Interest Capital 

Original 
financial 
liabilities 

         

Short-term 
debts and 
current 
portion of 
long-term 
debts 137 2 137  0 0  0 0  

Trade 
accounts 
payable 7,323 0 7,323 0 0  0 0  

Other 
current 
liabilities 2,862 0 2,862 0 0  0 0  

Finance 
lease 
obligations 151 11 102 2 49  0 0  

Derivative 
financial 
instruments 65 0 65 0 0  0 0  

 
The underlying interest rates for variable interest rates are 7.19 percent p.a. 
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The previous year was as follows: 

in EUR k 

Book 
value 
31.12. 
2011 

Cash flow 2012 Cash flow 2013 
Cash flow 2014-

2016 Cash flow 2017 ff. 

Interest Capital Interest Capital Interest Capital Interest Capital 

Original financial 
liabilities          

Short-term debts 
and current portion 
of long-term debts 439 16 437 0 2  0 0  

Trade accounts 
payable 7,499 0 7,499 0 0  0 0  

Other current 
liabilities 3,674 0 3,674 0 0  0 0  

Finance lease 
obligations 238 15 138 4 100  0 0  

Derivative financial 
instruments 0 0  0 0  0 0  

 

Objective of capital and liquidity management 

The main objective of the capital management of the Group is to ensure the Group's ability to repay its debts and its term-
congruent capitalstructure. The Board of Directors can raise outside funds to finance short-term assets. For strategic 
investments, several equity instruments are available besides taking up loans, such as the issue of bonds. A system is 
installed in the Group with suitable parameters for the control of short-, medium- and long-term financing and liquidity 
requirements. The Group counteracts liquidity risks by holding sufficient payment instruments. At the same time, future and 
current cash flows are monitored.   

Important parameters of the Company's capital management are the optimisation of net financial liabilities and net debt equity 
ratio. The net financial liabilities consist of all the liabilities to banks, lease liabilities and advance payments received offset by 
the liquid funds. Despite a fall in cash flow, a surplus of liquid funds over the interest bearing liabilities of €10,739 thousand 
was produced (previous year: €28,436 thousand). The ratio of the net financial liabilities to Group equity resulted in a net debt 
equity ratio of minus 2.4 percent (previous year: minus 6.1 percent).  

The following table provides an overview of the significant capital management parameters: 

 30.06.2012 31.12.2011 

Net financial liabilities (in EUR k) 10,739 28,436 

Net debt equity ratio (in %) -2.4 -6.1 

Equity ratio (in %) 95.2 94.4 

Equity capital (in EUR k) 450,451 463,024 

Return on equity (in %) 54.1 -5.2 

Due to the sale of TPK shares in February 2012, on the balance sheet date the Group has very high levels of financial 
resources (bank deposits and short-term term deposits in debentures). The Group's liquidity ratio is comprised as follows as of 
the balance sheet dates: 
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  30.06.2012              31.12.2011 

First-degree liquidity ratio (in %)      Liquid funds + bonded loans 912.5        160.7 
Current liabilities 

Third-degree liquidity ratio (in %)  Current assets 2,188.8     1,970.5 
Current liabilities 

These values clarify the term-congruent financing within the Group. After the planned dividend distribution and investments for 
strategic growth, the target is to ensure a healthy financial position for the Group. Furthermore, a minimum reserve of liquid 
funds should also ensure financing for any liquidity shortfalls in the operating business. Balda is involved in a continuous 
exchange of information with the commercial banks. Thereby, lines of credit must also be secured to cover potential liquidity 
shortfalls. Currently, the Group has credit lines from banks available amounting to €324 thousand. 

 

6. Notes on individual items of the consolidated profit and loss account 

The same applies for all of the following explanatory notes on amendments to individual items in the profit and loss account; 
that is, that the comparability of the items is only limited, as the short financial year 2012 (1 January. - 30 June) has as its 
reference period the entire financial year of 2011 (1 January – 31 December). 

6. a.  Revenues 

The Revenues of the Balda Group in the short financial year is €8,948 thousand (previous year: €32,347 thousand) of 
domestic sales and €15,759 thousand (previous year: €33,998 thousand) of foreign sales. The sales revenue is fully 
generated from the sale of goods in the Electronic Products and Medical segments. Apart from the overall reduction in 
operating activity, the reduction in sales is revenue has been caused by lower-than-expected orders by customers in the 
Medical and Electronic Products segments due to project delays. 

6. b. Other operating income 

The other operating income in the consolidated financial statements is made up as follows:  

in EUR k 2012 2011 

Income from the release of provisions 1,742 0 

Exchange rate gains 630 131 

Rental income 345 294 

Book profits on the disposal of fixed assets 63 31 

Income from release of provisions against receivables 33 501 

Material sales 0 76 

Compensatory damage claims 0 800 

Income from BenQ insolvency rate 0 2,058 

Other 573 1,517 

Total 3,386 5,408 

 
Included in the result for the short financial year 2012 is income relating to other periods from the release of 
provisions/liabilities created in conjunction with the sale of the Chinese MobileCom businesses, amounting to €1,742 
thousand. 

Expected future income from the BenQ insolvency ratio is referred to in the section on contingent receivables (III. e.). 
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6. c.  Changes in inventories of finished goods and work in progress 

The item concerns changes in inventories of products produced and manufactured by the Group. In the short financial year 
2012, an increase in inventory of €3,593 thousand was recorded (2011: fall in inventory of €845 thousand). The increase is 
primarily due to delayed customer orders. 

6. d.  Material expenses 

The material expenses for Balda Group amounted to €16,448 thousand (2011: €41,533 thousand). The material usage ratio - 
that is, the ratio of the material cost to revenues including changes in inventories - was 58.1 percent (2011: 63.4 percent). The 
cause of the decrease was the change in product mix. The financial year 2011 was influenced by higher tooling and 
equipment sales with a higher proportion of purchased parts, whilst the short financial year was mainly characterised by 
product sales. 

6. e. Personnel expenses 

Group personnel expenses amounted to €9,956 thousand (2011: €18,315 thousand). The personnel usage ratio - that is, the 
ratio of the personnel cost to total income value - was 31.4 percent in the short financial year 2012 (2011: 25.8 percent). This 
increase resulted from significantly increased use of temporary agency staff in the reporting period. At the same time, this led 
to a higher personnel usage ratio proportionate to a lower total output value. Included in personnel expenses for the reporting 
year are expenses for contribution-oriented pension plans amounting to €339 thousand (2011: €832 thousand). Expenses for 
severance payments amounting to €90 thousand are included in personnel expenses for the reporting period (previous year: 
€605 thousand). 

6. f.  Depreciations 

Amortisation and depreciation of intangible and tangible assets amounted to €1,867 thousand in the reporting period (2011: 
€3,741 thousand).  Amortisation and depreciation for the short financial year 2012 was entirely comprised of scheduled 
depreciation. 

6. g.  Other operating expenses 

The other operating expenses mainly concern: 

in EUR k 2012 2011 

Legal and consultancy costs 1,495 2,584 

Premises, maintenance and overhead expenses 1,403 2,412 

Energy costs 1,373 2,224 

Travel/car/advertising expenses and investor relations 766 1,920 

Exchange rate costs 676 269 

IT costs 597 598 

Administration costs 249 281 

Costs for recharges 190 385 

Outward freight and storage costs 173 396 

Training / employee benefit costs 158 469 

Insurances 124 336 

Rental and lease costs 101 126 

Other taxes 35 74 

Losses on the disposal of fixed assets 12 466 
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in EUR k 2012 2011 

Provisions for bad and doubtful debts and loss of receivables 368 178 

Other 1,507 638 

Total 9,227 13,355 

 
In comparison to the financial year 2011, legal and consultancy costs in particular, as well as costs for maintenance and day-
to-day operations, rose. Travel / vehicle / advertising costs and investor relations for the financial year 2011 also include 
deferred costs for the Extraordinary General Meeting in February 2012. 

6. h.  Impairments 

Impairments separately shown in the profit and loss account totalling €8,936 thousand relate to the full amortisation of 
goodwill of €7,034 thousand, which concerned Balda Solutions Malaysia, as well as a further €1,902 thousand of depreciation 
of fixed assets. The amount of €1,902 thousand relates to the following fixed asset subitems:  

• Building: €856 thousand 
• Technical machinery and equipment: €1,046 thousand 

Furthermore, please refer to the explanatory notes on the goodwill impairment test in item 5.b. 

6. i.  Interest result 

The interest result is composed of the following: 

in EUR k 2012 2011 

Interest expenses 775 75 

Interest income 1,427 668 

Interest result 652 593  

 
Interest expenses in 2012 contain, amongst other items, the discounting of a loan at fair value (€718 thousand). 

Interest income includes interest from the effective interest of the loan to AGE, formerly accounted for under loans and 
henceforth accounted for under other current assets, amounting to €597 thousand (previous year: €83 thousand). 

6. j.  Other financial result 

The other financial result is composed of the following:  

in EUR k 2012 2011 

Income from currency differences  0 4,608 

Expenses from currency differences 4,591 0 

Dividend income from TPK holding  9,177 0 

Total 4,586   4,608 

6. k. Income from the disposal of TPK shares 

Income from the disposal of TPK shares amounts to €274,349 thousand and is comprised of the dissolution of reserves 
(€275,841 thousand) less sales costs (€1,492 thousand) and relates to the sale of TPK shares in February and June 2012. 

 

 



                                                                                                                           
 

 
 100 

Annual Report 2012 

6. l. Impairment of loan receivable    

The impairment of €10,577 thousand relates to the depreciation of loans from the disposal of the MobileCom segments as a 
result of the fact that the goodwill has not fully retained its value. In July 2012, Balda agreed the early termination of the loan 
agreement with the purchaser by means of a simultaneous partial impairment of the loan repayment. For further explanations, 
please refer to the details stated in Point 5.d. Financial assets. 

6. m.  Income tax 

The income tax expense in the profit and loss account was as follows: 

in EUR k 2012 2011 

Actual income tax expense 36 306 

Previous year tax expenses 1,602 -803 

Deferred tax expenses from evolution or reversal temporary differences 134 -121 

Change to deferred tax assets to tax losses 1,765 2,808 

Actual tax expense 3,537 2,190 

 
The applicable tax rate in Germany is comprised of trade tax with a tax rate of 14.5 percent (2011: 14.5 percent) and 
corporation tax with a tax rate of 15.8 percent (2011: 15.8 percent) including the solidarity surcharge. Tax on EBT for the 
Group deviates from the theoretical amount, which is based on the use of the theoretical income tax rate of circa 30.3 percent 
(2011: circa 30.3 percent) on the EBT, as follows: 

in EUR k 2012 2011 

EBT 255,189 -835 

Theoretical tax expenses 2011: 30.3 % (previous year: 30.3 %) 77,361 -252 

Tax rate differences -21,103 436 

Tax-free income, non-deductible expenses -59,217 1,169 

Non-deductible write-downs 2,132 -1,148 

Realisation of tax loss carry-forwards 2,568 2,402 

Tax-free income from dividend payments -1,560 241 

Tax losses, for which no deferred tax claim is capitalised 2,430 1,248 

Taxes from previous years 1,602 -803 

Other -676 -862 

Actual tax expense 3,537 2,190 

 
The operating business in Malaysia, Balda Solutions Malaysia Sdn. Bhd., is exempt from income tax (tax rate: 25 %) until 
2015 due to its recognition as a "high-technology company".  

6. n.  Net income – continued operations 

The result of continued operations totals €250,725 thousand (2011: minus €3,025 thousand). 
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The diluted and undiluted profit per share for the discontinued operating divisions is as follows: 

 2012 2011 

Earnings from continuing operating divisions after taxes (EUR k) 250,725 -3,025 

Weighted average of shares issued (in thousands) 58,891 58,891 

Diluted and undiluted earnings per share acc. to IAS 33 (EUR) 4.257 -0.051 

 
There were no diluted instruments in the short financial year 2012, as in the previous year. 

6. o.  Earnings from discontinued operations 

The result from the discontinued operation was as follows in 2011: 

in EUR k  2011 

Revenues  35,021 

Other operating income  3,486 

Change to inventories of finished goods and work in progress  -2,300 

Material expenses  27,002 

Personnel expenses  7,821 

Depreciations  24,418 

Other operating expenses  10,148 

Financial result  -1,325 

EBT  -34,507 

Income tax  1,095 

Result of discontinued operation  -35,602 

Including share results of other shareholders  0 

Group share in the result of discontinued operation  -35,602 

Deconsolidation result from the disposal  -510  

Total result of discontinued operation  -36,112 

 
The result of the discontinued operation MobileCom in 2011 was a result of the operating business until the time of the 
deconsolidation on 1 December 2011 and the deconsolidation result in the framework of the disposal of the MobileCom 
segment.  In the short financial 2012 there was no result from discontinued operating divisions. 
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The diluted and undiluted profit per share for the discontinued operating divisions is as follows: 

 2012 2011 

Earnings from discontinued operating divisions after taxes (EUR k) 0 -36,112 

Weighted average of shares issued (in thousands) 0 58,891 

Diluted and undiluted earnings per share acc. to IAS 33 (EUR) 0 -0.613 

 
There were no diluted instruments in the short financial year 2012, as in the previous year. 

6. p.  Total Group result 

The total Group result of €250,725 thousand (2011: minus €39,137 thousand) occurred exclusively in the Balda AG 
shareholdings.  

6. q.  Earnings per share  

The diluted and undiluted earnings per share are as follows: 

 2012 2011 

Group share at the year-end after tax acc. to profit and loss account (EUR k) 250,725 -39,137 

Weighted average of shares issued (in thousands) 58,891 58,891 

Diluted and undiluted earnings per share acc. to IAS 33 (EUR)  4.257 -0.665 

 
There were no diluted instruments in the short financial year 2012, as in the previous year. 

Other result (minus €186,740 thousand) in the statement of comprehensive income primarily includes the upward revaluation 
to fair value of TPK shares (€80,218 thousand) as well as the reclassification adjustment (€275,841 thousand) with regard to 
the TPK shares divested in the short financial year 2012. 
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III.  Other information 

 

a.  Average number of employees  

The following information refers to the average employees of the Balda Group including temporary agency employees, 
temporary staff and trainees in continuing business divisions.  

 2012 2011 

Board of Directors 2 1 

Commercial services 115 119 

Technical and commercial employees 629 574 

Temporary agency employees 607 383 

Subtotal 1,353 1,077 

Assistants, trainees 2 3 

Total number of employees (average) 1,355 1,080 

Number of employees on balance sheet date 1,273 1,178 

 
We also refer to our explanations of employees in the management report. 

 

b.  Guarantees 

The group has taken on a repayment guarantee of 48 million CNY (€5.8 million) on behalf of its subsidiary Balda Investments 
Singapore Pte. Ltd. for a credit line of Balda Solutions (Beijing) Ltd., a business disposed in 2011. After the partial repayment 
of the credit line in February 2012, Balda Investments Singapore remains liable as at 30 June 2012 for around €1.5 million. 
This amount will be released after repayment by the Chinese company at the end of June 2012. Due to liquidity problems on 
the part of the company, the repayment has been delayed. After repayment of the credit line in July 2012, the amount of 
liability will again have been released.   

 

c.  Other financial obligations 

Other financial obligations from purchase commitment for investments in tangible fixed assets, which in total come to a payout 
in 2012/2013, total €0 as of 30 June 2012 (previous year: €57 thousand).  

For letting and leasing obligations, please refer to the details stated in Point III.d. "Leasing". 
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d.  Leasing 

Lessee – operating lease 

As of 30 June 2012, letting and leasing obligations amounted to:  

Minimum lease payments in EUR k 2012 2011 

< 1 year 220 369 

from 2 to 5 years 13 46 

> 5 years 0 0 

Total 233 415 

 
The payments of €369 thousand (previous year: €909 thousand) which are reported as expense in the period under review 
are exclusively minimum lease repayments. 

The letting and leasing obligations are amounts for which the Group companies are not beneficial owners according to the 
IFRS (operating lease). The letting and leasing obligations mainly concern machinery. There are no contractual purchase 
options at the end of the term. 

Lessee – financial leasing 

The conversion of the future minimum lease payments at present value is presented in the following table. 

30.06.2012  Maturing contracts 

in EUR k Total Up to 1 year 
Between  

1 and 5 years Over 5 years 

Minimum lease payments 165 113 52 0 

Including interest portion 13 11 2 0 

Present values 152 102 50 0 

     

31.12.2011  Maturing contracts 

in EUR k Total Up to 1 year 
Between 

 2 and 5 years Over 5 years 

Minimum lease payments 373 159 214 0 

Including interest portion 71 54 17 0 

Present values 302 105 197 0 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



                                                                                                                           
 

 
 105 

Annual Report 2012 

Lessor   

In order to utilise the production site at Bad Oeynhausen, one-third of production areas are being leased out until May 2015. 
The Group will receive the following lease payments from this leasing arrangement: 

Minimum lease payments in EUR k 2012 2011 

< 1 year 292 292 

from 2 to 5 years 574 866 

> 5 years 0 0 

Total 866 1,158 

 

e.  Contingent liabilities and receivables 

Conversion costs for previous conversions were paid to investors in 2010 from the conversion of convertible participation 
rights. The Board of Directors views these services (€8,105 thousand) as operating expenses and not as interest-like 
services, which are subject to a capital gains tax deduction.  

The Balda Group expects a further payment from the BenQ insolvency ratio according to the latest progress report for the 
financial year 2012/2013. The estimated financial inflow totals to €758 thousand. 

 

f.  List of shareholdings 

The following is a list of shareholdings of Balda AG as at 30 June 2012:  

Company Head office Shareholding  Amount of
    holding 

Balda  Vermögensverwaltungs- 
gesellschaft mbH Bad Oeynhausen indirect  100.00% 
via Balda  
Medical GmbH & Co. KG 

Balda Medical  GmbH & Co. KG Bad Oeynhausen direct  100.00% 

Balda Medical  
Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH Bad Oeynhausen direct  100.00% 

Balda Solutions Deutschland GmbH Bad Oeynhausen direct  100.00% 

Balda Werkzeug- und 
Vorrichtungsbau GmbH Bad Oeynhausen direct  100.00% 

Balda Solutions                Morrisville   
USA, Inc.                          (N.C./USA) indirect  100.00% 
via Balda Investments 
Netherlands B.V. 

Balda Investments           Port-Louis  
Mauritius Ltd.                  (Mauritius) indirect  100.00% 
via Balda Investments 
Netherlands B.V. 

Balda Investments Netherlands B.V.         Amsterdam direct  100.00% 
(Netherlands) 
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Balda Investments  Singapore 
Singapore Pte. Ltd. (Singapore) indirect  100.00% 
via Balda Investments 
Netherlands B.V. 

Balda Investments  Singapore indirect  100.00% 
Malaysia Pte. Ltd.  (Singapore) 
via Balda Investments 
Netherlands B.V. 

Balda Solutions Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. Ipoh (Malaysia) indirect  100.00% 
via Balda Investments  
Malaysia Pte. Ltd. 

 

g.  Balda AG executive bodies  

 

Supervisory Board of Balda AG 

• Dr. M. Naschke, Berlin, (Chairman) 
Law firm NASCHKE & PARTNER Lawyers, Berlin 

• Mr Chun-Chen Chen, Taipei, Taiwan (Deputy Chairman since 1 July 2011) 
Chairman of the Board of Directors of TVM Corp and Touch Video Monitor Corp., Taipei/Taiwan 

• Mr Yu-Sheng Kai, Hong Kong,  
Managing Director of Eternal Union International Ltd., Hong Kong  

Dr. Michael Naschke is also: 

• Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Azubu AG (in establishment), Berlin (until 29 June 2012) 
• Member of the Supervisory Board of Ichor Coal N.V. (from 9 January 2012 until 26 June 2012) 

Mr Chun-Chen Chen is also: 

• Member of the Board of Directors of TPK Holding Co. Ltd., Cayman Islands/Cayman Islands (until 29 February 
2012) 

Dr. Michael Naschke performs the role of financial expert on the supervisory board (member with expertise in accounting 
practice and auditing). The Balda AG Advisory Board has not established any sub-committees in year under review.  

Board of Directors of Balda AG 

• Mr Rainer Mohr (Chief Financial Officer until 16 February 2011) (sole member of the Board of Directors from 17 
February 2011 until 1 January 2012) 

• Mr Dominik Müser, Ratingen, Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Financial Officer/ CFO (appointed 29 
December 2011) Finance, Controlling, IT, Legal/Insurance/Tax, Investor Relations, Internal Audit, Balda AG Human 
Resources 

• Mr James Lim, Banting, Selangor, Malaysia, CEO Balda Solutions Malaysia Sdn. Bhd., Chief Operations 
Officer/COO (appointed 29 December 2011), Development, Sales 

Mr Rainer Mohr was, until 1 January 2012 also: 

• Member of the Board of Directors of  
Balda Investments Singapore Pte. Ltd., Singapore/Singapore  
(Chairman since 20 June 2011) 
Balda Solutions Malaysia Sdn. Bhd., Ipoh/Malaysia 
Balda Investments Mauritius Ltd., Port-Louis/Mauritius  
Balda Solutions USA Inc., Morrisville/USA 
Balda Capital Singapore Pte. Ltd., Singapore/Singapore  
(from 16 February 2011) 
Balda Investments Malaysia Pte. Ltd. Singapore/Singapore  
(from 23 May 2011) 
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Mr Dominik Müser is also: 

• Member of the Board of Directors of 
Balda Investments Singapore Pte. Ltd., Singapore/Singapore  
(from 11 January 2012) 
Balda Solutions Malaysia Sdn. Bhd., Ipoh/Malaysia  
(from 25 January 2012) 
Balda Investments Mauritius Ltd., Port-Louis/Mauritius  
(from 19 January 2012) 
Balda Solutions USA Inc., Morrisville/USA (from 14 February 2012) 
Balda Capital Singapore Pte. Ltd., Singapore/Singapore  
(from 11 January 2012) 
Balda Investments Malaysia Pte. Ltd. Singapore/Singapore  
(from 11 January 2012) 

Mr James Lim is also 

• Member of the Board of Directors of Balda Solutions Malaysia Sdn. Bhd., Ipoh/Malaysia (from 3 January 2012) 
(Chairman since 25 January 2012) 
Balda Solutions USA Inc., Morrisville/USA (from 14 February 2012) 

 

Remuneration of the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board 

Remuneration of the Supervisory Board 

As a German stock corporation ("AG"), Balda is subject to the German stock corporation law. Therefore, the company has a 
split management and governance structure consisting of two directors and in accordance with the memorandum and articles, 
three Supervisory Board members. 

Supervisory Board and remuneration report 

The members of the Supervisory Board received the following remuneration:  

in EUR 

2012 Fixed remuneration  Attendance fees Total earnings 

Dr. Michael Naschke 25,000 6,000 31,000 

Yu-Sheng Kai 12,500 4,500 17,000 

Chun-Chen Chen 18,750 4,500 23,250 

Total: 56,250 15,000 71,250 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   



                                                                                                                           
 

 
 108 

Annual Report 2012 

in EUR 

2011 Fixed remuneration  Attendance fees Total earnings 

Dr. Michael Naschke 39,583 24,000 63,583 

Mark Littlefield 11,143 7,500 18,643 

Dino Kitzinger 7,497 9,000 16,497 

Thomas J. Leonard 7,497 7,500 14,997 

Yu-Sheng Kai 19,792 22,500 42,292 

Chun-Chen Chen 26,042 22,500 48,542 

Total: 111,554 93,000 204,554 

 

The remuneration of members of the Supervisory Board is stipulated at the Annual General Meeting. Following the decision of 
the Annual General Meeting on 27 May 2011, in future there will be no variable remuneration. Remuneration is carried out 
exclusively on the basis of fixed fees.  

In the reporting period, the Company did not issue any consulting and mediation mandates to the Supervisory Board 
members during their term of office (previous year: €69 thousand). Furthermore, Balda did not pay out any separate 
remuneration (Code Article 5.4.4).  

Board of Directors and remuneration report  

The composition of the Board of Directors of Balda AG changed during the reporting year. Rainer Mohr resigned his Board of 
Directors mandate with effect from 1 January 2012. On 29 December 2011 the Supervisory Board appointed Mr Dominik 
Müser as Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Financial Officer/CFO, as well as Mr James Lim as Head of 
Operations/COO with a focus on Balda AG's activities in Malaysia. 

The remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors in 2012 was composed as below (remuneration report – Code 
Article 4.2.5): 

The remuneration of the Board of Directors comprised monetary elements made up of fixed and variable components (Code 
Article 4.2.3) as well as ancillary benefits. In addition to monthly salary payments, fixed remuneration includes compensation 
for waiver of a company car and gratuities paid to the Directors in 2012. The ancillary benefits include health insurance 
allowances or contributions, the provision of a direct insurance policy or comparable pension and group accident insurance. 
No other contractually guaranteed pension commitments were made. The members of the Board of Directors received no 
services from third parties that were promised with regard to their Board activities or granted in the financial year 2012 (Code 
Article 4.2.3).  

The variable remuneration of the Board of Directors comprises components that are connected with both the company's 
business and economic success (performance-related remuneration). Due to time-limited Board contracts and primarily short-
term operational targets to be achieved, an additional compensation component with a long-term incentive effect is not 
provided in 2012 or the following financial year. 

The component linked to business performance arises for the Board of Directors based on the achievement of agreed targets 
and the successful completion of defined projects and measures. The Supervisory Board can award a discretionary bonus to 
the Board of Directors in this respect, taking into consideration their performance.   

The contract of Chairman of the Board of Directors Dominik Müser was adjusted with effect from 1 June 2012 by way of a 
contractual extension until 30 June 2014 including, amongst other things, remuneration appropriate to the new requirements 
for the strengthened and continuous activities of the Board of Directors. 
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Remuneration report for the Board of Directors 

Members of the Board of Directors were remunerated as follows across the Group for the short financial year 2012: 

2012 in EUR Fixed remuneration  Performance-
related 

remuneration 

Fringe benefits Total 

R. Mohr 1) 0 0 0 0 

D. Müser  150,000 175,000 6,447 331,447 

J. Lim  90,459 0 24,557 115,016 

Total: 240,459 175,000 31,004 446,463 

1) no longer included as of 01/01/2012  

 

2011 in EUR Fixed remuneration 
and gratuities  

Performance-
related 

remuneration 

Fringe benefits Total 

R. Mohr 1) 687,754 250,000 3,924 941,677 

M. Sienkiewicz 2) 51,647 0 10,573 62,221 

D. Müser 3) 0 0 0 0 

J. Lim 3) 0 0 0 0 

Total: 739,401 250,000 14,497 1,003,898 

1) no longer included as of 01/01/2012  

2) no longer included as of 16/02/2011  

3) appointed to Board of Directors on 29/12/2011 

The fixed remuneration of Rainer Mohr includes a severance payment of €350,000 for premature discontinuation. It includes 
the entitlements until the original end of the contract (31 December 2012). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



                                                                                                                           
 

 
 110 

Annual Report 2012 

Shareholdings of executive bodies 

 30/06/2012 31/12/2011 Change 

R. Mohr  1) n.a. 0 n.a. 

D. Müser 2) 0 0 0 

J. Lim 2) 0 0 0 

Board of Directors total 0 0 0 

Chun-Chen Chen 0 0 0 

Yu-Sheng Kai 0 0 0 

Dr. Michael Naschke 23,000 21,000 2,000 

Supervisory Board total 23,000 21,000 2,000 

In % of EK 0.04 0.04 

1) no longer included as of 01/01/2012  

2) appointed to Board of Directors on 29/12/2011 

No other acquisitions or divestitures took place between the executive bodies in the short financial year 2012. 

 

h. Related parties 

Under the terms of IAS 24, related parties are legal entities or individuals who significantly influence Balda AG and its 
subsidiaries, or exercise control over them. Also included here are persons and companies, who are subject to significant 
influence by Balda AG and/or its subsidiaries.  

To our knowledge, Ms. Yun-Ling Chiang holds via Yield Return Investments, Apia, Samoa, 27.6 percent of Balda AG shares 
in the short financial year 2012, as in the previous year, and can thereby exercise a significant influence on the Balda Group. 
There were no business dealings between Ms. Yun-Ling Chiang, Yield Return Investments and Balda Group companies in the 
reporting period, as in the previous year. As part of their position as shareholders, in May 2012 Yield Return Investments 
received dividends paid in accordance with the general terms and conditions. 

Only the executive bodies of Balda AG are considered as members of management in key positions within the Balda Group. 
Connections between persons in the executive bodies are illustrated in the corporate governance report. By virtue of his 
position as a shareholder, Chairman of the Supervisory Board Dr. Naschke received dividends paid in May 2012 in 
accordance with the general terms and conditions. 

Further transactions with related parties do not exist. 

 

i.  Events after the balance sheet date 

Early termination of loan agreement  

On 25 July 2012, Balda came to an agreement with the purchaser of the MobileCom segment sold in 2011, over the loan 
granted in connection with the sale. After the purchaser unexpectedly informed Balda of difficulties on the part of a Chinese 
subsidiary in repaying a credit line in June and of the negative financial development of the acquired companies, the Balda 
AG Board of Directors tasked a renowned auditing firm with the preparation of an reporting assessing the financial situation of 
the Chinese production companies in the same month. The report confirmed a worsening financial situation at the former 
Balda companies. As a result of the report, the Board of Directors decided upon the premature termination of the loan 
agreement.  
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The agreement reached with the purchaser provides for a one-off payment of around €4.5 million by the purchaser as well as 
the mutual waiving of all existing rights and obligations. Furthermore, a better fortunes clause was negotiated. To the extent 
that the divested Balda companies generate future profits, Balda shall participate in 50% of profits until 30 June 2014, up to a 
maximum of €14.4 million (conversion on balance sheet date). 

 

j.  Auditor's fees 

With regard to the auditor, the following fees are reported as costs in the short financial year 2012: 

in EUR k 2012               2011 

Services relating to the audit of the financial statements 206           366 

Other assurance services 0           54  

Tax consultancy services 146            155 

Other services 64         187 

Total 416         762 

Of the fees for the afore-mentioned services reported as costs in the short financial year 2012, €76 thousand are accounted 
for in the financial year 2011. 

The fees for services relating to the audit of the financial statements consist mainly of remuneration for the consolidated 
financial statements as well as the audit of the financial statements of Balda AG and Balda Medical GmbH & Co KG. Fees for 
other assurance services in the previous year included above all the auditing review of interim financial statements. The 
production of tax declarations and advice in connection with restructuring and the ongoing 2007-2009 tax audit are 
summarised in the tax consultancy services.   

 

k.  Application of exemption provisions acc. to Section 264a HGB  
in comparison with Section 264b HGB 

Balda Medical GmbH & Co. KG, Bad Oeynhausen made use of the exemption provisions regarding the preparation of a 
management report and notes as well as the publication according to Section 264b HGB. 
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Corporate Governance 

Balda follows the recommendations and suggestions of the Corporate Governance Code as amended on 15 May 2012 with 
certain exceptions. The declaration of compliance 2011 according to Section 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) 
is permanently accessible to shareholders and the public together with earlier declarations of compliance on the Balda 
website under Investor Relations / Publications/ Corporate Governance (www.balda.de). Even the current statement of the 
company management is accessible on the Balda website in the Corporate Governance area. 

 

Bad Oeynhausen, 12 September 2012 

The Board of Directors 

 

 

Dominik Müser     James Lim 
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Responsibility statement 

"We declare that, to the best of our knowledge, according to the applicable principles of corporate accounting, the 
consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the actual asset, financial and profit situation of the Group and 
the activities of the business including the financial results of the Balda Group and the situation of Balda AG are presented in 
the summary management report in such a way that they give a true and fair view of the situation and of the major 
opportunities and risks of the anticipated development of the Balda Group and Balda AG." 

 

Bad Oeynhausen, 12 September 2012 

The Board of Directors 

 

 

Dominik Müser     James Lim 
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Independent Auditors' Report 

We have audited the annual financial statements - comprising the balance sheet, the income statement and the notes to the 
financial statements - together with the bookkeeping system, and the management report of Balda Aktiengesellschaft, Bad 
Oeynhausen/Germany, for the stub period from 1 January to 30 June 2012. The maintenance of the books and records and 
the preparation of the annual financial statements and management report in accordance with German commercial law are 
the responsibility of the Company's Board of Directors. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the annual financial 
statements, together with the bookkeeping system, and on the management report based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit of the annual financial statements in accordance with § 317 HGB ("German Commercial Code") and 
German generally accepted standards for the audit of financial statements promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer. 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit such that misstatements materially affecting the presentation of 
the net assets, financial position and results of operations in the annual financial statements in accordance with German 
principles of proper accounting and in the management report are detected with reasonable assurance. Knowledge of the 
business activities and the economic and legal environment of the Company and expectations as to possible misstatements 
are taken into account in the determination of audit procedures. The effectiveness of the accounting-related internal control 
system and the evidence supporting the disclosures in the books and records, the annual financial statements and the 
management report are examined primarily on a test basis within the framework of the audit. The audit includes assessing the 
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by the Board of Directors, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the annual financial statements and management report. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable 
basis for our opinion. 

Our audit has not led to any reservations. 

In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the annual financial statements of Balda Aktiengesellschaft, Bad 
Oeynhausen/Germany, comply with the legal requirements and give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial position 
and results of operations of the Company in accordance with German principles of proper accounting. The management 
report is consistent with the annual financial statements and as a whole provides a suitable view of the Company's position 
and suitably presents the opportunities and risks of future development." 

Frankfurt am Main/Germany, 12 September 2012 

Deloitte & Touche GmbH 
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft 

 

 Signed: J. Wegner Signed: R. Wegner 
 Wirtschaftsprüfer Wirtschaftsprüfer  
 [German Public Auditor] [German Public Auditor] 
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IR Contacts  

Frank Elsner Kommunikation für Unternehmen GmbH 

Frank Elsner / Frank Paschen 

Kirchstr. 15a 

49492 Westerkappeln 

Tel.: +49 (0) 5404 – 91 92 0 

Fax: +49 (0) 5404 – 91 92 29 

Mail: office(at)elsner-kommunikation.de 

 

 

 

Financial Calendar 

20/9/12 Annual Financial Statements as of 30 June 2012 
5/11/2012 Quarterly Report Q1 2012/2013 
7/11/2012 Annual General Meeting (AGM) in Bielefeld 
7/2/2013 Quarterly Report Q2 2012/2013 
7/5/2013 Quarterly Report Q3 2012/2013 
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